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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Don Bailey, on behalf of Blaine Keith Milam, respectfully petitions for a writ of
certiorari to review the judgment of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in
this case.

OPINION BELOW

The opinion of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, denying a motion
for certificate of appealability, is reported at Milam v. Davis, No. 17-70020, 2018 WL 2171208
(5™ Cir. May 10, 2018) (Pet. App. Tab 2). The United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas entered a judgment and denial of certificate of appealability and is reported at
Milam v. Davis, 4:13¢v545,2017 WL 3537272 (E.D.Tex. Aug. 16, 2017) (Pet. App. Tab 3). The

State District Court judgment and sentence was entered on May 27, 2010. (Pet. App. 1).



JURISDICTION

The judgment of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit was entered on
May 10, 2018. The court of appeals had jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 and § 1291.
The jurisdiction of this Court rests on 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).

STATEMENT

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

18 year old, Blaine Keith Milam was indicted by a Rusk County, Texas, grand jury for
the capital murder of eighteen month old Amora Carson, the daughter of his girlfriend, Jesseca
Carson. Jesseca was also indicted for capital murder and faced a separate trial.

On May 17, 2010, Mr. Milam was found guilty by a jury of capital murder in
Montgomery County, Texas, subsequent to a change of venue. The same jury, after hearing
punishment evidence, recommended a sentence of death. The Fourth Judicial District Court of
Rusk County, Texas, entered a judgment on May 27, 2010, and sentenced Mr. Milam to death.
(Pet. App. 1)

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals affirmed the conviction on direct appeal. Blaine
Keith Milam v. State of Texas, No. AP-76,379, 2012 WL 1868458 (Tex. Crim. App. May, 23,
2012)(unpublished opinion). Mr. Milam’s attorney for his state habeas corpus proceeding
submitted a twenty-four page state application for habeas corpus, which presented four claims,
none of which focused on the serious errors that occurred in this case or Mr. Milam’ intellectual
disability. (ROA 7501-7526). During this time, Mr. Milam pleaded in writing to the Court that
his attorney was not communicating with him and asked for another attorney. The State District

Court brought Mr. Milam back to Rusk County to lecture him that “I feel like you’ve got one of

! The judgment was not signed until June 8, 2010.



the best, if not the best writ lawyers around™ and denied his request for another attorney. (ROA
8091-8097)

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals promptly denied the twenty-four page state
application for writ of habeas corpus in a half page order on September 11, 2013. Ex Parte
Blaine Keith Milam, WR-79,322-01,2013 WL 4856200 (Tex. Crim. App. Sept. 11,
2013)(unpublished order)

Current counsel was appointed by the Federal District Court and a petition was
submitted. Shortly after the case was transferred from one District Judge to another District
Judge, a Judgment was entered denying the petition and denying a certificate of appealability.
Milam v. Davis, 4:13¢cv545, 2017 WL 3537272 (E.D.Tex. Aug. 16, 2017)(Pet. App. 3)

A petition for Certificate of Appealability was submitted to the Fifth Circuit. The Fifth
Circuit denied the petition for a certificate of appealability. Milam v. Davis, No. 17-70020, 2018
WL 2171208 (5" Cir. May 10, 2018) (Pet. App. Tab 2) Based upon the denial of the certificate
of appealability by both the District Court and the Fifth Circuit, Mr. Milam seeks a petition for
writ of certiorari to consider if a certificate of appealability should have been granted.

B. FACTUAL HISTORY

On December 2, 2008, Blaine Milam was a person who defense and state experts agreed
was in the category of retarded or borderline retarded "one way or the other."? Mr. Milam was in
a destructive relationship with Jesseca Carson, who was likely suffering from postpartum
psychosis. On the night of December 2, 2008, Jesseca's daughter, Amora, was horribly mutilated
and murdered by either Jesseca, Blaine or both. The following morning, Blaine called 911 and

reported the death of Amora.

2 Report of Dr. Gripon referenced in the testimony of Dr. Cunningham (ROA 5242-5244)



Nelda Thornton was Mr. Milam’s rural first grade teacher. Ms. Thornton noted that Mr.
Milam had poor attendance, had a speech problem and was a slow student. Ms. Thornton opined
that Mr. Milam was a quite student who probably needed a little help. Put another way, he was
slow and shy, and was absent a lot, even in the first grade. (ROA 5063-5065)

Carolyn Mcllhenny was Mr. Milam’s second through third grade teacher in Tatum,
Texas.? Ms. Mcllhenny remembered Mr. Milam did not receive good grades and was often
absent from school. Mr. Milam was classified as a slow student but quit going to school in the
fourth grade because he was supposed to be home schooled. (ROA 5068-5071)

Shirley Milam, Blaine’s mother, testified that Mr. Milam could not write properly or do
math in the three grades he did attend. Ms. Milam estimated that Blaine was two or three years
developmentally behind the other children at the age of 10. Home schooling only lasted less than
six months and Mr. Milam received no further education. At age 18, before the crime, Blaine
was still watching kid’s cartoons like Scooby-Doo with Ms. Milam’s grandkids. Mr. Milam
would also play with toy cars with the grandchildren. Blaine got picked on at school and would
not respond other than tell Ms. Milam when he got home. (ROA 5105-5123)

On September 10, 2008, Daniel Milam, Blaine Milam’s father, died. Blaine was very
upset when his father died. Right before Halloween of 2008, Ms. Carson, Mr. Milam’s first
girlfriend and the mother of the deceased infant, and Blaine moved back to the Milam home. The
home had continued to deteriorate because of the lack of money and anyone to take care of the
home. Ms. Carson became distant to Ms. Milam and demonstrated emotional changes. Blaine
would lie on the bed listening to the funeral music from his father's funeral. Ms. Carson called

Ms. Milam one day and said that Blaine had taken some Vicodin while he was listening to the

3 Tatum went through the third grade with only two teachers. Ms. Thornton taught the 1-2 class and Ms. Mcllhenny
taught the 2-3 class. There is no testimony that Mr. Milam was able to advance beyond the school in Tatum, Texas.



funeral music and was attempting to kill himself. Blaine then got a gun and held it to his head
stating "I want to go be with my daddy." Ms. Milam had arrived home by this time and tried to
grab the gun. Blaine shot the gun into the floor. Blaine was subject to a civil commitment in the
jail. Blaine was released with instructions to report to a mental health agency in Longview,
Texas. (ROA 5123-5146) Soon after, the crime occurred which underlies this conviction and
death sentence.

In rebuttal to testimony regarding Mr. Milam’s intellectual impairment and operating at a
level below his given age, the State called Gary Jenkins, the service manager at a tire shop that
Blaine Milam had worked. Mr. Jenkins noted Mr. Milam could successfully change oil and
change and break down tires. He could also look for leaks and measure the tread on a tire and
check tire pressure. Mr. Jenkins noted that Mr. Milam was slow at first but then caught on to the
tasks he was required to perform. Mr. Milam had previous training at an oil place but it still took
him longer than usual to pick up basic tasks. Mr. Jenkins stated that Mr. Milam was not the
smartest person he had ever known but could do the basic functions of changing oil and checking
tires and tire pressures. (ROA 5351-5359)

During Mr. Milam’s state trial punishment phase, the defense, not the state, spent a great
deal of time developing testimony about Mr. Milam's intoxication on punishment through the
testimony of Dr. Rosen (toxicologist), Dr. Cunningham (forensic psychologist), Dr. Love
(psychologist) and family members either direct or proferred through expert testimony about Mr.
Milam use of methamphetamine and his "drug induced psychosis" at the time the crime occurred.

Patricia Rosen, a medical toxicologist, testified that based on her calculations, she
believed Mr. Milam took a dose of methamphetamine of approximately 75 milligrams, which in

a new user could be fatal. (ROA 5156-5168)
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Dr. Rosen submitted an affidavit in reference to the Federal petition. Dr. Rosen stated
that she was retained for the purpose of presenting testimony regarding the use of
methamphetamine by Mr. Milam, prior to the crime, that would have put him in a psychotic
state. Dr. Rosen understood that the purpose of her testimony was to support a request for a
specific instruction on drug induced psychosis as mitigation. Dr. Rosen was not aware why the
Defense team did not follow up with the request for a specific instruction on drug induced
psychosis as mitigation in the final charge. (ROA 334)

Dr. Mark Cunningham, a forensic psychologist, testified that he interviewed Mr. Milam
for over nine and a half hours over three different sessions as well as several hours spent with his
mother and sisters. Dr. Cunningham's task in the case was to assess what had occurred up to the
trial regarding Mr. Milam and what was likely to occur in the future regarding Mr. Milam if he
received a life sentence without parole.

The first evaluation Dr. Cunningham did with regards to Mr. Milam was mental
deficiency testing. On testing conducted by Paul Andrews via the WAIS-IV (Wechsler Scale),
Mr. Milam scored a full scale intelligence quotient (IQ) score of 71. On the Stanford-Binet, Fifth
Edition, test, Mr. Milam scored an 80. Dr. Tom Proctor administered the WAIS-IV and obtained
a full-scale IQ score of 68. On a Reynolds Intellectual Assessment Scale Mr. Milam scored an 80
as a composite intelligence index.

With regards to adaptive functioning, Mr. Milam had multiple adaptive functioning
problems which exceeded the two of the eleven factors stated in the DSM-IV. Mr. Milam had
difficulty with math, reading ability, receptive language, expressive language, functional
academic skills as well as inability to comprehend money. Based on family history, Mr. Milam

had deficits in social and interpersonal skills. On deficit testing Mr. Milam scored 81 and 86 on
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sentence comprehension, 82 on word reading and 58 and 55 on math on scales where 100 would
be a median population score. With regards to home living, Mr. Milam did poorly because of his
inability to take care of himself and clean up after himself. In community resources, Mr. Milam
could not manage money or handle a bank account. He never traveled independently. In the area
of self-direction Mr. Milam did not set realistic goals given his deficits. He had difficulty staying
with a task and could not take care of his personal hygiene. With regards to work, he could only
do repetitive task, like changing oil or tires. He would forget to get out of the way whenever he
unscrewed an oil pan and would come home with his clothes soaked in oil. Mr. Milam would
remain in the well of the oil lube place in Tatum during the time he worked while older workers
would not work in the well. Regarding leisure, Mr. Milam did not have any hobbies beyond local
fishing and a limited range of interests. Regarding health, Mr. Milam was pretty oblivious to his
health and nutrition. Regarding safety, Mr. Milam would pull out onto the highway riding a four
wheeler without looking to determine if there was any oncoming traffic. Mr. Milam cut into a
live wire under the house electrocuting himself.

With regards to adaptive functioning, Dr. Cunningham used the Adaptive Behavior Scale
to measure Mr. Milam's ability. In measuring Mr. Milam he measured in the developmentally
disabled range in nine out of ten of the areas of measurement. Using this test, Mr. Milam
functions at the level of an 8 or 8 and a half year old at best. Mr. Milam was diagnosed as
mentally deficient. Based upon his testing, Dr. Cunningham opined that Mr. Milam was mentally
retarded.

With regards to onset before the age of 18, Dr. Cunningham opined that there was onset
before the age of 18. With regards to records of testing, Mr. Milam was in special education in

elementary school but those records had all been destroyed. Dr. Cunningham noted that the



state's expert, Dr. Gripon came to the conclusion that it was either intellectual impairment or
borderline intellectual potential and it was hard to discern which side the line Blaine Milam was
on.

Dr. Cunningham went through the three different definitions of intellectual impairment.
The first legal definition in Texas is that set out by the state in voir dire, that is a person
determined by a licensed physician or psychologist to have sub-average general intellectual
functioning with deficits in adaptive behavior which originated before the age of 18.

With regards to the DSM-IV an IQ score of 70 or below, or 75 and below with
consideration of the standard error of measurement. One must also have concurrent deficits in at
least two areas of adaptive functioning. With regards to Mr. Milam, there were deficits in all
eleven areas of adaptive functioning. The third prong under the DSM-IV is onset before the age
of 18.

In regards to causation of Mr. Milam's intellectual impairment Dr. Cunningham stated
that causation was not necessary but it appeared that Ms. Milam's medical problems during the
fifth month of her pregnancy with Blaine and the administration of antibiotics for pneumonia and
the blood infection could be a contributing factor. Dr. Cunningham also talked about Mr.
Milam's physical problems and physical development problems he had while he was growing up.
There were a number of other damaging factors to Mr. Milam's development including being
removed from school, familial ties of alcohol and drug use, his father's demise, generational
dysfunction, being sexually abused by an older male cousin who had Mr. Milam perform oral
sex on him, as well as his methamphetamine dependence. Lastly, Mr. Milam's drug induced
psychosis along with Ms. Carson's psychosis lead to the focus on Amora, which lead to the

death.
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Dr. Cunningham stated that based upon his review of the various statements, what lead to
Amora's death was a dual psychosis based on methamphetamine use of both Ms. Carson and Mr.
Milam which lead them to believe there was a demon inside of Mr. Milam and there was a
demon inside of Amora. Thus, they were attempting an exorcism on Amora when she died.
(ROA 5287-5351)

Dr. Cunningham submitted an affidavit for purposes of the Federal Petition. In the
affidavit he noted that he was hired to discuss the use of methamphetamine by Mr. Milam at the
time of the crime, as well as other issues, and it was his opinion that Mr. Milam had taken
enough methamphetamine to put him in a state of psychosis. Dr. Cunningham noted that the
defense attorneys had spent a great deal of time in developing the use of methamphetamine as
mitigation at punishment and he did not know why the Defense team did not re-urge their request
for a voluntary intoxication instruction in the jury charge. (ROA 331)

Dr. Paula Lundberg-Love, a psychologist with a specialty in psychopharmacology,
testified about the effects of methamphetamine on the brain. Dr. Love stated that based upon Mr.
Milam's use of methamphetamine he would be experience paranoia and delusions as well as
motor problems and irritability and assaultive behavior. Mr. Milam's use of methamphetamine
would be at a chronic level prior to his arrest based upon an interview with his drug dealer,
Ricky Bessette. Dr. Love concluded that high levels of methamphetamine use can correlate with
assaultive or violent behavior as well as psychotic or delusional behavior. (ROA 5201-5231)

What was absent from the discussion regarding the charge, and is set out below in the
new claims under Martinez, was a motion by the defendant filed on November 6, 2009, titled
"Motion to Preclude the Submission of a § 8.04 Instruction on Voluntary Intoxication on the

Punishment Stage." (ROA 989-991) In this motion, the Defendant's attorney requested that the
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specific instruction of "temporary insanity caused by intoxication" found in Tex. Penal Code §
8.04 not be given and instead the following instruction be given:

In arriving at your answer to instruction No.  above, you may consider the
Defendant's voluntary intoxication as a mitigating circumstance to warrant that a sentence of life
imprisonment rather than death be imposed.

(ROA 990-991)

On February 11, 2010, after considering the motion, the Court entered an order in which
they "carried" the motion. (ROA 1393-1401, at 1393) Current counsel could not find any further
mention of the motion in the transcript or clerk's record.

The final charge given to the jury (ROA 1997-2003) made no mention of voluntary
intoxication despite a great deal of effort on defense counsel's part to develop involuntary
intoxication as a mitigation factor under Texas law. This is also baffling to the experts who were
called to testify about the methamphetamine use.* Thus, the mystery is why did the Defense not
urge their motion at the final charge conference to allow the Jury to consider the mitigation
allowed under Texas law, whether it be temporary insanity caused by intoxication or their
requested instruction of intoxication as mitigation. Either way, the spent a great deal of time
developing a mitigation element through experts Dr. Rosen, Dr. Love, Dr. Lundberg, Dr.
Cunningham as well as family members and never provided the jury with a vehicle where they
could consider voluntary intoxication as mitigation.

During closing arguments, the defense attorney put a great deal of time and emphasis at
the beginning of his closing argument on the amount of methamphetamine in Mr. Milam's blood

at the time of the crime was at a level of between .25 and .34 milligrams per liter per Dr. Rosen.

4 See Dr. Cunningham and Dr. Rosen's affidavits. (ROA 331-332; 334) Counsel contacted Mr. Hagen to ask him
why he did not re-urge his request for a mitigation instruction. Mr. Hagen stated he did not know and would have to
review the case again. This issue certainly should have been subject to an evidentiary hearing under Rule 8, Rules—
Section 2254 Cases, but no evidentiary hearing was granted.
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The attorney went over the testimony regarding methamphetamine use stated by Dr. Love. The
methamphetamine testimony of Dr. Lundberg and finally the extensive testimony of Dr.
Cunningham about methamphetamine use and drug induced psychosis. (ROA 5461-5462)

In response, the prosecutor stated:

His drug use. His own lawyer told you it's a sorry excuse, and I will agree with him on
that. I'll let you decide just how rampant it was. I'll let you decide from the evidence,
from all the divergent stories, of just how serious it was, but the bottom line is, as
Counsel for the defense told you over and over today in their two hours that, oh, he
didn't have a choice. He couldn't control it. He couldn't stop it....

And the bottom line and the most important thing is, is they can talk to you
all day long  about "oh, he couldn't stop." That's absolutely false. Because
you heard from the evidence repeatedly that when he met Jesseca Carson, he
stopped. He quit taking meth, according to them. He could stop. That is not--
not sufficient mitigating circumstances.

(ROA 5483)
Lastly in closing, the prosecutor stated the following:

[ thought I had seen everything.....

You know, through everything, I thought I had a pretty good handle on what
one human being could do to another. I thought, in 16 years, [ had seen
depravity. [ thought I had seen cruelty. I thought [ had seen brutality and
heinousness. I thought I'd seen meanness, and I even thought I had seen evil.

And I've stood in front of juries before and told them, "Ladies and gentlemen, you have
the worst of the worst." And [ mean it at the time time. [ really, at the time, thought it was

true. But everything...

The defense objected based upon the personal opinion of the prosecutor and the testimony. The

court sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard. The Court denied a mistrial but

the prosecutor continued;

Everything, everything was summarily surpassed on December 2, 2008,
because now, I, we, you, all of us can truly say that we have together seen the absolute
worse thing that one human can inflict upon another. Not just a human being, but the

most innocent of human beings. She wasn't even old enough to tell him to stop. I can tell
you right now, I will never stand before a jury and tell them that they have seen the worst

of the worst. ..
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Again, the defense objected based upon the testimony of the prosecutor and the
prosecutor attempted to begin again. The court told her to "stop" and then sustained the objection
and instructed the jury to disregard. A mistrial was again denied (ROA 5486-5487)

The jury was furnished with four special issues. The first two asked about future acts of
violence and if Mr. Milam caused the death of Amora Carson. They answered yes to both
questions. With regards to intellectual impairment and mitigation, the jury answered no. (ROA
5489-5490)

In testimony regarding mental deficiency, Dr. Proctor, a state expert, noted that the other
State expert, Dr. Gripon had tested Mr. Milam and found his IQ to be between 65-75. Regarding
his Global Assessment Functioning, Dr. Gripon found his score to be 65. Dr. Gripon found that
Mr. Gripon had a AXIS II diagnosis of intellectual impairment. Dr, Gripon's final conclusion
was that Mr. Milam had a deficit that is in the ranger that can conceivably in the upper mildly
mentally retarded range and lower borderline intellectual functioning. Dr. Andrews had tested
Mr. Milam at a 71 score and Dr. Proctor’s first test was a 68 but through later manipulation of
test results he came up with a composite score of 80.(ROA 5407-5439)

Dr. Gripon, one of two experts hired by the State for purposes of determining intellectual
impairment, did not testify at the trial and he was not called by the defense despite their
knowledge that he had diagnosed Mr. Milam as intellectually impaired. Dr. Gripon did submit an
affidavit in regards to the Federal petition that he had observed the testimony of Dr. Cunningham
and informed the State Prosecutor that the testimony was not credible and it would be better for

the State if they did not call Dr. Gripon to testify. Dr. Gripon’s opinion was that Mr. Milam is

17



“intellectually disabled within the requirements of the DSM-5 and the holding of Hall v.
Florida.” (ROA 339-340)

Mr. Milam’s trial attorneys requested an instruction on punishment regarding intellectual
impairment which stated:

A person with intellectual impairment means a person determined by a physician or

psychologist licensed in this state by the State or Certified by the Texas Department of

Mental Health and Intellectual impairment to have sub-average general intellectual

functioning concurrent with deficits in adaptive behavior exhibited prior to the age of 18.
(ROA 5441) The trial court denied the request.

Additionally, given the testimony by even the State's witnesses that Mr. Milam was at
least a year or two behind persons of his age group, the defense requested that the Court to find
that it would be unconstitutional to assess the death penalty on Blaine Milam based on his mental
age versus his physical age, which was 18 at the time of the offense. Based on varying testimony
from the witnesses that he was from 2 to 10 years younger emotionally than his physical age.
The Court denied this request. (ROA 5443)

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

This petition is brought upon a total denial by the Fifth Circuit of a Certificate of
Appealability. “[ T]he only question™ at the certificate of appealability stage “is whether [Mr.
Milam] has shown that “jurists of reason could disagree with the district court’s resolution of his
constitutional claims or that jurists could conclude the issues presented are adequate to deserve
encouragement to proceed further.””” Buck v. Davis, 137 S. Ct.759, 773 (2017). Where the district

court denies the claims under 28 U.S.C.§ 2254, a COA should issue if “reasonable jurists could

debate whether” the state court’s decision was “contrary to, or involved an unreasonable

S Hall v. Florida, 134 S.Ct. 1986 (2014), establishing that there is not a bright-line test of 70 for
intellectually impaired determinations under Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242
(2002).
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application of, clearly established Federal law, as determined by the Supreme Court of the
United States” or “resulted in a decision that was based on an unreasonable determination
of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.” 28
U.S.C. § 2254(d); Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 336 (2003).° “[A] claim
can be debatable even though every jurist of reason might agree, after the COA has
been granted and the case has received full consideration, that petitioner will not
prevail.” Miller-El, 537 U.S. at 338. ““Where the petitioner faces the death
penalty, any doubts as to whether a COA should issue must be resolved in the
petitioner’s favor.”” Rhoades v. Davis, 852 F.3d 422, 427 (5th Cir. 2017). In this case, the Fifth
Circuit totally abdicated their duty under Buck v. Davis.

Blaine Milam respectfully requests a writ of certiorari on the following issues:
1. Did the Fifth Circuit err in not granting a certificate of appealability on the allegation that
Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction on voluntary intoxication as
mitigation in violation of the Sixth and Eighth Amendments.
2. Did the Fifth Circuit err in not granting a certificate of appealability on the allegation
that the trial court erred in failing to include a requested jury instruction on voluntary
intoxication when it was clearly warranted by testimony extensively developed by the Defense in
violation of the Fourteenth Amendment.
3. Did the Fifth Circuit err in not granting a certificate of appealability on the allegation that
Appellate Counsel was ineffective for failing to bring in the Motion for New Trial and Direct

Appeal the failure of trial counsel to include a requested jury instruction, and the trial court's

¢ Because the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals “adopt[ed] the trial judge’s

findings and conclusions,” Ex parte Milam, No. WR-79,322-01, 2013 WL

4856200, at *1 (Tex. Crim. App. Sep. 11, 2013), it is those findings and conclusions that are
relevant to this Court’s analysis. E.g., Pierce v. Thaler, 604 F.3d 197, 213, 216 (5th Cir. 2010).
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failure to include a jury instruction when it had been requested, on voluntary intoxication as a
vehicle of mitigation consideration by the jury, in violation of the Sixth Amendment.

4. Did the Fifth Circuit err in not granting a certificate of appealability concerning State
Habeas Counsel being ineffective for failing to allege in the state application for writ of habeas
corpus that 1)trial counsel was ineffective for failing to insist on a voluntary intoxication
instruction when the Defense was the one that developed the testimony, 2) the trial court erred in
failing to provide a requested voluntary intoXication instruction in violation of the Eighth
Amendment, and 3) appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to allege the voluntary
intoxication issue in the motion for new trial and on direct appeal. All in violation of the Sixth
Amendment.

5. Did the Fifth Circuit err in not granting a certificate of appealability on the issue asserting
the evidence was sufficient to the preponderance standard to demonstrate that Mr. Milam was,
and is, intellectually impaired and thus both appellate and habeas counsel were ineffective for
not asserting this claim for state review and exhaustion, in violation of the Sixth Amendment.

6. Did the Fifth Circuit err in not granting a certificate of appealability concerning the
allegation that the evidence was sufficient to demonstrate that Mr. Milam was functioning at
somewhere between an 8 and 16 year old emotional level. Thus, his sentence of death violates
the Supreme Court's mandate that persons below the age of 18 shall not be executed. See Roper
v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 541 (2005) Appellate counsel was ineffective for not pursuing this claim
once it had been established via a ruling by the trial court. Habeas counsel was ineffective for not
asserting that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to bring this claim on direct appeal in

violation of the Sixth Amendment.
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Most central to the Fifth Circuit’s determination on a certificate of appealability, the
District Court denied claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel based on exhaustion
and procedural default principles. Although at the time the petition was submitted Nguyen v.
Curry, 736 F.3d 1287, 1296 (9th Cir. 2013) was favorable to the claim the Supreme Court has
recently declined to extend Martinez ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claims. Davila v.
Davis,— U.S. ——, 137 S.Ct. 2058 (2017) However, in Davila v. Davis, the Supreme Court
recognized there could be an exception for a claim when it is “required to ensure that meritorious
claims of trial error receive review by at least one state or federal court.” /d. At 2067. In this
case, Mr. Milam has alleged a trial error in the Court failing to present an instruction on
voluntary intoxication. There is no other vehicle at this point to consider the claim in either state
or federal court unless the Martinez exception is applied to the ineffective assistance of appellate
counsel. Thus. it is proper to grant a certiticate of appeal on this issue and the Fitth Circuit’s
determination on this claim is in error.

Regarding the intellectual disability claim the District Court determined that the recent
decision in Moore v. Texas, — U.S. ——, 137 S.Ct. 1039 (2017) was not applicable to Mr.
Milam and thus the claim should be denied and the Fifth Circuit agreed. However, if this claim
cannot receive meaningful review since neither appellate counsel or state habeas counsel
presented it and certainly had habeas counsel took the time to talk to Dr. Gripon he would have
been able to present a strong argument that both state and defense experts agreed that Mr. Milam
was intellectually impaired that would prevent his execution. Thus, if he is denied meaningful
review it will be a miscarriage of justice based on the ineffectiveness of attorneys, which is not

the way this society should be executing people.
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The issue regarding emotional age versus chronological age has not been determined by
the Supreme Court and thus is presented in this pleading.
Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The Supreme Court has long recognized that the right to the effective assistance of
counsel under the Sixth Amendment means “the giving of effective aid in the preparation and
trial of the case.” Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55 (1932). The standard for judging
the performance of counsel is the same for appointed versus retained counsel. Cuyler v. Sullivan,
466 U.S. 335, 334, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 1716 (1980).

The prevailing test for determining if a person received the effective assistance of counsel
in a criminal proceeding is that set out in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052
(1984), and the companion case of United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039 (1984).
Thus, in order to prove the ineffective assistance of counsel, the Strickland Court held that: 1) to
establish ineffective assistance requiring reversal of a conviction, a defendant must show both a)
that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as “counsel” guaranteed by
the Sixth Amendment, and b) that the “deficient performance prejudiced the defense™; 2) the
“proper standard for [measuring] attorney performance is that of reasonably effective
assistance,” as guided by “prevailing professional norms™ and consideration of “all the
circumstances” relevant to counsel’s performance; 3) more specific guidelines in applying that
standard are “not appropriate”; and (4) the proper standard for measuring prejudice is where
there is a “reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the
proceedings would be different.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064.

Justice O’Connor in explaining this broad non-specific approach to reviewing claims of

ineffectiveness noted that counsel must “consult with the defendant on important decisions and
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...keep [him] informed of important developments.” /d. at 688-90, 104 S.Ct. at 2064-66. Thus,
the court must look at the attorney’s performance to determine “whether in light of all the
circumstances, the identified acts or omissions [of counsel] were outside the range of
professionally competent assistance.” It is the defendant’s burden to overcome the presumption
that counsel’s conduct was trial strategy. /d. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065; See also United States v.
Clark, 741 F.2d 699 (5" Cir. 1984).
Right to Effective Assistance of Appellate Counsel

“A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to receive effective assistance of counsel
on direct appeal.” United States v. Phillips, 210 F.3d 345, 348 (5th Cir. 2000). A claim of
ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal involves the same familiar two-prong analysis
under Strickland, which requires 1) deficient performance, and 2) resulting prejudice. See 466
U.S. at 687; see also Busby v. Dretke, 359 F.3d 708, 714 (5th Cir. 2004) (applying Strickland test
to appellate counsel's performance).
Right to Effective Assistance of State Habeas Counsel

Likewise, the ineffectiveness issue may be raised on the first time in a federal habeas
proceeding when state habeas counsel fails to bring an issue of ineffectiveness in state collateral
proceedings thus avoiding procedural default. In Martinez v. Ryan, the Supreme Court held that
“a procedural default will not bar a federal habeas court from hearing a substantial claim of
ineffective assistance at trial if, in the [State's] initial-review collateral proceeding, there was no
counsel or counsel in that proceeding was ineffective.” 132 S.Ct. 1309, 1320 (2012). The
Supreme Court in Trevino v. Thaler held that this rule equally applies to Texas’s post-conviction

proceedings. 133 S.Ct. 1911, 1920 (2013).



Under Martinez, Mr. Milam has to establish that his underlying ineffectiveness of counsel
claim is “substantial” and that his state habeas counsel was ineffective. 132 S.Ct. at 1318-19.
Substantial is defined by the court as a claim that has “some merit.” Id. at 1318. Martinez makes
this substantiality standard equivalent to the standard for obtaining a COA. Id. at 1318—19 (citing
Miller—El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322,123 S.Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003) (describing the
standard for granting a COA)); see also Dietrich v. Ryan, 740 F.3d 1237 (9th Cir. 2013) (en
banc) (noting that “the [ Martinez ] Court incorporated [the COA standard] in its definition of
substantiality™); ¢f- Cook v. Ryan, 688 F.3d 598, 610 n. 13 (9th Cir.) (noting that Martinez
referenced Miller—FEl as “*generally analogous support™), cert. denied, — U.S. ——, 133 S.Ct.
81, 183 L.Ed.2d 721 (2012). So, if a petitioner's IAC claim is not substantial enough to earn a
COA, it is also not substantial enough to form the basis for excusing the procedural default.
Voluntary Intoxication Instruction

As noted in the procedural and factual history above, the Defense attorneys had requested
on November 6, 2009, an instruction on voluntary intoxication that would counter the
requirement for temporary insanity due to voluntary intoxication of § 8.04 of the Texas Penal
Code. Section 8.04 allows that "Evidence of temporary insanity caused by intoxication may be
introduced by the actor in mitigation of punishment of the penalty attached to the offense for
which he was tried." Thus, the State of Texas, along with most jurisdictions, allows a specific
vehicle for the jury to consider voluntary intoxication as mitigation when the Petitioner brings
forth evidence of a "drug induced psychosis." The instruction that the defense wanted was a
simple consideration as mitigation instruction versus the heightened standard of psychosis or

temporary insanity.
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The trial court considered this motion and carried it for purposes of trial. At trial and
especially at punishment, Defense Counsel, not the State, repeatedly introduced Mr. Milam's
history of drug use and on the night of the crime his "drug induced psychosis" through Dr.
Rosen, Dr. Love, Dr. Lundberg, Dr. Cunningham and family members. See factual and
procedural history above. These experts believed that their testimony was being submitted to
support a charge of voluntary intoxication in mitigation of punishment.

Dr. Cunningham, in his affidavits set out that he was retained by the defense to discuss
methamphetamine and his opinion that Mr. Milam was in a drug induced psychosis. Dr.
Cunningham was unaware as to why defense counsel would not have insisted on the voluntary
intoxication instruction after they had spent so much time developing the issue.’

At the time the federal petition was being prepared, Dr. Patricia Rosen was also
befuddled as to why she was tasked with discussing the level of methamphetamine in Mr.
Milam's system and there was no instruction to the jury. Dr. Rosen set out in her affidavit that "It
was my understanding from the Defense team that my testimony would support their request for
a specific instruction on drug induced psychosis."® Dr. Rosen was unaware as to why the
Defense team would not request an instruction after spending so much time developing the issue.

However, having spent so much time and effort introducing this testimony, the defense
team failed to re-assert the issue of a voluntary intoxication instruction be given to the jury at
punishment. Thus, when a specific vehicle for consideration of mitigation was allowed, the jury
was not provided that vehicle because of the ineffectiveness of trial counsel at the charge

conference.

7 See Dr. Cunningham's affidavit. (ROA 331-332)
8 See Dr. Rosen's affidavit (ROA 334)
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The Supreme Court has repeated in unqualified language for more than 30 years the
foundational rule that the Eighth Amendment requires in death penalty cases the admission of
any mitigating evidence “that might serve "as a basis for a sentence less than death.” ™ Skipper v.
South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1, 5, 106 S.Ct. 1669, 90 L.Ed.2d 1 (1986) (quoting Lockett v. Ohio,
438 U.S. 586, 604, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978)). Over that period, the Supreme Court
has never invoked harmless error or suggested that this relatively simple Eighth Amendment
mitigation rule, stated in many cases,’ should be subject to “harmless error” analysis. The reason
for this rule is that a mandatory death penalty that leaves out consideration of mitigation is
unconstitutional. Each juror at the mitigation phase of the proceeding must have the discretion to
spare the defendant's life. Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 96 S.Ct. 2978, 49 L.Ed.2d
944 (1976)."° The Lockett line of cases insists that the jurors should make that judgment based on
considering all mitigating factors weighed against the aggravating factors.

In this case, given that Counsel had spent considerable effort setting up a mitigation

factor, he was ineffective for taking the next step and requesting an available mitigation

* Abdul-Kabir v. Quarterman, 550 U.S. 233, 264—65, 127 S.Ct. 1654, 167 L.Ed.2d 585 (2007);
Smith v. Texas, 543 U.S. 37, 4548, 125 S.Ct. 400. 160 L.Ed.2d 303 (2004); Tennard v. Dretke,
542 U.S. 274, 28688, 124 S.Ct. 2562, 159 L.Ed.2d 384 (2004); Penry v. Johnson, 532 U.S. 782,
804, 121 S.Ct. 1910, 150 L.Ed.2d 9 (2001); Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 317, 109 S.Ct.
2934, 106 L.Ed.2d 256 (1989); Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 398-99, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95
L.Ed.2d 347 (1987); Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1, 4, 106 S.Ct. 1669, 90 L.Ed.2d 1
(1986); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 110-12, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982); Bell v.
Ohio, 438 U.S. 637, 642,98 S.Ct. 2977, 57 L..Ed.2d 1010 (1978).

19 The Court in Woodson explained the mitigation requirement as follows: “In Furman, members
of the Court acknowledge what cannot fairly be denied that death is a punishment different from
all other sanctions in kind rather than degree. A process that accords no significance to relevant
facets of the character and record of the individual offender or the circumstances of the particular
offense excludes from consideration in fixing the ultimate punishment of death the possibility of
compassionate or mitigating factors stemming from the diverse frailties of humankind. It treats
all persons convicted of a designated offense not as uniquely individual human beings, but as
members of a faceless, undifferentiated mass to be subjected to the blind infliction of the penalty
of death.” Woodson, 428 U.S. at 30304, 96 S.Ct. 2978 (internal citations omitted).
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instruction. The trial court also erred in not providing a requested instruction or the alternative
instruction mandated by Texas law on voluntary intoxication as mitigation. Thus, the jury was
left with only considering intoxication as an aggravating factor. Likewise, appellate counsel was
ineffective for not requesting a motion for new trial in which evidence could be presented that
would demonstrate trial counsel’s ineffectiveness. Lastly, habeas counsel was ineffective for not

asserting the ineffectiveness of both the trial counsel and appellate counsel with regards to this

claim.

Intellectual Disability

In Hall v. Florida, 134 S.Ct. 1986, 1990 (2014), the Supreme Court overturned Florida’s
“rigid rule” requiring a capital defendant to score 70 or less on an IQ test to claim intellectual
disability because the rule “create[d] an unacceptable risk that persons with intellectual disability
will be executed.” The Court noted that an individual’s success in adapting to daily life “is
central to the framework followed by psychiatrists and other professionals in diagnosing
intellectual disability.” Id. at 1990-91. The three medical factors for determining intellectual
disability are “significantly sub-average intellectual functioning, deficits in adaptive functioning
(the inability to learn basic skills and adjust behavior to changing circumstances), and onset of
these deficits during the developmental period.” Id., at 1994 (citations omitted). The Court
noted that it cited two medical definitions rejecting a rigid [Q analysis in Atkins. Id., at 1999.
Further, states do not have complete autonomy to make definitions of intellectual disability, else
the 8" Amendment would be nullified. /4 Although medical and legal definitions are not exact,
a state’s rule must be informed by the medical definitions of intellectual disability. /d., at 2000.

In order to understand the Hall decision as it relates to Texas, the definition in Florida of

intellectual disability is the same. That is "significantly subaverage general intellectual
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functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the
period from conception to age 18." See Hall v. Florida, 134 S.Ct. 1986. 1994 (2014). The
Supreme Court found that on its face this statute could be found to comport with the Atkins v.
Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242 (2002) holding preventing the execution of the
intellectually disabled. However, the Court went on to note that the Florida Supreme Court had
held that a person "whose test score is above 70, does not have an intellectual disability and is
barred from presenting other evidence that would show his facilities are limited."Hall v. Florida,
134 S.Ct. at 1994 (citing Cherry v. State, 959 So0.2d 702, 712-713 (Fla. 2007). Thus, the Supreme
Court reversed Hall based upon the Supreme Court's interpretation of a law which is much like
what Texas has developed.

In Texas, while Mr. Milam's trial was going on the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals
entered an opinion in Ex parte Hearn, 310 S.W.3d 424 (Tex. Crim. App. 2010) in which they
determined that other than the Standford-Binet. the WAIS or the Kaufman Assessment Battery
other "clinical assessment as a replacement for full-scale IQ scores" would be precluded. Ex
parte Hearn, 310 S.W.3d at 431. Thus, the question in this case is why Defense Counsel allowed
the jury to rely heavily on Dr. Proctor's use of the RAIS and as noted above, it is not a full scale
IQ battery and as noted in Footnote 18 above, it is inherently flawed as a testing instrument and
provides scores consistently above the WAIS. However, this is not the main issue.

More importantly, what Fx parte Hearn also notes that in Texas, the Texas Court of
Criminal Appeals "interprets the 'about 70' language of the AAMR's definition of intellectual
impairment to represent a rough ceiling, above which a finding of intellectual impairment in the

capital case is precluded." Id. 310 S.W.3d at 431, citing numerous cases at FN 17.
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Thus, Texas, like Florida, stops the inquiry if the test scores are outside the about 70
range accepted by the DSM. Specifically, Florida held in Cherry v. Florida, 959 So.2d 702, 711-
714 that Mr. Cherry's score of 72 precluded him from relief under Atkins. Cherry v. Florida, also
relied upon the holding in Bowling v. Commonwealth of Kentucky, 163 S.W.3d 361 (Ky. 2005)
in finding that 18 states have come to the same conclusion regarding the 70 requirement.
Bowling, 163 S.W.3d at 374. Specifically, what makes Florida and Texas united in this venture
is the language upon which Cherry relied from Kentucky which set out that Texas is one of three
states that a person must have an 1Q of 70 or below to qualify for the Atkins exemptions.
Bowling, supra, citing Ex parte Briseno, 135 S.W.3d 1. 14 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004)

Given the testimony in the current case, set out about in the factual and procedural
section of the federal petition, Mr. Milam is intellectual impaired. Dr. Gripon, the state's expert,
had found that Mr. Milam had an IQ between 65-70'!. Dr. Proctor's, another state expert, WAIS-
IV results were 68. Dr. Andrews, a non-testifying defense expert. reported a 71 on the WAIS-IV.
Dr. Cunningham went at length through adaptive functioning factors and onset before the age of
18. This was not clearly rebutted by the State and the juries determination that Mr. Milam was
not mentally retarded to a preponderance standard is inconsistent with the evidence in this case.

Thus, what precluded the jury from finding Mr. Milam intellectually disabled was three
test scores of 71, 80 and another 80 from an inherently flawed testing instrument. The fourth test
was a 68, which Mr. Hall in Florida never had. Texas can say they want to put on an appearance
of being fair and applying the law, but what started in Texas went to Kentucky and ultimately to
Florida, resulting in the reversal by the Supreme Court in Hall of the Texas Briseno, Kentucky

Bowling and Florida Cherry standard.

' There was conflicting findings in Dr. Gripon's report. He reported 65-70 and 65-75. However, as he has made
clear in his affidavit in these proceedings, as the State’s expert, he was of the opinion of that Mr. Milam was
intellectually impaired. (ROA 339-340)
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The determination of intellectual impairment cannot stop at a score on an intelligence
test, the Supreme Court is very clear on this issue in Hall.

At the close of the case, defense counsel made a motion for directed verdict on the
intellectual impairment issue. The Trial Court denied the motion. (ROA 5443) Trial counsel
failed to challenge the use of the RAIS as a testing instrument and was thus ineffective.
Appellate counsel failed to assert this issue and the intellectual impairment issue as a whole on
direct appeal. State habeas counsel failed to assert ineffectiveness of trial and appellate counsel
for failing to assert the issues at trial and on direct appeal. Given this, this Court may consider
the issue under Martinez and Nguyen.

Roper v. Simmons violation

At the conclusion of punishment, defense counsel notified the court that they had
previously filed a motion to preciude the death penalty because Mr. Milam had a mental or
emotional age below that of 18, which all the experts had agreed upon as noted in the discussion
above about the facts and procedural history.

Defense counsel requested the Court to find that a sentence of death upon Mr. Milam
would violate the Constitution as interpreted by the holding of Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551
(2005). (ROA 1224-1236) The trial court denied the motion. (ROA 5443)

Appellate counsel did not bring forth this claim on direct appeal. State habeas counsel
failed to bring the issue on state habeas review. Thus, pursuant to Martinez and Nguyen this
claim is now being presented as an ineffectiveness of habeas counsel claim.

Although the current view is that this claim is without merit, See Parr v. Quarterman,
472 F.3d 245, 261 (5th Cir.2006), cert. denied, 551 U.S. 1133, 127 S.Ct. 2974, 168 L.Ed.2d 707

(2007); In re Garner, 612 F.3d 533, 535-36 (6th Cir.2010) (“The Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S.



551,125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005) ] Court did not hold that the Eighth Amendment
prohibits a death sentence for an offender with a 'mental age' of less than 18.”) In 2004, before
Roper, it was ok to execute a 17 year old and many were executed. In 2001, before Arkins, it was
ok to execute someone who was mentally retarded, and many were executed. This country has an
evolving standard of decency which requires us to constantly reflect on the development of this
nation and whether the death penalty remains a functional component of that society. In this
case, no one from either side, even the State's expert, could say that Mr. Milam was functioning
beyond the 16 year old level at the time of the crime, although he was 18 at the time. Most
testified that he was "like a child" or functioned at an 8-11 year old level. Executing someone
who is functioning at the 8-11 year old level is cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the
Eighth Amendment under the evolving standards of decency. As noted by the 11" Circuit, the
Supreme Court has not determined this issue. Melton v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections,
778 F.3d 1234, 1237 (11" Cir. 2015). It is an issue worthy of consideration. Appellate and
Habeas Counsel's failure to bring this claim forward is a violation of the right to effective
assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment and should withstand a procedural bar
pursuant to Martinez and to avoid a miscarriage of justice.

All of the above claims have been fully briefed to the Distict Court and the Fifth Circuit
in the Petition and supporting motions and documents. Petitioner requests a writ of certiorari

from this Court on these issues.

CONCLUSION
Mr. Milam has brought claims upon which relief can be granted and jurist of reason have
differed. The Fifth Circuit’s determination on these issues is contrary to opinions by this Court.

A writ of certiorari should be granted and the case remanded to the Fifth Circuit with instructions



to grant a certificate of appealability. Alternatively, the merits of the claims should be considered

and relief granted.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

Q,%Jk

Don Bailey

Attorney for Blame Keith Milam
SBN 01520480

309 N. Willow

903-892-9185

903-891-8304 Fax
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Judgment

[his day this cause was called tor trial and the state appeared by the Rusk County Attorney,
Micheal E. Jimerson and Assistant Attorney General and Assistant District Attorney Lisa lanner and the
detendant BLAINE KELTH MILAM appeared 1n person, his counsel, tHon. Rick Hagen, also being present,
and both parties announced ready for trial, and the detendant BLAINE KEITH MILAM i open court
pleaded not guilty to the charge of capital murder contained in the indictment herein; THEREUPON a
jury, to wit, Robert W. Wallace and cleven others, plus two alternate jurors, was duly selected,
impaneled. and swomn, who, having heard the indictment read, and the defendant's plea of not guilty
thereto, and having heard the evidence submitted, and having been duly charged by the court, retired in
charge of the proper otticer to consider of their verdict, and atterward were brought into open court by
the proper ofticer, the defendant and his counsel being present, and in due torm of law returmed into
open court the following verdict, which was received by the court, and is here now entered upon the

minutes of the court, to wit:

"We, the jury, tind the Detendant, BLAINE KEITH MILAM, "Guilty" ot the
offense of Capital Murder, as charged in the indictment.

Robert W. Wallace
Foreman of the Jury"

Thereupon the defendant, BLAINE KEITH MILAM, being convicted of capital murder by the
verdict of the Jury and thereupon turther evidence being heard by the jury on the special issues
pertaining to punishment. the Court again charged the jury as provided by the law on the tollowing
spectal issue:

Spectal [ssue No. |

[s there a probability that the detendant, BEANINE KETTHENTLAM. would commit criminal acts
ot violence that would constitute a continuing threat to society”?

Special [ssue No. 2

Did the detendant, BLAINE KETTH MILANML actually cause the death ot the deceased or Jdid not
wetually caused the death ot the deceased but intended to Kill the deceased or another or anticipated that

1uwman hite would be taken?



Spectal Issue No. 3

[s the detendant, BLAINE KETTTT MILANM, o person with mental retardation?

Spectal Issue No. 4

Fuking into consideration all of the evidence, including the circumstances of the ottense, the
Jdetendant’s character and background, the mental impairment ot the detendant that might not amount to
mental retardation | it any, and the personal moral culpability of the detendant, is there sutticient
mitigating circumstance or circumstances to warrant that a sentence ot lite imprisonment rather than a
death sentence be imposed?

The jury, after hearing arguments ot counsel. retired in charge of the proper otticer to consider
their verdict and atterwards were brought into open Court by the proper ofticer; the detendant BLAINE
KEITH MILAM, and his counsel being present and in due torm of law returned into open court the
tollowing verdict, which was received by the Court and is here and now entered upon the minutes of the
court, to-wit:

ANSWER TO SPECIAL ISSUE NO. 1:

We, the jury unanimously find and determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the answer to
Special Issue No. 1 is "YES™.

s/ Robert W. Wallace, Foreman

ANSWER TO SPECIAL ISSUE NO. 2:

We, the jury unanimously find and determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the answer to
Special [ssue No. 2 1s “YES™.

s/ Robert W. Wallace, Foreman

ANSWER TO SPECIAL ISSUE NO. 3:

We. the jury unanimously tind and determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the answer to
Special [ssue No. 3 is "NO™

s Robert W Wallace. Foreman

ANSWER TOSPECIAL ISSULE NOL

Weothe jury unanimousty find and determine bevond a reasonable doubdt that the answer to
Special Issue Noo 3 s NOT

s Robert W, Wallace, Foreman
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(tis theretore considered and adjudged by the court that the detendant BLAINE KEITH MILAM is
sutlty of the otfense ot Caprtal Murder. as found by the jury and said defendant committed said offense
on or about December 2. 2008, as tound by the jury, and that BLAINE KEITH MILAM be punished, as
has been determined by the jury’s answers to the special issues and inaccordance with State law by

imposition ot the sentence of DEATH, according to the Law.

chercupon the said Defendant, BLAINE KEITH MILAM, was informed by the Court ot the
mandatory appeal of the Judgment and Sentence to the Texas Court ot Criminal Appeals as provided by
law and rights to an 11.071 Application tor Writ ot Flabeas Corpus, and turther the said Detendant was
asked by the Court whether he had anything to say why said sentence should not be pronounced against
him, subject to the mandatory appeal and mandate, and he answered nothing in bar thereof, and it
appearing to the Court that the defendant is mentally competent and understands the English language,
the Court proceeded, then in the presence of the defendant, his counsel, and counsel for the State, to

pronounce sentence subject to mandatory appeal. against him as tollows:

[t 1s the Order ot this Court that the said defendant, BLAINE KEITH MILAM, who has been
adjudged guilty of the offense of Capital Murder, a capital felony; and that said defendant BLAINE
KEITH MILAM committed the otfense on or about December 2, 2008 as found by the jury and that he
be punished as has been determined by the jury’s answers to the special issues along with Texas law, by
imposition of DEATH, according to the law and said defendant is remanded to the Sheriff of Rusk
County, Texas to be delivered to the Institutional Division of the Texas Department of Criminal Justice
or other person legally authorized to receive said detendant to be held until a date to be determined and
ordered by this Court should the appeal in this case be atfirmed and Mandate of same is returned to the
Clerk ot this Court . whereupon a death warrant with date ot execution shall be ordered as provided by

the Taw. and thereatter the Detendant transported to the appropriate authority tor excecution as provided

By Ty
v By
Sizned this the ,;Z/it davot ok 2910,
T A e
- e e

e T
fonorable Clay Gossett, Judge Prestding

47 District Court of Rusk County. Texas
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Svnopsis

Background: Following petitioner's conviction for capital
murder and sentence to death. petitioner petitioned lor
writ of habeas corpus. The United States District Court
lor the Eastern District of Texas. No. 4:13-CV-545, denied

petition. Defendant applicd tor certificate of appealability

(COA). seeking to appeal the District Court's denial of

petition.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals held that:

[1] a habeas petitioner may only establish cause 10 excuse
a procedural default as 1o an meffective assistance of tnal
counsel claim. and

[2] petitioner failed to show that his ineffective assistance

claim had any merit. and thus lacked debatability required
forissuance ol COA.

Application denied.

Wost Headnotes (2)

1] Habeas Corpus

A habeas petitioner may establish cause to
excuse a procedural default as o only an

effective assistance of trial counsel claim.

Cases that cite this headnote

121 Attorney and Client

Petitioner failed to show that his ieffective
assistance of trial counsel claim. based on
counsel's purported failure to properly seek
Jury instruction on voluntary mtoxication as
mitigation at punishment phase. had any
merit sufficient to overcome requirement that
petiioner show that his habeas counsel was
constitutionally deficient in tatling to include
cluim in first habeas application and that
underlving ineffective assistance claim was
substantial. and thus petitoner failed 1o
show debatability required for issuance ol
certificate of appeal (COA) to appeal denial
ol his habeas peution: court denied  trial
counsel's motion for voluntary intoxication
mstruction. and trial counsel urged jury to
consider voluntary intoxication during closing

argument. Tex. Penal Code Ann. § 8.04.

Cases that cite this headnote

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas, USDC No. 4:13-CV-545

Attorneys and Law Firms

Donald  Lee
Appellant

Bailey. Sherman. TX. for Petitioner-

Tomee Morgan Heining, Assistant Attorney General,
Office of the Attorney General, Postconviction Litigation

Division. Austin. TX. for Respondent-Appellee

Betore ELROD. GRAVES. and HIGGINSON. Circunt
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Opinion
PER CURIAM:

*1 In 2010. Petitioner Blaine Keith Milam was convicled
for the capital murder of thirteen-month-old Amora Bain
Carson and sentenced to death. His direct appeal and
state collateral proceedings were unsuccesstul, as wus his

28 U.S.CL§ 2254 petition Tor a writ ol habeas corpus

in the district court. He now applies for a certificute of

appealability (COA). seeking to appeal the district court’s
demial of his petition. For the reasons that follow. we deny

the application.

We provide only a brief summary of the underlying facts
here. We discuss the specilic tacts pertinent to cach ol the

relevant COA issues in the appropriate sections below.

Milam was charged with capital murder for the death
of Amora Bam Carson. During the gutlt phase of his
Jury trial the State’s evidence showed that Amora died
from homicidal violence. due to muluple blunt-foree
injuries and possible strangulation. A scarch of Milam's
trailer. the scene of the murder. reveualed blood-sputter
stains consistent with blunt-torce trauma. blood-stained
bedding and baby clothes. blood-stained baby diapers and
wipes. a tube of Astroglide lubricant. and a pair ol jeans
with blood stains on the lap. DNA testing showed that
the blood on these items was Amora’s. Milam's sister
visited Milam in jail a few davs after the murder, and
that night she told her aunt that she needed to get to
Milam's trailer because Milam told her to get evidence
out from underneath it. Milam’s aunt called the police.
who immediately obtained a search warrant and. in a
search underneath the trailer, discovered a pipe wrench
mside a clear plastic bag that had been shoved down
a hole m the floor of the master bathroom. Forensic
analysis revealed components of Astroglide on the pipe
wrench, the diaper Amora had been wearing, and the
diaper and wipes collected trom the trailer. The State also
proffered testimony (rom Shirley Brovles. a nurse at the
Rusk County Juil. who testilied that Milam told her, ~“1'm
going to confess. [ did it. But Ms. Shirley. the Blaine vou
know did not do this. My dad told me to be a man. and
['ve been reading my Bible. Please tell Jesseca [Amora’s

mother| that Tove her.” See gencrally Milam v, Staie. No.

76379, 2012 WL 1868458, at *1--6 (Tex. Crim. App. May
23.2012). The jury convicted Milam of capital murder. in
violation of Texas Penal Code section 19.03(a)(8).

Alter @ separate punishment hearing. the jury voted In
favor of the death penalty, and the trial court sentenced
Milam to death, The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals
affirmed the conviction and sentence on direct appeal.
Milam did not file a petition for a writ of certiorart.

Milam filed an application for writ of habeas corpus in
State court on May 21, 2012, On September 11. 2013, the
Texas Court of Criminal Appeals adopted the triul court’s
recommended findings of fact and conclusions of Taw and
denied state habeas reliet. Milam then filed a petition for
habeas reliet in tederal district court. On August 16, 2017,
the district court denied the petition on all of Milam’s
twentv-one claims (some with multiple subclaims) and

dented Milam a certilicate of appealability.

*2 Milam now sceks o COA in this court on six
claims: (1) trial counsel was eftective for failing to
request a jury mstructon during the punishment phase
on voluntary mtoxication as mitigation: (2) the trial court
erred in failing to mclude a jury mstruction on voluntary
intoxication: (3) appellate counsel was mellective for
failing 1o raisc. in a motion tor new trial or on direct
appeal, the meftectivencss of trial counsel for failing to
request and the trial court’'s failure to mclude a jury
instruction on voluntary intoxication: (4) state habeas
counsel was meftective for failing to raise the first three
claims in a state habeas application: (3) appellate and
state habeas counsel were mcettective for tailing to assert a
sutficieney of the evidence claim on the issue of whether
Milam was intellectually disabled: and (6) appellate and
state habeas counsel were inelfective for failing to atlege
claims on appeal that Milam's death sentence violates
Simmony. 543 U.S. 351, 125 S.Ct 1183, 161
L.Ed.2d 1 (2005). because the evidence demonstrated that

Roper v.

he was functioning on an cmotional level of & person

between eight and sixteen years old.

I

Federal habeas proceedings are subject to the rules
prescribed by the Anti-terrorism and Eftective Death
Penalty Act (AEDPA). Matamoros v. Stephens. 783 F.2d
202,215 (Sth Cir. 2015): vee 28 US.C. § 2254, Under
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AEDPA. a certificate of appealability 1s a jurisdictional
prerequisite to appealing the denial of habeus relief. See
28 US.CL§ 2253(e) )(AY: Miller-El v, Cochrell. 537 US.
322033536, 123 S.CL 1029, 154 LEA.2d 931 (2003). A
COA may issue upon “a substantial showing ol the denial
ol a constitutional right.” 28 U1.S.C. § 2253(¢)2). “ At the
COA stage. the only question is whether the applicant
has shown that “jurists of reason could disagree with
the district court’s resolution of his constitutional claims
or that jurists could conclude the issues presented are
adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed further.” ™
Buck v. Davis. 380 U.S. 37S.CL 739,773,197
L.Ed.2d 1 (2017) (quoting Miller-El 337 U.S. at 327,123
S.CL 1029). "When ... the district court denies reliet on
procedural grounds. the petitioner secking ¢ COA must
show both “that jurists of reason would find it debatable
whether the petition states a valid claim ol the dental ot a
constitutional right and that jurists of reason would [ind
it debatable whether the district court was correct in its
procedural ruling.” ™ Gonzalez v, Thaler. 565 U.S. 134,
14041, 132 S.CL 6410 181 L.EA.2d 619 (2012) (quoting
Slack v. McDaniel. 529 U.S. 473,484, 120 S.CL 15395, 146
L.Ed.2d 342 (2000) ).Whatever the basis for the denial.
the court must bear in mind that “[w]here the petitioner
faces the death penalty. “any doubts as to whether a COA
should ssue must be resolved” in the petitioner’s favor.”
T Allen v, Stephens. 805 F.3d 617, 6235 (Sth Cir. 2015y
(quoting Medellin v. Dretke. 371 F.3d 2700 275 (5th Cir.
2004y ). abrogated on other gromnds by Avestas v. Davis.
S84 US, — 138 S.CL 1080, L.Ed.2d (2018).

“Tn assessing whether the district court’s rejection of [a
petitioner’s] claims is debatable. we consider them under
the deference AEDPA mandates federal courts show their
state peers.” Prystash v Davis. 854 F 3d 830, 833 (5th

Cir. 20017). A federal court should not grant habeas relief

unless the petitioner has exhausted the remedies wvailable
see also 28
U.S.C. ¢ 2254(b). I the state court has adjudicated a

petitioner’s habeas claim on the merits. a federal court

m state court for reviewing the claim.™ /d:

may not grant habeas rehief unless the state court’s
adjudication of the claim was “contrary to. or involved an
unreasonable application ol. clearly established Federal
law, as deternmuned by the Supreme Court of the United
States.”™ 28 ULS.CL 8§ 2254(d)(1). or was “based on an
unrcasonable determination of the facts in light of the
evidence presented i the State court proceeding.™ id. §
2254(d)(2). Regarding subscction (1), “[al state court's

decision 1s deemed contrary to clearly established federal

law it it reaches a legal conclusion in direct conflict with
a prior decision of the Supreme Court[.] ... it 1t reaches
a difterent conclusion than the Supreme Court based on
matenallv indistinguishable facts.” Gray v. Epps. 616 F.3d
436, 439 (3th Cir. 2010). or if the state court applies a
rule different [rom the governing law set forth in [Supreme
Court] cases.” Bell v. Cone. 535 US. 685,694, 122 S.CL
1843, 152 L.Ed.2d 914 (2002). And “[a] state court’s
decision constitutes an unreasonable application ot clearly
established federal law if it is “objectively unreasonable.”

Grar. 616 F.3d at 439, "When. as here. o habeas
petitioner’s claim has been adjudicated on the merits in
state court. review under § 2254(d)(1) is limited o the
record that was before the state court.™ Lodenv. McCarty.
778 F.3d 484, 493 (5th Cir. 2015) (citation and internal
quotation marks omitted). Regarding subsection (2). a
federal habeas pettioner challenging the factual basis fora
prior stute court decision is successful only 11 he rebuts the
“presumption of correctness” of the state court’s factual
findings by clecar and convincing evidence.”™ Miller-El v.
Drethe, 345U .S 231,240, 125S.CL 2317162 L.Ed.2d 196
(2003) (quoting 28 U.S.C. § 2254(¢)(1) ).

*3 This is a “difficult to meet.” and “highly deferential
standard  for evaluating state-court ruhngs, which
demands that state-court decisions be given the benefit
of the doubt.” ™ Cullen v, Pinholster, 563 VLS. 170, 181,
131 S.Cr. 1388, 179 L.LEd.2d 557 (201 1) (citations omitted)
(quoting Harrington v. Richter. 562 U.S. 86, 102, 131
S.Ct. 770. 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011), and Hoodford v.
Visciorti. 337 US. 19, 24, 123 S.Cu 357, 154 L.Ed.2d
279 (2002) (per curiam) ). For good reason: “Section
2254(d) retlects the view that habeas corpus is @ "guard
against extreme maltunctions in the state criminal justice
systems.” not o substitute for ordinary error correction
through appeal.”™ Riclhirer. 362 U.S. at 102-03, 131 S.Ct.
770 (quoung Jackson v. Virginia. 443 U.S. 307,332 n.5.99
S.CL 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979) (Stevens. J.. concurring
in the judgment) )z see also Wood v. Quarterman, 503 F.3d
408, 414 (3th Cir. 2007) ("W have repeatedly admonished
that we do not sit as a super state supreme court on
a habeas corpus proceeding to review error under state

law.” (citation omitted) ).

I1

The district court and both parties discuss Milam’s

first four claims together, so we do so. as well. Milam



Mitam v. Davis --- Fed.Appx. ---- {2018)
2018 WL 2171208

principally contends that trial counsel was inetfective
for presenting evidence regarding his drug use and
“drug induced psychosis™ at the ume of the crime.
but then failing properly (o seek a jury mstruction on
voluntary intoxication as mitigation at the punishment
phase. The other three claims grow out of claim one: he
argues that the trial court failed to include a requested
voluntary intoxication instruction. that appellate counsel
wus ineftectve for failing o raise the first two issues i a
motion for a new trial or on direct appeal. and that state
habeas counsel was inelfective for failing to raise any of

the previous three issues on collateral review.

[1] As the district court noted. Milam concedes that
he exhausted none of these claims. “As a rule. a state
prisoner’s habeas claims may not be entertained by a
federal court “when (1) a state court [has] declined to
address [those] claims because the prisoner had lailed
to meet a state procedural requirement. and (2) the
state judgment rests on independent and adequate state
procedural grounds.” ™ Maples v. Thomas. 365 1S, 206,
280, 132 S.Cu 9120 181 L.Ed.2d 807 (2012) (quoting
Walker v Martin, 362 U.S. 307,316, 131 S.CL 1120, 179
L.Ed.2d 62 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted) ).
But Milam argues that the Supreme Court’s decision in
Muartinez v Rvan. 566 U.S. 1. 132 S.C(. 1309, 182 L.Ed.2d
272(2012). permits him to raise them on federal habeas
review. [n Veartinez. the Court ~held that a petitioner may
establish cause to excuse a procedural default as to an
ineffective-assistance-ol-trial-counsel claim by showing
that (1) his state habeas counsel was constitutionally
deficient i failing to include the claim in his (irst state
habeas applicaton: and (2) the underlyving ineftective-
assistance-of-trial-counsel claim is “substantal.” ™ Reed
v Stephens. 739 F.3d 7530774 (3th Cir. 2014) (quoting
Martinez, 566 ULS. at 13-14. 132 S.CL 1309). A claim
15 substantial™ where the petitioner “demonstrate[s] that
the claim has some merit.” = but a claim s “insubstantial™
where the claim “does not have any merit”™ or is “wholly
without factual support.™ Martinez. 566 U.S. at [4. 16,132
S.C 13092 see also generally Trevino v, Thaler. 569 US.
4130133 S.Cu 19110185 L.Ed.2d 1044 (2013) (applving

Muartinez 1o the Texas procedural system).

[2] So for our purposes. as to Milam'’s [irst claim. we must
decide whether jurists of reason could debate whether
his mettective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim has some
merit. The clearly established tfederal lTaw  governing

inellective assistance claims is Strickland v Washington.

466 U.S. 668. 104 S.Ct. 2052. 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).
Under Strickland, a petitioner must first prove that
counsel’s performance was deficient: “[tJhe benchmark
for judging any claim on ineffectiveness must be whether
counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning
ol the adversarial process that the rial cannot be relied
on as having produced a just result.”™ Jd at 686. 104
S.Ct 2052 (emphasis added). Counsel should be “strongly
presumed o have rendered adequate assistance and made
all significant decisions 10 the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment.” and a petitioner cannot overcome
that presumption unless he shows that counsel failed to
act reasonabl[yv] considering all the circumstances.”™ Id. at
688, 690. 104 S.Ct. 2052, The petitioner must also prove
prejudice “that there 1s a reasonable probability that,
but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the
proceeding would have been different.” /. at 691.-92, 694,
104 S.Ct. 2052, A reasonable probability 1s a probability
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.™ id. at
694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, and “[t]he likelihood of a difterent
result must be substantial. not just conceivable.” Richrer.
SE2US at 112, 131 S.Cu 770, Review of the state court’s
decision on inelfective assistance 1s “doubly deferential™ -
the court “take[s] a “highly deferential” look at counsel’s
performance. through the “deferential lens of § 2234(d).”
Y Pinholster. 363 US. at 190, 131 S.Cu. 1388 (citation
omitted) (quoting Strickland. 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct.
20520 and Anowles v. Mirzavance, 556 US. 1110121 n.2.
123,129 S.Cu. 1411, 173 L.Ed.2d 251 (2009) ). We need
not evaluate both prongs of the test it a petitioner fails to
sausly either one. Srrickland. 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.CL.

2032,

*4  We agree with the district court that Milam has
failed to

counsel claim has any merit sufficient to overcome the

show that his eftective-assistance-of-trial-
Martinez hurdle. and thus. he has failed to make the
showing of debatability required for issuance of a COA.
The district court comprehensively detailed trial counsel’s
actions and appropriately concluded that those actions
did not fall below the standard set by Strickland. Trial
counsel filed a pretrial motion addressing Texas Penal
Code § 8.04-—which provides that “temporary msanity
caused by intoxication™ can be considered in mitigation
ol punishment—and informed the trial court that he
anticipated introducing evidence during the punishment
phase that Milam was voluntarily intoxicated at the tume

of the offense. Tral counsel asked for an instruction on
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voluntary intoxication. but the court carried the motion.
along with fourteen others. until a later date.

Then. during trial. trial counsel proffered several witnesses
o testily regarding Milam’s history of drug use and his
“drug induced psychosis™ on the night of the murder.
After the close of punishmentevidence. trial counsel stated
to the court. "You had carried a couple of motions that are
appropriate to have you rule on at this time.” and though
he did not specifically mention the motion seeking the
voluntary intoxication instruction. he mentioned a motion
regarding Milam’s mental age and also referenced “other
arguments made and set forth in our motion that vou
carried.” The trial court denied the motion and did not
give the instruction.

Despite this dental, one of Milam’'s trial attornevs. during
closing argument. sull urged the jury to consider the

voluntary intoxication evidence as mitigating. Counsel

mentoned  the experts” testimony on the effects of

methamphetamine, one expert’s opinton that the facts of

the erime were “insamty.” and argued that there were
mitigating circumstances which would justify imposition
ol a life sentence rather than death. Milam’s other trial
attorney argued that Milam was prone to drug addiction
because of family history ol addiction and told the
Jury. “You know. we talk about intoxication or drug
use 1s not a defense to the ultimate crime [sic]. Tt s
a defense in mitigation to whether or not vou should
kill somebody for what happened.”™ During punishment-
stage jury instructions, the court mstructed the jurors
to “consider mitigating evidence (o be evidence that a
quror might regard as reducing the defendant’s moral
blameworthiness.” And the jury was asked in Special Issue
Number Four whether “there is a sufficient mitigating
circumstance or circumstances to warrant a sentence of life

imprisonment rather than a death sentence be imposed.”

The district court concluded. based on this record. that
“[e]ounsel’s representation cannot be viewed as ineftective
simply  because the trial court denied the motion.”
“counsel appropriately pursued this issuc and presented it
to the jury.” and “[c]Jounsel’s representation did not fall
below an objective standard of reasonableness.” We agree
with the district court’s conclusion and lind that Milam
has tailed to show it is debatable whether he satisties the
deficiency prong of Strickland. Milam faults his counscl
for.in essence. not explicitly bringing up again the motion

for a jury mstruction on voluntary intoxication. But

despite those specific words not being used. it cannot
be said that trial counsel did not emphasize repeatedly
that the jury consider voluntary intoxication evidence as
mitigation. We therefore find that Milam’s first claim
1s nsubstantial, does not satisly Martinez, and does not
warrant ¢ COA.

We also agree with the district court’s conclusions
regarding Milam’s claims  two  through four. As to
claim wwo. Martiez/ Trevino allows circumvention of a
procedural bar only for claims of effective assistance of
trial counsel. see, e.g.. Clark v. Davis. 850 F.3d 770. 780

81 (5th Cir. 2017). not & claim that the trial court erred
by failing to give a requested jury instruction. As to claim
three. the Supreme Court has held that Marrinez does not
extend to ineffective assistance of appellate counsel elaims.
Davila v. Davis. 582 U.S. =137 S.CL. 2058, 2065, 198
L.Ed.2d 603 (2017). And as to claim four. Marimez ~did
notalter our rule that ... [blecause appointment of counsel
on state habeas i1s not constitutionally required. any error
committed by an attorney in such a proceeding cannot be
constitutionally ineftectuive.” ™ I re Sepulvado, 707 F.3d
3500354 (5th Cir. 2013y (quoting Fuirman v. Anderson. 188
I .3d 635, 643 (3th Cir. 1999) (internal quotation marks
omitted) ); see also Martinez, 566 U.S. at 8, 132 S.Ct. 1309
(noting “the general rule that there is no constitutional
right to counsel in collateral proceedings™). Thus. no
standalone claim for ineffective assistance of state habeas
counscl is permitted under Martinez. Milam fails to show
an entitlement to a COA on any of these three claims.

v

*5 Inclaim five. Milam contends that the evidence at trial
was sufticient to demonstrate that he was intellectually
disabled. And in claim six. he argues that the evidence at
trial was sufficient to demonstrate that he was functioning
atsomewhere between an cight- and sixteen-year-old level,
so his death sentence contravenes the Supreme Court’s
holding in Roper v. Sinnnons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.CL
1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005), that persons below the age
of cighteen cannot be executed. On these bases. in both
claims. he argues that appellate counsel was inefTective for
not pursuing this claim on appeal, and that habeas counsel
was inelfective for not bringing a claim of meffective
assistance of appellate counsel. Milam concedes that these

claims arce also unexhausted.
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Both claims five and six fail in part for the same reasons
claims three and four. respectively. failed: Martine:
permits neither an inetfective assistance of appellate
counsel claim nor a standalone claim for meffecuve
assistance of state habeds counsel. See Davila. 137 S.Ct. at
2063 In re Sepulvado. 707 F.3d at 354, Reasonable jurists
could not debate these findings.

Milam could theoretically bring claim five under Martine:
i he could show. as a threshold matter. a substanual
clamm that s trial counsel was meffective on this issue.
But in hus appheation. he makes but a single reference to
trial counsel i his discussion of claim tive: “Trial counsel
lfailed 1o challenge the use of [one of the State expert’s
mtelligerce tests] and was thus ineffective.”™ This 1s not
cnough. See Unired States v. Demik. 489 F.2d 644, 646
(3th Cir. 2007) ("[Clonclusory allegations are insuflicient
Lo raise cognizable claims of ieftective assistance of
counsel.” (quoting Miller v. Johnson. 200 1-.3d 274, 282
(3th Cir. 2000y ) ).

And specifically as to claim six. the district court was also
correct that the question is closed m this circuit whether
exccuting a detendant with o developmental age below
eighteen violates the Constitution—it does not. See Unired
Stares v. Bernard. 762 F.3d 467,483 (5th Cir. 2014) (" The
Roper Court did not hold that the Eighth Amendment
prohibits a death sentence for an offender with a “mental
age’ of less than 18.7 (alterations removed) (quoting i re
Garner. 612 F.3d 3330333236 (6th Cir. 2010) ) ). Milam
has not established an entidement o a COA on cither of

these two claims.

Footnotes

*

Finallv. Milam faults the district court for failing to order
an evidentiary hearing on his habeas petition. A hearing is
required “[unless the motion and the tiles and records of
the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to
no rehel.” 28 ULS.CL8 2255(b). A district court’s decision
not o hold an evidentiary hearing is reviewed for abuse
ol discretion. Richards v. Quarterman. 366 F.3d 553,362
(3th Cir. 2009). A trial court abuses its discretion when
its ruling is based on an erroncous view of the law or
a clearly erroncous assessment ol the evidence.™ Unired
Stares v, Murra, 879 F.3d 669, 678 (3th Cir. 2018) (quoting
Brovww v. 1l Cent. RR Co.. 705 F.2d 331, 535 (5th Cir.
2013) ). In hight of the toregoimg discussion, we conclude
that reasonable jurists could not disagree with the district
court’s decision not o sua sponte order an evidentiary

hearing. No COA on this issuc is warranted.

We conclude that reasonable jurists could not disagree
with the district courts disposition of any of Petitioner’s
Accordingly. we DENY in (ull

application for a certificate ol appealability.

claims. Petitioner’s

All Citations

--- Fed Appx. ----. 2018 WL 2171208

Pursuant to 5th Cir. R. 47.5, the court has determined that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent

except under the limited circumstances set forth in 5th Cir. R. 47.5.4.

o of Do
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MENMORANDUM OPINION
AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL

Ron Clark, United States District Judee

*1 Petitioner Blame Keith Milam. a death row mmate
confined in the Texas prison system. filed the above-
styled and numbered petition Tor a writ ol habeas corpus
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254, He s challenging his capitul
murder conviction and death sentence imposed by the 4th
Judicial District Court of Rusk County. Texas, in Cause
Number CRO9-066. 1 a case styled the Srare of Texas
v Bluine Keith Milam. The court (inds that Mr. Milam's

petiion should be denied. :

1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

On May 27.2010. Mr. Milam was convicted of the capital
murder of thirteen-month-old Amora Bain Carson. in
violation ot Tex. Penal Code § 19.03a)&). The Texas
Court of Crimmal Appeals ("TCCA™) affirmed the
convicuon and death sentence. Milam v, Siuie. No.
AP-76379. 2012 WL 1868438 (Tex. Crim. App. May 23,
2012) tunpubhished). The mandate was issued on June 19,
2012, He did not file a petition for a writ of certiorari.

Mr. Milam tiled an application tor a writ of habeas corpus
m State court on May 21, 2012, On March 18, 2013, the
trial court adopted the State's proposed findings ol lact
and conclusions of Taw. A recommendation was made to
deny rehel. The TCCA subsequently denied relief based
on the trial court's findings and conclusions and on its
own review. Ly parte Milam. No. WR-79322-01. 2013
WL 4856200, at *I (Tex. Crim. App. Sept. 1. 2013)
(unpublished).

Mr. Milam began the present proceedings on September
20. 2013 He nled a skeletal petition on September 10,
2014, The final peution (Dkt. #14) was filed on October 9.
2014, The Director tiled an answer (Dkt. #22) on March
9. 2015 Mr. Milam did not tile a reply.

[I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND OF THE CASE

The opinion of the Texas Court of Crimunal Appeals

summarized the factual background of the case as tollows:
A. The State's Guilt—Stage Evidence.

AU 10:37 a.m. on December 2. 2008, [Mr. Milam| called
911, and the first thing he sard was. "My namc s Blaine
Milam. and my daughter. T just found her dead.”™ Rusk
County Patrol Sergeant Kevin Roy arrived at [Mr.
Milam's] trailer home outside Tatum twenty minutes
later. Two ambutances were alrcady there. EMTs were
standing m the doorway ot the master bedroom, where
[Mr. Milam] and Jesseca Carson were kneeling on the
Moor. Sgt. Rov saw “an mfant laving on the floor not
moving. not breathing. bruised. The buby was laying
on 1ts back. and the face of the baby was just one large
bruise.” He thought that the circular bruises he saw on
the child's body were caused by a Coke can. He did not
recognize them as human bite marks.

*2  After lead investigator Sergeant Amber Rogers
arrived. Sgt. Roy took [Mr. Milam] astde to talk while
Sgt. Rogers talked to Jesseca. [Mr. Milam] told Sgt. Roy
that he and Jesseca had left Amora alone in the trailer
and walked up the road to meet a man named Clark
who was goimg to clear some lund for him. They were
gone about an hour, and. when they came back, they
found “the baby in that condition.” [Mr. Milam] was
calm. collected. and cooperative. After the interviews.

Sgt. Roy read the paiv their Miranda rights. He told
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them that. when the crime-scence investigation was done,
they would be taken to the Sheritt's office for more

questioning and collection of their clothes.

Shortly thercalter, Kenny Ray. a Texas Ranger. arrived
and noticed Jesseca and [Mr. Milam] embracing. To
Ranger Ray. the two looked like “grieving parents.” not
suspects. Ranger Ray conducted an hour-long interview
with [Mr. Milam] n the [ront seat of his patrol car.
[Mr. Milam] told the ranger that authorities were "more
than welcome™ to search his car and home. [Mr. Milam]
dented involvement in Amora's death. He also gave
Ranger Ray names of possible suspects and said that
whoever did this should “be hung.™ In that recorded
mnterview, |Mr. Milam] explained that Jesseca was his
flancee and that Amora was Jesseca's child, but that

they both lived with himand he was “raising that baby.”

[Mr. Milum]| then told Ranger Ray the same story that
he had told Sgt. Roy. He added that. when he and
Jesseca gol home. they fTound Amora, not in her crib.
but in a hole in the floor in the bathroom that he was
remodeling. [Mr. Milam] said Awmora had a blood ring
around her mouth. and it looked like she had been
biting the insulatton.”™ She was still breathing, so they
called 911 [Mr. Milam] later told Ranger Ray that
Jesseca called 911 before they found Amora. and that

when they found her. she was dead.

Ranger Ruy's tone eventually became accusatory. He
told [Mr. Milam| that he knew he was Iying. that no onc
would believe his story. and that everyone would think
he had beat the baby because he was the only male m
the house. [Mr. Milam] again dented any involvement
i Antora's death and offered to take a polyeraph test.
Finallv. Ranger Ray told [Mr. Milam] that he was free
to go. meaning that he was free to get out of the patrol
car. but not to leave the scene. By then. Runger Ray

considered [Mr. Milam] a suspect.

The ranger also interviewed Jesseca. At first she “was
erying and acting very distraught.” but then there was
a pretty drasuc” change in her demeanor. She referred
to Amora as “that baby™ and told Ranger Ray an
“extremely bizarre story.”

The medical examiner gave Amora's cause of death as
homicidal violence. due to multiple blunt-force injuries
and possible strangulation. He detailed her injuries:
facial abrasions and bruises: twenty-four human bite

marks: bruises. scrapes. and abrasions from head (o

toe; bleeding underncath the scalp: extensive fracturing
to the back of the skull: bleeding between the brain
and the skull: a laceration to the brain tissue as well
as swelling. bleeding. and bruising: bleeding around the
optic nerves: bleeding in the eyes and around the jugular
vein: [ractures to the right arm and leg: eighteen rib
fractures: a tear to the liver: and extensive injury to the
genitals. There were no old injuries suggesting a pattern

ol abusc.

The investigation guickly poked holes m [Mr. Milam's]
story. Shane and Dwight Clark, of Clark Timber.
denied any mecting with [Mr. Milam| on December
2nd. Cryvstal Dopson. manager of the Insta-Cash Pawn
Shop in Henderson, said that, shortly after she opened
the shop on December 2nd. Jesseca and [Mr. Milam]
came 1n and pawned an electric chain saw and an air
impact tool. Surveillance video showed the two in the
pawn shop for about fifteen minutes. Surveillance video
from the Exxon in Henderson picked them up shortly
thereafter. Also. [Mr. Milam] had called his sister,
Teresa Shea. that morning before 9:30 a.m.. cryving and
saying that he had “found Amora dead.”™ Teresa told
him to call 911, but [Mr. Milum] did not do so until

10:37 a.m.

*3  On December [1th. investigators conducted a
second search of [Mr. Milam's] trailer and determined
that the south end of the trailer, rather than the
master bedroom. was probably the crime scene. They
tound blood-spatter stains, consistent with blunt force
trauma. near the south bedroom. Among the items
collected from the south bedroom were: blood-stained
bedding and baby clothes: blood-stained buby diapers
and wipes: a tube of Astroghde lubricant: and a pair of

jeans with blood stains on the lap. DNA testing later

showed that Amora's blood was on these ttems.

On December 13th. [Mr. Milam's] sister. Teresa. went to
see [Mr. Milam] in jail. That night. she told her aunt that
she “was needing o find a way to get back out to the
trailer in Tatum™ because “Blaine had told her that she
needed to go out there to the trailer to get some evidence
out from underneath of 1. The aunt called Sgt. Rogers
and told her that “she needed to get out to the tratler
immediately. that Teresa was wanting to go out there to
get some evidence out [rom underneath the trailer.”™

Sgt. Rogers immediately obtained a search warrant.

crawled under the trailer. and discovered a pipe wrench
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inside a clear plastic bag. The pipe wrench had been

shoved down “a hole n the floor of the master

bathroom.”™ Forensic analysis revealed components of

Astroglide on the pipe wrench. the diaper Amora had
been wearmg. and the diaper and wipes collected from
the south bedroom.

Dr. Robert Wilhams.  a

compared the bite marks found on Amora's body

forensic  odontologist,
with bite dentition models obtained from [Mr. Milam].
Jesscea. and [Mr. Milam's] brother Danny Milam. Dr.
Williams testified that. to a reasonable degree of dental
certamty.” [Mr. Milam's] dentition matched cight bite
marks on Amora. He could exclude Jesseca from all but

one of the bite marks. and he could exclude Danny from

they were planning (o move there. Ms. Taylor said that
there was a “drasuc change™ in Jesseca's demeanor.
She was “[w]eird. hollow ... [IJike empty.” Looking nto
her eves was “like looking into a dark space.” Jesseca
was not taking care of Amora and did not give her a
bath for the whole week. She had [Mr. Milam] change
Amora's diaper and feed her. Jesseca secemed in charge,
and when she told [Mr. Milam] to do something. he did
iIt. Ms. Tavlor was concerned that there was something
profound going on n Jesseca's lite and was worried

about her and her baby.

*4 A psychiatrist, Dr. Frank Murphy. testtied that he
was asked to offer an opinion in this case of the mental

state of Jesseca Carson for the tme period beginning

all of the bite marks. sometime around August of 2008 through December

2nd of 2008." Dr. Murphy read interviews with Jesseca
Shirley Broyles. the nurse at the Rusk County Jail.

testified that [Mr. Milam] called for her one day in

and other materials but did not talk 1o Jesseca, Dr.

Murphy said Jesseca's symptoms were consistent with
January. She found him crving in his cell. He handed

hera written request to talk to Sgt. Rogers. and told M.

Broyles: "T'm going to confess. T did it. But Ms. Shirley.

a “psyehotic depression . The depression oceurs first,
and then it gets severe enough that psychosis or loss

of touch with reality then occurs.... Psychosis means

the Blaine you know did not do this. My dad told me someone has lost touch with reality. The vast majority

s . . Ne been readine - Ri - e (e - . . .
to be a man. and ['ve been reading my Bible. Please tell of times. that means ecither they're hallucinating or
Jesseea T ove her they're delusional,

B. The Defense Guilt-Stage Evidence. The defense odontologist, Dr. Tsaac, studied five of the
o . . bite marks, and could not exclude either [Mr. Milam
[Mr. Milam's] defense focused on Jesseca as the [ ]
R . , or Jessecd.
murderer. The defense called Heather Carson. Jessecu's
mother. who said that Jesseca and [Mr. Milam] starting
d

o
a few months later. Jesscca moved in with [Mr,

Vilam. 2012 WL 1868458, at *1-4 (cmphasis n original)

S at ar . v 1R . . . N~ -
[sic] dating around January 2008 and got enga (foototes omitted). The TCCA specilically observed

that Mr. Milam did not chaltenge the sufliciency of

Milam] and his parents that spring. When Jesseca the evidence to support the guilty verdict nor the
turned cighteen. she received an insurance settlement determination that he was not intellectually disabled. I,
from her father's 2000 death. Heather noticed an 1 On the other hand. he chaltenged the sufficiency of
immediate change i Jesseca: she became withdrawn the evidence with respect o the “future-dangerousness”
and stopped caring about her appearance. Jessecd el issue. and the TCCA overruled the point of error.

started harassing Heather with telephone calls. When Id at *13-%14

Heather learned that Jesseca was making serious and
unfounded allegations against her. she stopped talking

y her
o et 1. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF
Lisa Taylor testified that Jesseca was her daughter's best
friend while growing up in Alabama. M. Tavlor knew VT Milam brings the following grounds for reliet:
Jessica as Tsweet. outgoing. outspoken. funny.” She
said that Jesseca. [Mr. Milam]. and Amora visited them

i Alabama twice in the full of 2008. First. they came

I, Trial counsel was ineffective in violatton of the
Sixth Amendment for presenting extensive testimony

. . . . i . about Mr. Milam's drug use and his “drug induced
for one night in October. Jesseca was making “bizarre . . . . .

, . psychosis™ at the ume of the erime. and then failing
accusetions about her mother. In November. the trio v . . . .
. R ) to allow the jury a vehicle (e ajury istruction) Lo
returned to Alabama lor about four days and said that ’ ’
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consider that testimony as mitigation of punishment.
as allowed by Texas Penal Code § 8.04. in violation

of the Eighth Amendment.

. The trial court erred in Tailing to include a requested
Jury instruction on voluntary  intoxication when
it was clearly warranted by testimony extensively
developed by the Defense, and wrial counsel was
meflective for not insisting on the instruction. in

either form.

Appellate counsel was mettective i violation of

the Sixth Amendment for fatling 1o rawse in the
Mouon for New Trial and Direct Appeal the
Failure of trial counsel to nclude a requested jury
imstruction. and the wrial court's Tailure o mclude
a jury instruction when it had been requested. on
voluntary mtoxication as a vehicle of mitigation

consideration by the jury.

. State habeas counsel was ineflective for failing to
allege in the State application for writ of habeas
corpus that 1) trial counscl was meftective tor failing
Lo tnsist on a voluntary intoxication mstruction
when the Defense was the one that developed the
testimony., 2) the trial court erred in failing o provide
a requested voluntary intoxication instruction in
violation of the Eighth Amendment. and 3) appellate
counsel was incltective tor failing to allege the
voluntary intoxicaton issuc in the moton for new

trial and on direct appeal.

. A) The evidence was sutTicient by the preponderance
standard to demonstrate that Mr. Milam was, and
is. intellectually disabled and thus both appellate and

habeas counsel were metfective for not asserting this

claim lor State review and exhaustion. in violation ol

the Sixth Amendment.

B) The evidence was sufticient to demonstrate that
Mr. Milam was functioning at somewhere between an
8 1o 16 year old emotional level. Thus. his sentence
of death violates the Supreme Court's mandate that
persons betow the age of 18 shall not be executed.
See Roper vo Simmons. 543 U.S. 351 125 S.CL
1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2003). Appellate counsel was
ineffective for not pursuing this claim once it had
been established via a ruling by the wrial court.
Habeas counsel was inetfective tor not asserting that
appellate counsel was melfective in exhausting this
clamuin violatton of the Sixth Amendment.

1

*§ 6. Trial counsel rendered ineflective assistance
ol counsel in violation of the Sixth and Eighth
Amendments by not relying upon the proper hearsay
exeeption in o attempting to have admitted  the

statement ol the co-defendant.

CAppellate counsel rendered meflective assistance of
counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment of the
United States Constitution by failing to raise on
direct appeal the trial court's refusal to admit co-

detendant Jesseca Carson's statement.

8. Trial counsel rendered inellective assistance ol

counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment by
failing 1o object to specific instances of violence
introduced by the prosceution regarding violence
i the Texas prison system, The failure to object
violates Mr. Milam's right to the Eighth Amendment
requirement ol individualized sentencing.

9. Trial counsel rendered inetfective assistance of

counsel i violation of the Sixth Amendment by
latling to properly cross-examine Bryan Perkins in
regards Lo bias in favor of Jesseca Carson. the co-
defendant of Mr. Milam.

10. The tnal court erred in denying Mr. Milam's Batson

v. Kennieky challenge to juror Jobess Shaw. after the
trial court was made aware of the racial animus of
the prosecutor in calling Ms. Shaw “an angry Black
woman’ i violation of equal protection and due
process under the Fourteenth Amendment.

11. The trial court erred i granting the State's challenge

for cause of Juror Trzeciak. in violation of the Sixth
and Fourteenth Amendments.

12, The wrial court erred m allowing the State o

comment upon Mr. Milam's failure o discuss the
facts ol the offense with the State's expert in
violation ot his previous order and Mr, Milam's Fitth

Amendment right to remain silent.

[3. The State knowingly created a false mpression
that Mr. Milam refused to speak about the facts
of the offense to the State's and Detense's experts
on advice of counsel. in violation of the Fourteenth
Amendment.

[4. Prosecutorial misconduct in the sentencing-phase
summation denied Mr. Milam his fundamental rights
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to a fair trial and his right to a reliable sentencing

determination.

15, The Texas death penalty scheme violated Mr.
Milam's rights against cruel and unusual punishment
and duc process of law under the Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendments by requiring at least ten
o’ votes for the Jury o return a4 negatve answer (o

the punishment issues.

16. The trial court committed constitutional crror by
charging the jurors that they had discretion to decide

whether a circumstance was mitigating.

17. The Texas death penalty scheme violates Mr.
Milam's right against cruel and unusual punishment.
right to an impartial jury, and right to due process
of Taw under the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments because of vague and undefined terms
i the jury instructions at the punishment phasc
of the trial that effectively determine the difference
between a life sentence and the imposition of the

death penalty.

18. Texas prosecutors' unfettered, standardless. and
unreviewable discretion violates equal protection,
due process. and the Eighth Amendment.

9. The Texus death penalty scheme violates due
process of the Fourteenth Amendment because the
punishment special issue related to mitigation fails to
require the State to prove the absence of sutticient
mitigating circumstances bevond a reasonable doubt.

contrary to Apprendi and its progeny.

*6 20. The trial court erred by admitting the irrelevant
and prejudicial evidence of Mr. Milam's father's
racial prejudice in the punishment phase of the trial.
i violation of equal protection. right to a fair trial.
and due process. Additionally. because trial counsel
and appellate counsel failed o set out the proper
constitutional construct for this claim. and the State
habeas counsel failed to bring this claim on direct
collateral review in the State court, this claim should
be considered pursuant to Martine=.

21, The cumulative effect of the above-enumerated
Constitutional violations denied Mr. Milam due
process of law in violation of the Fifth and

Fourteenth Amendments.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The role of federal courts in reviewing habeas corpus
petitions by prisoners in State custody is exceedingly
narrow. A person seeking federal habeas corpus review
must assert a violation of a federal constitutional right.
Collins. 988 FF.2d 1364, 1367 (Sth Cir. 1993).
tederal habeas corpus relief will not issue to correct

Lowery v

crrors of State constitutional, statutory. or procedural
law. unless a federal issue is also present. Esrelle v
McGuire. 502 US. 62, 67-68. 112 S.Ct. 475, 480. 116
L.Ed.2d 385 (1991): West v, Johnson. 92 F.3d 1385, 1404
(5th Cir. 1996), cert. denied. S20U.8. 1242117 S.CL 1847,
137 L.Ed.2d 1050 (1997). In the course of reviewing State
procecedings. a tederal court does “not sit as a super state
supreme court on a habeas corpus proceeding 1o review
error under state law.” I ood v. Quarterman. 503 1-.3d 408.
414 (5th Cir. 2007). cert. denied. 552 U.S. 1314, 128 S.CL.
1874. 170 L.Ed.2d 752 (2008) (quoting Porier v. Estelle.
709 F.2d 944, 957 (5th Cir. 1983). cert. denied. 466 U.S.,
984, 104 S.C1. 2367, 80 L.1:d.2d 838 (1984)).

The petition was filed 1n 2014; thus. review i1s governed
by the Antiterrorism und Effective Death Penalty Act
("AEDPA™). See Lindh v, Murply, 521 U.S. 320, 326-29,
117 S.Ct. 2059, 2063- 64, 138 L.Ed.2d 481 (1997). Under
AEDPA. a petitioner who is in custody “pursuant to the

judgment of a State court” is not entitled to federal habeas

corpus relief

with respect to any claim that was adjudicated on
the merits in State court proceedings unless  the

adjudication of the claim--

(1) resulted in a decision that was contrary to. or
involved an unreasonable application of. clearly
determined by the

established  federal law, as

Supreme Court of the United States: or

(2) resulted in a decision that was based on an
unrcasonable determination of the facts in hght of the
evidence presented i the State court proceedings.

28 US.C. § 2254d). "By
relitigation of any claim “adjudicated on the merits' in

its terms § 2234(d) bars

state court. subject only to the exceptions in §§ 2254(d)(1)
and (d)2)." Harringron v. Richier. S62 U.S. 86, 98. 131
S.Ct. 770. 784. 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011). AEDPA imposes

a “highly deferential standard for evaluating state-court
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rulings. and demands that state-court decisions be given
the benefit of the doubt.™ Renico v. Lert. 339 1S, 7606.
773,130 S.C 18551862, 176 L.EJ.2d 678 (2010) (citation
and mternal quotation marks omitted). With respeet to
the first provision. a “state court decision is “contrary to’
clearly established federal law 117 ( 1) the State court "applies
a rule that contradicts the goverming law™ announced in

Supreme Court cases. or (2) the State court decides a

case ditferently than the Supreme Court did on a set off

materially indistinguishable facts.™ Nelson v Quarterman.
472 F.3d 287, 292 (3th Cir. 2006) (en banc) (quoting
Mitchell v Esparza. 340 US. 1215 16,124 S.CL 7. 10,
137 L.Ed.2d 263 (2003)). cert. denied. S3TUS. 1141127
S.Cu 29740 168 L.EA.2d 719 (2007). "[Rleview under §
2254(d)(h s imited to the record that was before the
state court that adjudicated the claim on the merits.”™
Cullen v, Pinholsier, 363 US. 170, 181, 131 S.Ct. 1388,
398. 179 L.Ed.2d 337 (2011). As such. “evidence later
introduced m federal court is trrelevant.”™ £l at 184, 131
S.Cu at 1400, "The same rule necessarily applies 1o a
federal court's review ol purely factual determinations
under § 2254d)2). as all nine Justices acknowledged.™
Blie v. Thaler. 665 F.3d 647. 636 (3th Cir. 201 1) (tootnote
omitted). cert. denied. 368 US. 828, 133 S.Ct. 105, 184
L.Ed.2d 49 (2012). With respect to § 2234(d)}2). a Texas
court’s factual Imdings are presumed to be sound unless
a4 petitioner rebuts the “presumption of correctness by

clear and convineing evidence.”™ Miller-El v Dretke. 3435

(.S, 231, 240, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 2325, 162 L.Ed.2d 196
(2005) (citing § 2254¢¢)(1)). “The standard is demanding
but not insatiable: .. [d]eference does not by definition
preclude relicl.” Id (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted) (quotimg Miller-El v. Cockrell, 337 U.S. 322,
340, 1223 S.CL 1029, 1041, 154 LLEd.2d 931 (2003)). More
recently. the Supreme Court held that a “state court's
determination that a claim lacks merit precludes federal
habcas reliet so Tong as “furrminded jurists could disagree’
on the correctness ol the state court's decision.” Richier,
562 U.S. at 101, 131 S.Ct. at 786 (quoung Yarborough v.
Aharado. 341 ULS. 632, 664, 124 S.Ct. 2140, 2149, 158
L.Ed.2d 938 (2004)). The Supreme Court has explained
that the provisions of AEDPA "modificd a federal habeas
court’s role m reviewing state prisoner applications in
order to prevent federal habeas retrials' and to ensure
that state-court convictions are given effect to the extent
possible under law.”™ Bell v. Cone. 535 U.S. 685, 693,122
S.CUL IS4 1849, 132 L.Ed.2d 914 (2002). Federal habeas
corpus reliet 1s not available just because a State court
decision may have been incorrect: instead. a petitioner
must show that a State court decision wus unreasonable.
Fd o at 694,122 S.Ct. at 1830,

V. DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Claim Number 1:

Claim Number 2:

Claim Number 3:

Trial counsel was ineffective in violation of
the Sixth Amendment for presenting extensive
testimony about Mr. Milam's drug use and

his “drug induced psychosis” at the time of
the crime, and then failing to allow the jury

a vehicle (i.e.; a jury instruction) to consider
that testimony as mitigation of punishment, as
allowed by Texas Penal Code § 8.04, in violation
of the Eighth Amendment

The trial court erred in failing to include

a requested jury instruction on voluntary
intoxication when it was clearly warranted

by testimony extensively developed by the
Defense, and trial counsel was ineffective for
not insisting on the instruction, in either form

Appellate counsel was ineffective in violation
of the Sixth Amendment for failing to raise in
the Motion for New Trial and Direct Appeal the
failure of trial counsel to include a requested
jury instruction, and the trial court's failure

to include a jury instruction when it had been
requested, on voluntary intoxication as a
vehicle of mitigation consideration by the jury
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Claim Number 4.

State habeas counsel was ineffective for

failing to allege in the State application for
writ of habeas corpus that 1) trial counsel was
ineffective for failing to insist on a voluntary
intoxication instruction when the Defense was
the one that developed the testimony, 2) the
trial court erred in failing to provide a requested
voluntary intoxication instruction in violation
of the Eighth Amendment, and 3) appellate
counsel was ineffective for failing to allege the
voluntary intoxication issue in the motion for
new trial and on direct appeal

*7 The first four claims are related. Mr. Milam argues
that trial counsel was constitutionally ineflective for
presenting extensive evidence regarding his drug use and
“drug induced psychosis™ at the time of the erime. but he
then failed to provide the jury with a vehicle to consider
the testimony as mitigation. as allowed by Texas Penal
Code ¥ 8.04. In claims 2. 3. and 4. he relatedly complains
that the wrial court erred in [ailing to include a requested
voluntary intoxication struction: that appellate counsel
was ineffective for failing to raisc these issues ina motion
for new trial or on direct appeal: and that State habeas
counsel was meftective for fatling to raise all three claims
on collateral review. He acknowledges that none ol these
claims are exhausted. but he argues that the claims may be
considered at this juncture in light of the Supreme Court's
deeision in Martinez v. Rran. 366 U.S, 1. 132 S.Ct. 1309.
182 L.Ed.2d 272 (2012).

The Director responded by arguing that the claims are
unexhausted and procedurally barred. He further argues
that norie of the proposed cluims ure substantial, as
required by Marrine:z,

Incttective assistance of counsel claims are governed by
the Supreme Court's standard established i Strickiland v.
Washingron. 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.C1. 2032, 80 L. Ed.2d 674
(1984). Strickland provides a two-pronged stundard. and
the petitioner bears the burden ol proving both prongs. /d.
at 687. 104 S.Ct. at 2064,

*8 Under the first prong. he must show that counsel's
performance was deficient. fdo To establish deficient
performance. he must show that “counsel's representation
fell below an objective standard ol reasonableness,”
with reasonableness judged under professtonal norms
prevailing at the ume counsel rendered assistance. fd
at 688. 104 S.Ct. at 2064, The standard requires the

reviewing court to give great deference to counsel's

performance.  strongly  presuming  counsel  exercised
reasonable professional judgment. 1. at 689. 104 S.Ct at

2065,

Under the second prong. the petitioner must show that his
attorney's deficient performance resulted in prejudice. fd.
at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064, To sausty the prejudice prong.
the habeas petitioner "must show that there is a reasonable
probability that. but for counsel's unprofessional errors,
the result of the proceeding would have been different.
A reasonable probability 1s a probability sullicient to
undermine conlidence in the outcome.”™ I at 694, 104
S.Ct. at 2068, An inetfective assistance of counsel claim
fails it a petitioner cannot satisfy either the deficient
pertormance or prejudice prong: a court need not evaluate
both i he makes an insufTicient showing as to cither. fd.
at 697, 104 S.Ct. at 2069.

The fatlure of Mr. Milam to present the first four grounds
tfor relief to the TCCA raises exhaustion problems. State
prisoners bringing petitions for a writ of habeas corpus are
required to exhaust their State remedies before proceeding
to federal court unless “there is an absence of available
State corrective process™ or “eircumstances exist that
render such process inelfective to protect the rights of the
applicant.” 28 1.S.C. § 2254(b)(1). Tn order to exhaust
properly, a State prisoner must “fairly present™ all of his
claims to the State court. Picard v. Connor. 404 U.S. 270,
275,92 S.CL 509,512, 30 L.Ed.2d 438 (1971).

In Texas. all claims must be presented to, and ruled on the
merits by. the TCCA. Richardson v. Procunier. 762 F.2d
429, 432 (5th Cir. 1985). When a petition includes claims
that have been exhausted along with claims that have not
been exhausted. itis called a nuxed petition.”™ See Galtieri
v Wannveight, 582 F.2d 348, 355 (5th Cir. 1978) (en banc).
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Historically federal courts in Texas have dismissed the

enure petition for failure to exhaust. See. ¢.g.. Id

The exhaustion requirement, however. was profoundly
affected by the procedural default doctrine that was
announced by the Court in Coleman v
Thompson. 301 US. 722111 S.Ct. 2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640

(1991). The Court explained the doctrine as follows:

Supreme

In all

prisoner has defaulted his federal

cases o owhich a  state

claims in state court  pursuant
to an independent and adequate
state procedural rule, federal habeas
review of the claims is barred unless
the prisoner can demonstrate cause
for the default and actual prejudice
as i result of the alleged violation
of federal Taw. or demonstrate that
fatlure to consider the claims will
result in a fundamental miscarriage

of justice.

T at 7300 111 S, Coat 25650 As a result of Coleman.
unexhausted claims in a mixed petition are now dismissed
as procedurally barred. Fearance v. Scorr. 56 F 3d 633,642
(3th Cir. 1993), cert. denied . S1SUS, T3 115S.CL 2603,
132 L.Ed.2d 847 (1993): sce also Finlev v. Johnson. 243
F.3d 215,220 (5th Cir. 2001). Such unexhausted claims
would be procedurally barred because i a petitioner
attempted to exhaust them in State courts they would be
barred by Texas abusc-of-the-writ rules. Fearance. 36 1.3d
at 642,

*9  The procedural bar contained in Texas Code
ol Criminal Procedure Article 11.071. Scction 3. as
interpreted by the TCCA. 1s an adequate State ground
for finding procedural bars. Iharra v. Thaler. 691 F 3d
677. 684 -85 (5th Cir. 2012). abrogaied in part by Trevino
v. Thaler, UsS - 33 S.CL 1911 185 LEd.2d
1044 (2003): Balentine v. Thaler. 626 F.3d 842, 836-37
(3th Cir. 2010} cert. denied. 364 U.S. 1006, 131 S.Cu
29920180 L.Ed.2d 824 (201 1). The procedural bar may be
overcome by demonstrating either cause and prejudice tor
the default or that a fundamental miscarriage ot justice
would result from the court's refusal to consider the claim.
Coleman. 501 ULS at 750 51,111 S.CLoat 2365; see also
Fearance. 56 F.3d at 642,

Unul just recently, Mr. Milam's first four claims would
have unquestionably been foreclosed as unexhausted and
procedurally barred based on Article 11.071, Scction 3.
However. in Martinez. the Supreme Court opened the
doorshghtly mnanswering a question left open in Colemuan:
“whether a prisoner has a right to effective counsel in
collateral proceedings which provide the first occasion to
raise a claim of ineffective assistance at trial.”™ Martinez.
366 US at 8. 132 S.Crat 1315 (eiting Coleman. 501 ULS.
AU 735111 S.Cuoat 2367). The Court i Martines held:

Where. under state law. claims of
meftective assistance of trial counsel
must be raised moan inttial-review
collateral proceeding, a procedural
default will not bar a federal habeas
court from hearing a substantial
claim ol ineffective assistance  at
trial if. in the initial-review collateral
proceeding. there was no counsel
or counsel in that proceeding was

imefiective.

I at 17,132 S Cuoat 1320, The Supreme Court specitied
that the standards of Strick fand apply in assessing whether
initial-review habeas counsel was ineffective. Id at 14,132
S.Cuat 1318,

The Supreme Court extended Mariinez 1o Texas cases
Thaler. - U.S. ———_ 133 S.Ct. 1911,
185 L.Ed.2d 1044 (2013). Although Texas does not

preclude appellants from raising meffective assistance

m Trevino v

of wrial counsel claims on direct appeal. the Court
held that the rule in Marrinez applies because “the
Texas procedural system- —as ¢ matter of 1ts structure.
design. and operation does not offer most defendants a
meaningful opportunity to present a claim of incttective
assistance of trial counsel on direct appeal.™ I at 1921,
The Court left 1t to the Tower courts o determine on
remand whether Trevino's claim of ineltective assistance
of counsel was substantial and whether his intal State

habeas attorney was ineflective. /d.

The  Fifth

application of the rule announced in Martinez and Trevino

Circuit  subsequently  summarized  the

as follows:

To succeed n establishing cause to excuse the
procedural default of his inctfective assistance of trial

counsel claims. [petitioner] must show that (1) his
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underlying claims of ineffective assistance  of  trial
counsel are “substantial.” meaning that he “must

demonstrate that the clamm|s] ha

vel some merit,”
Muartinez. 132 S.CUoat 1318 and (2) his imital state
habeas counsel was melTective m failing 1o present those
claims in his st state habeas application. See id.:
Trevino, 133 S.Ct o at 1921,

Prevor vo Siepliens. 337 Fed Appx. 412, 421 (3th Cir.
2013). cerr. denied. - ULS. —— 134 S.Ct. 2821, 189
L.Ed.2d 788 (2014). “Conversely. the petitioner's failure
to establish the deticieney of cither attorney precludes a
finding of cause and prejudice.™ Sells v. Stephens. 336
Fed. Appx. 483,492 (5th Cir. 2013). cert. denied. — U S,

13 S.Cu 17860 188 1.Ed.2d 612 (2014). The Fifth
Circutt subsequently reaffirmed this basic approach in
Reed vo Siephens, 739 F.3d 753 774 (5th Cir. 2014, cert.
denied, = US. —— 135 S.CL 433, 190 L.Ed.2d 327
(2014). The court will apply this analysis to cach of the

first four claims m turn.

10 In the First Claim Mr. Milam asserts that trial
counsel was neffective for presenting testimony about
drug use and “drug induced psychosis™ but then lailing
to provide a jury instruction on the issue. However.
Mr. Milam's counsel filed a pre-trial motion addressing
Section 8.04 of the Texas Penal Code. 1 CR 116 17, The
provisions of Section 8.04 concern the role of voluntan
intoxication i criminal proceedings. Counsel advised
the trial court that they anticipated there would be

cvidence during the punishment phase of the trial that

Mr. Milam was voluntarily intoxicated at the time of

the oftense. /o They observed that Section 8.04 provides
that “temporary insanity caused by intoxication™ may be
considered in mutigation ot punishment. Id.: see Javies
1o Stare. 673 SSW.2d 1980 202 (Tex. Crim. App. 1984)

("[W]hen evidence came in which might have led the jury

to believe that appeliant was intoxicated at the time of

the offense It was proper for the court to instruct
the jury on the appropriate faw."). overruled on otlier
grounds. Chauncey v State. 877 SCW .2d 305 (Tex. Crim.
App. 1994). Trial counsel thus asked Tor un mstruction on
volumtary intoxication. The trial court carried the motion,
as well as fourteen other defense motions. unti) a later
date. 2 CR 433 60,

During the trial. detense counsel repeatedly introduced

Mr. Milam's history of drug use and. on the night of

his crime. his “drug induced psychosis™ through Dr.
Rosen, Dr. Lundberg-Love. Dr. Cunningham. and family

members. See 36 RR 532 34 (summarizing testimony).
Mr. Milam stresses that their testimony was submitted
for the purpose of supporting a charge of voluntary
mtoxication m mitigation of punishment. Mr. Milam
argues that despite having spent so much time and effort
introducing this testimony. his attorneys lailed to re-assert
their request to have a voluntary intoxication instruction
be given to the jury at pumishment. He argues that his trial
counsel was ineftective for failing to ask the wrial court
1o give the jury a voluntary intoxication mstruction in

mitigation ol punishment as provided by Section 8.04.

But. counsel did re-assert the issue. Following the close ol
cvidence. counsel reminded the trial court of the carried
motions. 35 RR 286-87. He specifically mentioned one of
the motions concerning Mr. Milam's mental age. /d. at
In6. 92 S.CL 309, 3120 While not specifically mentioning
the request for a voluntary mtoxication instruction.
counsel cited the “other arguments made and set forth in
our motion that vou carried.”™ /d. at 287, The trial court
denied the motion. Id. The trial court's punishment charge
did not give any instruction whatsoever on voluntary

mtoxication.

Nevertheless. during closing arguments. trial counsel
urged the jury to consider Mr. Milam's voluntary
mtoxication evidence as mitigating. Trial counsel Hagen
reminded the jury about the experts' testimony on the
cftfects of methamphetamime. 36 RR 32-57. He referred
o Dr. Lundberg-Love's opimion that the facts of this
crime were “insanity.” fdoat 840 112 S.Cu 4750 480. He
then argued that there were “mitigating circumstances
that warrant the imposition of life in this case instead
of death.” /d. Co-counscel Jackson discussed Mr. Milam's
voluntary drug use as @ mitigating tactor. suggesting that
he was prone to drug addiction becuuse of @ family history
ol addiction. /d. at 98 99. 131 S.Cu. 770. 784, Jackson
summed up the proper way to consider Mr. Milam's
voluntary intoxication as follows: “You know. we talk
about mtoxication or drug use is not a defense to the
ultimate crime. It s a defense in mitigation to whether or
not vou should kill somebody for what happened.™ /. at
99. 131 S.Ct. 770. 784.

[n the jury charge during the punishment phase of
the trial. the court mstructed the jurors that “you
shall consider mitigating cvidence to be evidence that
a jquror might regard as reducing the defendant's moral

blameworthiness.” 4 CR 982, The jury wus then asked n
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Spectal Issue Number Four whether “there is a sutficient
mitigating circumstance or circumstances to warrant a
sentence of life imprisomment ruther than a death sentence
be imposed.” I at Y88, Even though the jury charge
did not specifically provide a voluntary intoxication
instruction, the court gave a global mstruction that
provided a vehicle for the jury to consider voluntary

INLOXICAtion as a Mitiguling circmstance.

*11 The record demonstrates that counsel filed a motion
requesting a voluntury intosication mstruction during the
punishment phase ot the trial in accordance with Section
8.04. He asked the trial court to rule on that motion at
the concluston of the punishment phase of the trial. The
trial court acted on that request and denied the mouon.
Counscl's representation cannot be viewed as ineftective
simply because the trial court denied the motion. And.
mn spite of the trial court’s denial ol the instruction.
counsel strenuously argued in closing that the jury should
and could constder evidence of voluntary intoxication
as a mitigating circumstance. Trial counsel appropriately
pursued this tssue und presented it to the jury. Counsel's
representation did not fall below an objective stundard
of reasonableness. Mr. Milam has not shown that trial

counsel's representation was deficient or that he was

prejudiced by deficient representation on the part of

counsel. In the context of Martinez and Trevino, Mr.
Milam has not shown underlying claims ot ineffective
assistance of trial counsel that are substantial to overcome
the procedural default. Consequently. Mr. Milam's first
clamm is unexhausted and procedurally barred. The claim
is not saved by Martinez and Trevino.

Claim Number 2 is a variatton on Claim Number [
Mr. Milam argues in shghtly difterent language that the
trtal court erred i taling to mclude a requested Juny
mstruction on voluntary intoxication. He also cluims
that trial counsel was ineffective for failing 1o insist on
the mstruction. Once again. Mr. Milam acknowledges
that he did not exhaust the elaim. but he argues that 1t
may be considered in hight of Martinez. However. the
rule in Martinez and Trevino only applhes to meffective
assistance of counsel cluims involving both trial and
mmtial - State habeas counsel. The Fifth Circurt has
refused to extend the rule. Iikins v, Stephens. 360
FFed. Appx. 299, 306 n44 (Sth Cir. 2014) (claimm about
trial court's issuance of supplemental jury mstructions
without notitving petitioner or his counsel, or reconvening

the court. “does not full within the scope ol Martine:

or Trevino and is theretore procedurally barred™), cert.
denicd. U.S. 135 S.Ce 1397, 191 L.Ed.2d
339 2015): Tharra. 687 F.2Ad at 224 ("Marinez. by
its terms. applies only 1o inellective-assistance-of-trial-
counsel claims™).
by Trevino. 133 S.CLoat 1915 Tubler v. Stephens. 388
Fed.Appx. 297, 306 (Sth Cir. 2014) (" Martinez does

not provide a vehicle o set aside procedural default of

abrogated in part on other grounds

any constitutional claim, but only preserves ineffective-
assistance-ol-trial-counsel challenges forfeited because of
ineftective assistance of habeas counsel.™). vacated in part
on other grounds. Tabler v Stephens. 591 Fed. Appx. 28]
(3th Cir. 2013). The rule does not extend to claims of trial
crror by the court. Mr. Milam's second claim does not fall
within the scope of Martinez or Trevino: thus, the claim

must be rejected as unexhausted and procedurally barred.

[n Claim Number 3. Mr. Milum presents Clatms | and 2 in
terms of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Once
again, the claim is unexhausted. Mr. Milam relies on a
Ninth Circuit case in arguing that the Martinez exception
should extend to mettective assistance ot appellate counsel
claims. Tla Van Nguven v. Curry. 736 F.3d 1287, 1296
(9th Cir. 201 3). The Supreme Court hus declined to extend
Martmez inefTective assistance of appellate counsel claims.
Davila v. Davis. S, - -, 137 S.Cu 2058, 198
L.Ed.2d 603 (2017). Claim Number 3 does not tall within
the scope of Martinez or Trevino: it must be rejected as

unexhausted and procedurally barred.

[n Claim Number 4. Mr. Milam presents Claims 1. 2, and
3 Lerms ol a stand-alone claim ol inelTective assistancee
of State habeas counsel. However. “the inctfectiveness
or incompetence of counsel during Federal or State
collateral post-conviction proceedings shall not be a
ground for reliel.”™ Marnnez. 566 U.S. at 17, 132 S.CL.
at 1320 (quouing 28 U.S.C. § 2254(1)). The Filth Circuit
has specifically rejected stand-alone claims of meffective
assistance ol State habeas counsel. Reed. 739 F.3d at
T80 n AR (eiing Sepulvado. 707 F.3d at 354-35 & n.8).
Instead. as has been explained by the Fifth Circuit,
Murtinez and Trevino require a showtng of both ineffective
assistance ol trial counsel and mitiul State habeas counsel.

Prevor, 537

Fed. Appx. at 421. A petitioner's “lailure o
establish the deliciency ol either attorney precludes a
finding of cause and prejudice.”™ Sells, 536 Fed Appx. at
492 Mr. Milam's lailure to show a deticieney i trial
counsel's representation on this matter precludes a finding

of cause and prejudice with respect to claim number four.
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Claim Number 4 must be rejected as unexhausted and
procedurally barred.

Claim Number 5;

12 Mr. Milam's first tour claims must be denied as
uncxhausted and procedurally barred. The claims are not

saved by the rule announced in Martinez and Trevino.,

A) The evidence was sufficient by the

preponderance standard to demonstrate that
Mr. Milam was, and is, intellectually disabled
and thus both appellate and habeas counsel
were ineffective for not asserting this claim for
State review and exhaustion, in violation of the
Sixth Amendment.

B) The evidence was sufficient to demonstrate
that Mr. Milam was functioning at somewhere
between an 8 to 16 year old emotional level.
Thus, his sentence of death violates the
Supreme Court's mandate that persons

below the age of 18 shall not be executed.

See Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125

S. Ct. 1183 (2005). Appellate counsel was
ineffective for not pursuing this claim once it
had been established via a ruling by the trial
court. Habeas counsel was ineffective for not
asserting that appellate counsel was ineffective
in exhausting this claim in violation of the Sixth
Amendment.

Claim Number 5 is another unexhausted claim. Mr.
Milam argues in part A of Claim Number 5 that the
cvidence at trial was sufticient to demonstrate that he was
mtellectually disabled and thus exempl from execution,
and both appellate and habeas counsel were imefTective lor
fatling to assert this claim for State review. In support of
the claim. he focuses on the Supreme Court's decision in
Hall. 134 S.Ctoat 2001 (rejecting Florida's rigid rvule that
a defendant must have an 1Q o’ 70 or below (o establish
intellectual disability). Tn Part B of the claim. he argues
that because the evidence showed that he was [unctioning
at an emotional level of someone between the ages of
cight and sixteen. his appellate counsel was ineflective for
failing to raise a claim that his death sentence violates the
Supreme Court's mandate that persons below the age of
cighteen shall not be executed. as provided in Roper. 343
LS at 3680 125 S.C L at 1194, He asserts that these points

should be considered in light of Martine= and Neuven.

The State trial court in the present case followed the
standard intellectual disability definition used in mam
cases. which was discussed in £x parte Briseno. 133 S W 3d
I (Tex. Crim. App. 2004). The Supreme Court recenthy
considerad the use of seven additional = Briseno factors”

announced by the TCCA in Briseno. ™ Scee Moore v, Texas.

US - 137 S.Cu 1039, 197 LLEEd.2d 416 (2017).
The Supreme Court noted with approval that (as in the
present case) the Moore trial “court had followed the
generally accepted. uncontroversial mtellectual-disability
diagnostic definition. which idenufies three core elements:
(1) mtellectual-functioning deficits (indicated by an 1Q
score “approximately two standard deviations below the
mean’ - e a score of roughly 70- adjusted for ‘the
standard ¢rror of measurement.” ...): (2) adaptive deficits
("the mability to learn basic skills and adjust behavior to
changing circumstances.” ..); and (3) the onset of these
deficits while still a minor.”™ I at 1043, The wial court
in Moore Tound that Moore qualified as intellectually
disabled and that relief should be granted. 7d at 1044,
The Texas Court of Crimuinal Appeals. however. declined
to adopt the judgment recommended by the trial court
and demied reliel based on the seven additional ~ Briseno™
factors. fd The Supreme Court vacated the decision and
found that the additional “factors Briseno set out as
indicators of intellectual disability are an invention of
the [Texas Court of Criminal Appeals] untied to any
acknowledged source.”™ fd at 1044, The Court held that
the “Briseno lactors “create[e] an unacceptable risk that
persons with intellectual disability will be executed.” ™ Il
(cing Heall, 134 S.Ct.at 1990).
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*13 In the present case. the State trial court instructed
the jury “that ‘mental retardaton™ means significanthy
intellectual  functioning  that 13

sub-average  general

concurrent with  deficits in adaptive  behavior and
originates during the developmental period. onset prior

to the age of 8. “Significantly sub-average general

intellectual functioning” refers to measured mtelligence on
standardized psychometric mstruments ol two or more
standard deviauons below the age group mean for tests
used. “Adaptive behavior” means the elfectiveness with
or degree to which a person mecets standards of personal
mdependence and social responsibility expected of the
person'’s age and cultural group.”™ 4+ CR 980-81. The charge
wis consistent with the definition of mtellectual disability
that the Supreme Court described in Moore as gencrally
aceepted and uncontroversial. The jury charge in this case
did not include any of the seven additional ~Briseno”
lactors, and comports with constitutional standavds.

Having considered whether the jury chavge in the present
case is constitutional in light of Moore. the court turns to
the issue presented by Mr. Milam's Claim Number 5. part
Az can he sausly Martinez/Trevmo i order o overcome
the procedurally defaulted claim of intellectual disability”?
To do that he must show that both trial counsel and initial
State habeas counsel were inetlective on this issue. Trial
counsel presented evidence in support of all three of the
core elements of the definition of intellectual disability.
and the State presented evidence in rebuttal as o all three
clements. Counsel also asked for an alternative definition
of intellectual disability. More specifically. he asked that
the charge specify thata = “person with mental retardation’
means a person determined by a physician or psychologist
licensed in this state or certitied by the Texas Department
of Mental Health and Mental Retardation to have sub-
average general inteltectual funcuoning concurrent with
deficits in adapuve behavior. exhibited prior to the age
ol 18.7 4 CR 967. He argued the pomnt before the trial
court, but his request was denied. 535 RR 280, Counsel
then made a motion for a directed verdict on the issue,
which wus denied. S5 RR 287, Copics of the entire jury
charge were given to the jury prior to closing arguments.
As discussed above the charge correctly set out the test for
mental retardation or mtellectual disability. The charge
was read o the jury prior to ¢losing arguments. 36 RR
4=12. In particular. the portions of the charge relating
to intellectual disability were read to the jury as part
of Special Tssue Number Three. fd at 8-9. The jury

subsequently returned a verdict finding that Mr. Milam

“is not a person with mental retardation.”™ 4 CR 987,

The record makes it clear that trial counsel vigorously
pursued this defense. Trial counsel's representation did
not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness.
Mr. Milam  has not  shown that trial  counsel's
representation was deficient or that he was prejudiced
by deticient representation on the part of counscel. He
has not shown that trial counsel was inelTective on this
isste. He likewise failed to show that imiual State habeas
counsel was ineffective on this issue. In the context
ol Murtinez/Trevino. he has not shown a substantial
claim of inetfective assistance of counsel to overcome the

procedural default.

Mr. Milam. nonetheless. argues that both appellate
counsel and State habeas counsel were ineffective for
failing to assert this clamm. He argues that the claim may
be considered based on meffective assistance of appellate
counsel and State habeas counsel in light of Martinez
and Ngwven. The Supreme Court has declined to extend
Martinez 1o mellective assistance ol appellate counsel
claims. Davila v. Davis. -~ U.S. —— 137 5.Ct. 2058. 198
L.Ed.2d 603 (2017). Similarly. neither the Supreme Court
nor the Fifth Circuit has recognized stand-alone claims of
mncffective assistance of State habeas counsel. Martinez,
S66 U.S. at 17, 132 S.CLoat 1320 (aung 28 US.C. 3§
2254(1): Reed, 739 F.3d at 780 n. 18 (citing Sepulvado, 707
F.3d at

five must be rejected as unexhausted and procedurally

S34-35 & n.8). The first part of claim number

barred. Moreover. since the trial court instructed the jury
on the three core elements of the definition of intellectual
disability and none of the additional Briseno tactors. the
additional requirements ceriticized in Moore had no impact
on the jury's decision nor on the State courts' various
decisions: thus. there i1s no basis to reevaluate this issue in

light of Moore.

*14 1o the Claim Number 3. Part B, Mr. Milam argucs
that because the evidence showed that he was functioning
alt an emotional level of someone between the ages of
cight and sixteen. his appellate counsel was mnetlective for
Fatling 1o raise a claim that his death sentence violates the
Supreme Court's mandate that persons below the age of
cighteen shall not be executed. as provided in Roper. Mr.
Milam's claim is unexhausted. Since the Supreme Court
has declined o extend Martinez 1o claims of ineffective

assistance ol appellate counsel. the claim must be rejected
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as procedurally barred. Davila, - U.S. —— [ 137 S.CL
2038, 198 L.Ed.2d 603,

Mr. Milaum acknowledges that wial counsel raised the
claim at trial. 2 CR 312 24 The trial court rejected the
claim. 35 RR 286-87. Trial counsel was not incllective on
this issue; thus., Mr. Milam cannot properly pursue the

second part of claim number live via Martinez/ Trevino.

Clam Number 5. Part B may alternatvely be rejected

because it lacks merit. Roper “established a0 lower

boundary™:
cighteen muy be executed. Dovie v Siephens. 333
Fed. Appx. 391, 395 (3th Cir. 2013). cert. denied.

ULS. -0 134 S.Cu 12940 188 LEd.2d 320 (2014).
Roper stimply does not apply to a defendant over the
age of cighteen. Ido ~The jury may still consider other
Claim Number 6:

No one under the chronological age of

factors during the punishment phase, including mitigating
factors.... He is entitded oo and did. present evidence of
his age and purported psychological and developmental
shortcomings as mitigating factors.,” Id. at 393-96. The
Filth Cireuit rejected efforts to undermine Roper by trying
to extend 1t o “developmental age.”™ Id. at 390 n.3: see
also United States v. Bernard. 762 F.3d 467, 482 83 (5th
Cir. 2014 (rejectuing efforts to extend Roper to a mental
age of less than 18). cerr. denied. 136 S, Ct. 892 (20106):
Thaler. 466 Fed Appx. 429, 438-29 (5th Cir.
2012) (rejecting efforts to extend Roper to immaturity).
cert. denied. S68 TS, 10609, 133 S.Ct. 788. 184 L.Ed.2d
584 (2012). Mr. Milam's cfforts 1o likewise extend Roper

Jasper v

arc unpersuasive. Both arguments presented under claim
number five are unexhausted and procedurally barred. In

the alternative. both arguments lack merit.

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance

of counsel in violation of the Sixth and Eighth
Amendments by not relying upon the proper
hearsay exception in attempting to have
admitted the statement of the co-defendant

Claims 6 through 9 concern allegations of ineffective
assistance of counsel that were raised in the State habeas
corpus proceedings. Claim Number 6 focuses on the
statement of co-defendant Jessecu Carson. Both Mr.
Milam and Ms. Carson gave statements to Texas Ranger
Ray on December 2. 2008, Ms. Carson did not testily
at Mro Milam's trial. Delense counsel made numerous
attempts throughout the wial to have her statement
admitted into evidence. Counsel argued that her statement
wis not hearsay since it was not bemg offered for the truth
of the matter asserted. and that it should be admitted as
Astalement against mterest. an exception to the hearsay
rule. The State argued otherwise. and the court sustained
the objection. Mr. Milam now argues that trial counsel
wis meffective for not relving on the proper hearsay

exception i order to have the statement admitted.

Ms. Carson's transcribed statement was attached to Mr,
Milam's State hubeas application as Exhibit C. | SHCR
4454 M. Carson admutted to Ranger Ray that she had
not been wruthful when she first spoke to him at the scene
of the crime. See | SHCR 45, She admitted that she had
initally told law entorcement that someonce had entered
their home and killed Amora while they were gone. but
the statement was not true. /d. She stated that she and Mr.

Milam used a Ouija board to communicate with their dead

fathers. but they feared they were speaking to bad spirits
through the board. /d. at 46, 124 S.Ct. 7. 10. Thus. thev
threw the board away. fd After that. she came to believe
that the Devil was talking to her through Mr. Milam. /d.
On the day before the murder. Mr. Milam told Ms. Carson
that Amora was possessed by evil and there was a demon
mside of her. fed at47. 124 S.CL 7,10 Mr. Milam told her
that the demon was warping Amora's features and causing
her to harm herself. 7do a1 48. 124 S.Ct. 7. 10. She stated
that My Milam and Amora were alone in the bedroom,
and she “was hearing the demon growl and everything.”
Id. Mr. Milam suggested an exorcism. and Ms. Carson
agreed. I Mr. Milam performed the exorcism. and they
mitially thought that it was successful. Jd. at 489, 124
S.Ct. 7. 10. However. the demon returned, and Mr. Milam
tried to exorcize the demon again while Ms. Carson was
asleep on the couch. Id at 49-50. 124 S.Cu. 7. 10. Mr.
Milam was alone in the room with Amora at the time.
I au 50, 124 S.CL 7. 10. Ms. Carson believed that Mr.
Milam had fought with the demon behind the closed door.
and that the demon had tried to kill him. /. Ms. Carson
finallv suggested that they go find a priest to perform
the exorcism. fd They left the house to pawn stems for
money 1o pay a priest, but Mr. Milam told her as they left
the pawn shop that God told him there was nothing they
could do. Id. Ms. Carson agreed with Mr. Milam that she

would rather see her child go to Heaven now than go to
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Hell tater. 7. Ms. Carson and Mr. Milam returned to the
house where they found Amora dead: they unsuccesstully
attempted to perform CPR and then called 911 1 at 30

32,124 S.CL 70 100 Ms. Carson admitted that the two
ol them tried to come up with a story to tell the police
because she did not think anyone would believe their story
of demon possession. Id at 52, 124 S.C. 7. 10

*15 AU triale the defense argued that Ms. Carson's
statement should be admitted because 1t was not being
olfered for the truth of the matier asserted. but to
show her demeunor and state of mind, see 40 RR 33,
and that the statements were excepted {rom the hearsay
rule as they were against her penal mterest. 40 RR 34
Tex. R Evid. 803(24). Relying on Hulrer v. Stare. 267
S W.3Ad 883 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008). the State argued
against the admission ol this statement under the Rule
S03(24) exception because Ms. Carson minmimized her own
culpability while inculpating Mr. Milam, and according
to the TCCA. such a blame-shifting statement is not
admissible as a statement against penal interest. 40 RR 34
36. The trial court sustained the State's objections o the
admission of the statement. 40 RR 37,

In his petition. Mr. Milam disputes the ruling and stresses
that the Texas statement against mterest rule is broader
than the Federal rule. in that it also allows statements
which "make the declarant an object of hatred. ridicule or
disgrace. that a reasonable person in declarant's position
would not have made the statement unless beheving it to
be true.” Tex. R.Evid. 803(24). He asserts that Texas cases
have found that these type ol statements are admissible.
Purtell v. Stare. 761 SSW.2d 360 (Tex. Crim. App. 1988):
Robinson v. Harkins & Co.. 711 SSW.2d 619 (Tex. 1986).

Mr. Milam also complains that trial counsel Tailed
to articulate an Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment
justificaton for the introduction of this evidence at
sentencing. He stresses that the Eighth Amendment
protects against arbitrary and capricious death sentences.
He emphasizes that a capital punishment scheme must
allow the sentencing authority to consider all mitigating
crrcumstances. See Pepper v, United States. 362 U.S. 476.
130 S.Cto 1229, 179 L.Ed.2d 196 (2011) (no arbitrary
limitations should be placed on mformation concerning
the background. character. and conduct that may be
considered for the purpose of imposing an appropriate

sentenee).

Mr. Milam acknowledges that much of the same

intormation was brought to the jury's attention through

the testimony ol expert wilness Dr. Mark CLmninghum4

during the punishment phase of the trial:

Q. And in vour opinton, based on that. the state of mind
ol Jesseca Carson. that played a significant role in the
death ol Amora?

A Yes. sir.
Q. And what led 1o your conclusion?

A Blaine and Jesseca are deseribed by third party
observers. including folks in Elba. Alabama. when
they were there on those visits. of having shared
delusions about the death of her father and the
circumstances of that death being a murder instead
ol a suicide. They both had anxieties and delusional
beliefs  about this Ouija board and about the
apartment being possessed where they had used that
Ouija board. In her statement, Jesseca describes
coming to believe that there was a demon inside
ol" Blaine. that he was possessed, and Blaine also
made reference 1o a belief that he was possessed
by a demon. They came to believe that Amora
was possessed and jointly identtied some need for
an exorcism to remove the demon from her. This
olfense occurred m a context. according (o Jesseca's
statement. where they were both present in the
houschold. with her knowledge and understanding
that some sort of exorcism was occurring that Blaine

was doing to Amora.

Now. the signilicance ol this is, as [ described
carlier. when vou have somebody who's in the midst
of a methamphetamine psychosis. and their own
reality testing is distorted and fragile. and then
when there's someone who's there who's psychotic
and is participating in the same kind ol delusional
beliels and. i fact. providing some additional
content ol their own along those same lines. then it
potentiates the psychotic experience for both of these
individuals as they are teeding oft of cach other's
delusional pereeptions. Tt increases the likelihood of
the psychosis and delusion escalating, and 1tincreases
the likelihood that they will act on these beliefs in «
tragic lashion.
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16 Q. An n your opinion. Doctor. those e
significant Factors in this case that ulumately resulted
in the death of Amora Carson?

A Yes. sir.

See 54 RR 260 61. Dr. Cunningham's testimony was
before the jury during the punishment phase of the trial.
Mr. Milam acknowledges that the crux of Ms. Carson's
statement came in through this tesumony. but he argues
that 1t is not the same as the jury hearing the evidence
directly from her tape recorded statement. He argues that
counsel is at fault for failing to get her statement admitted

into evidence.

The present ineffective  assistance  of  counsel ¢laim
was fully developed during the State habeas corpus
proceedings. Pursuant to an order ol the trial court.
defense counsel James R. Hagan filed an alfidavit in
response to allegations ol'ine(Tective assistance of counsel.

He addressed the present claim as follows:

[ have reviewed the pertinent
parts of the record in this cause
regarding the allegation that I faled
to bring an additonal hearsay
exception to the introduction of
the recorded conversations of co-
defendant  Carson to  the trial
court's attention. After reviewing
the record and  refreshing my

memory COI‘IL.‘CI'I]il’Ig this  matter

I believe [ set forth the most
applicable portion of Rule 803(24)
concerning statements against the
declarant's criminal interest. Tt was
my  belief then and now that
there was no statement  against
the co-defendant's “societal interest™
independent ot her  statements
against her “ermmmal interest™ i this
cause.  Additonallv. ceven though
mention

I did not specifically

a4 possible  basis ol admission
being statements against the co-

detendant's

societal interests.” |
did. on more than one occasion
during my colloguy with court,

emphasize  and  bring w0 the

court's attention the co-defendunt's
statements that she believed it she
told the truth of what happened
she feared not only arrest. but that
she would be placed in a “mental
institute.”

I SHCR &6.

Aflter collecting all ol the evidence compiled on this issue.
the State trial court issued extensive findings of fact on the
claim. 3 SHCR 314 27, The State trial court found that
counsel repeatedly argued that Ms. Carson's statement

should be admitted because of the following reasons:

a. 1L was not hearsay because it was not being offered
for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show her
demeanor and state of mind. see 40 RR 33, 52-54;

b. il 1t was hearsay. 1t was nevertheless excepted from
the hearsay rule and admissible pursuant to Tex. R.
Evid. 803(24) as a statement against penal interest, 40
RR 34,52, 54 and

admissible as part of [Mr. Milam's]

Constitutional right 1o present a defense—pursuant

Cc. 1t owas

to the Fifth, Sixth. and Fourteenth Constututional

Amendments. as well as Artcle 10 of Texas
Consutution- -because Jesseca would not testity on
his behalf. and the statement was essential to [Mr.

Milam’s] delensive theory, 40 RR 51-52.

3 SHCR 316 17. The trial court found that sustained
the State's objection to the admission ol the statement
on hearsay grounds because Ms. Carson's blame shifting
statement 1s not admissible as a statement against penal
interest under Rule 803(24) in light of the TCCA's decision
in Wulier, supra. Id. at 317. The court further found that
it sustained the State's objection to the admission of the
statement and rejected the argument that the refusal o
allow the statement impinged on Mr. Milam's right to
present a defense. I With respect to the argument that
Ms. Carson's blame shifting statement was admissible
because it was not actually true and demonstrates her
state of mind. the court tound that it sustained the State's
objection that the statement was not admissible because
1t was. in fact. a lie and 1t was therefore untrustworthy
and not admissible under Rule 803(24). /d at 318, The
court found that defense counsel asked the court to
reconsider its decision at the close of the gutlt/innocence
phase of the tnal. but the motion was denied. 7 at 318
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19. The court found that Ms. Carson's statement was
hearsay and that 1t did not meet one of the numerous
exceeptions or exemputions to the hearsay rule. fd at 319,
The court further found “that any addivonal argument on
adnussibility would have been futle.”™ /i

17 With respeet to the specitic allegations raised in
the ineftective assistance of counsel claims. the trial court
found that “trial counsel Hagan had reasonable. strategic
reasons for making the four arguments advanced i favor
of admission of Jesseca's statement.” I at 321 117 S.Cy
2059, 2063-64. Moreover. counsel "made those arguments

he beheved were most hikely to succeed. ™ Idd

With respect o the Eighth Amendment arguments. the
trial court tound that defense counsel was able to present
adefense suggesting that Mr. Milam and Ms. Carson were
acting under a delustonal beliel that Amora wus possessed
without presenting Ms. Carson's statement. /. at 323,123
S.Ct. 1029, 1041, The court found that the evidence was
before the jury through the testimony of Dr. Cunningham.
T v 323 24 123 S.CL 1029, 1041, The court found that
other witnesses supported Dr. Cunningham's testimony.
imcluding Ranger Ray, Mr. Milam's sisters. Mr. Milam's
mother. Dr. Frank Murphy. Dr. Paula Lundberg-Love.
and Dr. Tim Proctor. [d at 325 26. 123 S.CL 1029,
1041, The court finally found that “the evidence actually
presented by the defense was more persuasive without

Jesseca's statement.” Jd at 327, 123 S.Ct 1029, 1041,

The trial court went on o issue extensive conclusions
of law regarding the claim. 3 SHCR 34332 The court
concluded “that trial counsel did not perform deficiently
m his attempts o admit Jesseca Carson's statement
at wial” doat 3430 123 S.Coo 1029, 1041, The court
concluded “that trial counsel was not deficient for failing
to come up with additonal arguments related o™ Rule
803(24). Id The wral court found that wial counsel's
“performance fell within the wide range ol “reasonable
assistance.” and that his chosen arguments were sound
trial strategy.” folat 34344123 S.Cr. 1029, 1041 (citing
Strickland. 466 U.S. at 689. 104 S Ct_at 2065). The finding
was made that trial counsel “strenuously advocated™
for the admission of Ms. Carson's statement “under the
most reasonable theories of admissibility. but without
success.” foat 3440 123 S.Cr. 1029, 1041, The court
found that "any additional arguments by trial counsel
would hieve been similarly unsuccesstul because Jesseca's

statement was hearsay. 11 did not satisfy any exception

to the hearsay rule allowmng its admission. and it was
not reliable.”™ fd. With respect to Rule 803(24). the trial
court concluded “that trial counsel made a reasonable
strategic decision o pursue his strongest argument—
that Jesseca's statement was against her penal interest

despite his beliel that other exceptions could apply.”
Tdar 3450123 S.C 1029, 1041, The wrial court found
“that trial counsel's performance was not deficient because
additional arguments under Rule 803(24) would have been
unsucceessiul for the same reasons—the hearsay statement
wis unreliuble and properly excluded.™ 7d. The court
specifically Tound that Mr. Milam suffered no prejudice
by counsel's failure to make additional Rule 803(24)
arguments. because the statement was sull inadmissible
due to the unrehiability of Ms. Curson's statement. /d. at
347,123 S.Ct. 1029, 1041,

The court concluded that trial counsel’s representation
was not deficient because he, in fact. urged admission
of the statement under the Eighth Amendment. albeit
unsuccesstully. /. at 249, The conclusion was made
that counsel's representation was not deficient for fuiling
o make other futile arguments. /. The court found
that State rules ol procedure and evidence sull apply
to the admission of evidence at the punishment phase.
and such evidence must sull be reliable. o at 350, The
trial court found that Mr. Milam was not prejudiced
by counsel's representation on this issue. fdo at 351, Tt
was specifically found that Ms. Carson's statement was
more damaging than “helpful because it placed the blame
for the murder solely on him, and it suggested [Mr.
Milam] was manipulating Jesseca.” fd. at 351-32. The
TCCA subscquently denied relief based on the trial court's
findings and conclusions and 1ts own review. Ly parie
Vidam. 2013 WL 4856200, at *1.

*18 Theve i1s support in Texas law lor the decision that
Ms. Carson's statement did not qualify for admission
under Rule 803¢24) because she shifted the blame to
Mr. Milam. See Walier. 267 SW.3d at 899. Even
“overwhelming corroborating circumstances” indicating
the trustworthiness of a co-conspirator's nurrative did
not render “blame-shifung™ statements m the narrative
admussible under the rule. 7d. at 899 900.

Mr. Milam stresses thut a capital punishment scheme must
allow the sentencing authority to consider all mitigating
circumstances. He cites Pepper tor the proposition that

no arbitrary hmitatons should be placed on information
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concerning the background. character. and conduct a
district court (and logically. a jury) cun consider for
the purpose of Imposing an appropriate sentence. In
response. the Director correcthy noted that the Supreme
Court merely held that a district court may consider
a defendunt's evidence of post-sentencing rehabihitation
during resentencing. Pepper. 562 ULS at 490, 131 S.Ct. at
1241,

Even though the decision in Pepper may be of Timited
value, M. Milam's basic argument 1s commonly found
i Supreme Court decisions. “The use of mitigation
evidenee 1s a product ol the requirement of individualized
sentencing.” Kansas v, Marsh. S48 U.S. 163,174,126 S.C L
2516, 2325165 L.Ed.2d 429 (2006). In Locketr v Olio.
438 LS. 386, 604, 98 S.Ct. 2934, 2964-63. 57 L.Ed.2d
973 (1978), a plurahty of the Supreme Court held that
“the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments require that the
sentencer, in all but the rarest kind ol capital case. not
be precluded from considering. as a mitigating fuctor. any
aspect ol a defendant's character or record and any of the
circumstances of the offense that the defendant proffers
as a basts for a sentence less than death.”™ (emphasis in
original). The Court held that the sentencer must have
lull access to “highly relevant™ information. I/l at 603, 98
S.CLat2964. A majority of the Court adopted the Lockernt
rulingin Eddings v. Oklalioma. 4550 .S 104, 110.102S.CL
869. 874, 71 1.IEd.2d 1 (1982). The Lockerr and Eddings
decisions were revisited m Jolhmson v Texas. 309 U.S. 330,
113 S.Cu 2638, 125 LLEA.2d 290 (1993). The Court read
these cases narrowly:

Lockerr and its progeny  stand
only for the proposition that a
State may not cut off n an
absolute manner the presentation
of mitigating evidence. either by
statute or judictal instruction. or by
limiting the mquirtes to which it is
relevantso severely that the evidence
could never be part of the sentencing

decision at all.

I at 361 113 S0 Cuoat 2666 (quoting McRor v North
Curolina. 494 U.S. 4330 456, 110 S.Cu 1227, 1240,
108 L.Ed.2d 369 (1990) (Kennedy. J.. concurring in
Judgment)). Lockerr “does not deprive the State ol its
authority to set reasonable limits upon the evidence a
defendant can submit. and to control the manner

which it is subnutted.”™ Oregon v Guzek. 346 U.S. 51

526, 126 S.Ct. 1226, 1232, 163 L.Ed.2d 1112 (20006).
“States are free o structure and shape consideration of
mitigating evidence in an eftort to achieve a more rational
and equitable admuimistration ol the death penalty.” Id.
(internal quotation marks onutted) (quoting Boyd .
California. 494 TS 370, 377 110 S.CL. 1190, 1196, 108
L.Ed.2d 316 (1990)).

In the present case. the trnal court was entitled to require
that the evidence submitted comply with evidentiary rules,
Nonetheless. the record clearly reveals that the evidence
contamed in Ms. Carson's statement was not cut off in an
absolute manner. The same evidence came in through a
number of witnesses. including Dr. Cunningham. Ranger
Ray. Mr. Milum's sisters, Mr. Milam's mother. Dr. Frank
Murphy. Dr. Paula Lundberg-Love. and Dr. Tim Proctor.
The State habeas court found that “the evidence actually
presented by the defense was more persuasive without
Jesseea's statement.” 3 SHCR 327.

*19  Claim Number 6 does not directly call into
question whether Ms. Carson's statement should have
been admitted: instead. the issue is whether counsel was
mnellective in his elforts to get the statement admitted.
In rejecting the claim. the State habeas court found
that delense counsel's approach was a4 matter of trial
strategy. The Supreme Court explained in Strickland that
“strategic choices made after thorough mvestigation of
law and tacts relevant to plausible options are virtually
unchallengeable: and strategic choices made ufter less
than complete investigation are reasonable precisely (o
the extent that reasonable professional judgments support
the limitations on investigation.” Sec Strickland, 466
LS. at 690 91, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Federal courts will
not question a counsel's reasonable strategic decisions.™
Bower v, Quarterman. 497 F.3d 439,470 (5th Cir. 2007),
cort. denied, 353 U.S. 1006, 128 S.Ct. 2051, 170 L.Ed.2d
797 02008). In applying Strickland. the Filth Circuit held
that “the failure o present a particular line of argument
or evidence is presumed to have been the result of strategic
Muaggio, 727 F.2d 341, 347 (5th Cir.

1984). Habeas corpus relief is unavailable 1f a petitioner

choice.”™ Tavlor v.

lails to overcome the presumption that counsel made
sound strategic decisions. Del Toro v. Quarterman. 498
F.3d 486. 491 (5th Cir. 2007). ceri. denied. 552 ULS. 1243,
128 S.Ct 1478, 170 L.Ed.2d 301 (2008). In the present
case. trial counsel had reasonable, strategic reasons for
making the arguments that he made in favor of udmituing

My, Carson's statement. He made the arguments that
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he thought were most likely to succeed. Perhaps other
arguments might have been made. but the court may not
question his reasonable strategic decisions. Mr. Milam has
not shown that his attorney's representation was deficient
on this issue. Morcover. since the evidence wus brought
in through other witnesses, he cannot show prejudice. The

ineffective assistance ol counsel claim Jacks mernit.

Claim Number 6 must also be rejected because Mr, Milam
his not shown. as required by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).
that the State court findings resulted i a decision that
was contrary to. or mvolved an unreasonable application
of, clearly established federal law as determined by the
Supreme Court of the United States. or resulted in a
decision that was based on an unrcasonable determination
of the facts in light of the evadence presented in the State

court proceedings.

There 1s yet another basis Tor rejecting the inellectine
assistance ol counsel claim. In the context ol § 2234(d).
Claim Number 7:

the deterential standard that must be accorded to counsel's
representation must also be considered i tandem with
the deference that must be accorded State court decisions.
which has been referred to as “doubly™ deferential.
Richter 562 US. at 105,131 S.CLoat 788. "When § 2254(d)
applies. the question is not whether counsel's actions
were reasonable. The quesuion 1s whether there is any
reasonable argument that counsel satisfied Strickland's
deferential standard.”™ I 1t the standard 1s diftieult o
meet, that 1s because 1t was meant Lo be.” Td at 102, 131
S.Cl. at 786: see also Morales v, Thaler. 714 F.3d 293,
302 (3th Cir. 2013) (same). cert. denied. .S —.
134 S.Cuo 393, 187 LLEd.2d 148 (2013). In the present
case. counsel's trial strategy satisties the “any reasonable
argument’ standard for rejecting the ineftective assistance
of counsel claim. Mr. Milam has not satistied his burden
ol overcoming the doubly deferential standard: thus, he
1s not entitled to federal habeas corpus reliel on Claim
Number 6.

Appellate counsel rendered ineffective

assistance of counsel in violation of the Sixth
Amendment of the United States Constitution by
failing to raise on direct appeal the trial court's
refusal to admit co-defendant Jesseca Carson's
statement

-

In Claim Number 7. Mr. Milam brings a follow-up
claim to Claim Number 6. He argues that his appellate
attorney was imellective for failing to raise on direct appeal
the trial court's refusal to admit co-defendant Jesseca
Carson's statement. He observes that both Texas and

Federal Courts have tound that the hearsay rules must be

“flexible” and sometimes bend to the due process rights of

a petitioner. Alonzo v State. 67 S.W . 3d 346, 35861 (Tex.
App. - Waco 2001, pet. dism'd): Holmes v. South Carolina.
347 ULS0 3190 126 S.Cu 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 303 (2006):
Chambers v Mississippi. 410 U.S. 284 93 S.CL 103K, 35S
L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). He notes that trial counsel argued that
Ms. Carson's statement should be admitted since it was
essential to the defense theory. Nonetheless. the trial court
disagreed. He complains that even though trial counsel
preserved the issue for appeal. appellate counsel failed
to brief und present the issue to the appellate court. He
argues that appellate counsel was ineffecuve for tailing to

raise the issue on direet appeal.

*20 The two-prong Srrickland test applies to claims of

melfecuve assistance of counsel by both trial and appellate
counsel. Styvron v, Johnson, 262 F.3d 438, 450 (5th Cir.

2001y, cert. denied sub nom Styron v. Cockrell, 334 U.S.
1163, 122S.CL 175152 LEd.2d 118 (2002). An indigent
detendant does not have a constitutional right to compel
appointed counsel to include every nonfrivolous point
requested by him: instead. an appellate attorney's duty
15 1o choose among potential issues. using professional
Judgment as to their merits. Jones v. Barnes. 463 U.S.
743, 7510 103 S.Ct 3308, 3312, 77 L.Ed.2d 987 (1983).
“Counsel need not raise every nontrivolous ground of
appeal. but should instcad present solid. meritorious
arguments based on directly controlling precedent.” Ries
v. Quarterman. 322 F.3d 5170 531-32 (5th Cir. 2018)
(nternal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Schaetzle v.
Cockrell. 343 F 3d 440, 445 (3th Cir. 2003). cert. denied,
S35 TS990, 129 S, C. 485 (2008): see also Adams v.
Thaler, 421 Fed. Appx. 3220 332 (5th Cir. 2011) (same).
coert. denied, 565 1.8 942, 132 S.Ct. 399. 181 1..Ed.2d
236 (2011)). To demonstrate prejudice. a petitioner must
“show a reasonable probability that, but for his counsel's
unreasonable fuilure ..., he would have prevailed on his
appeal.” Briseno v. Cockrell. 274 F.3d 204, 207 (3th Cir,
2001).
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The issuce of whether appellate counsel was ineffective
tor fuiling to bricf and present a ground of error that
the trial court erred in refusing to admit Ms. Carson's
statement was [ully developed in the State habeas corpus
proceedings. Pursuant to an order of the trial court.

appellate counsel Douglas H. Parks filed an affidavit

1 response to allegations of inettective assistance of

appellate counsel. which mcluded the tollowing:

[ As a result ol my appointment to the direct appeal
of this case. I did a thorough review of the Clerk's
Record i the cause and reviewed and summarized
the entire Reporter's Record. [identtied potenual
points of error and chiminuated several. by rescarch

and experience. as {rivolous.

2. Those pomts ot error I'believed to be at least arguable
were researched, bricfed and presented to the Court

of Crimmal Appeals in [Mr. Milam's] Brict.

30T gave consideration to the issue regarding the trial
court's retfusal to atlow [Mr. Milam] to mtroduce
Jesseca Carson's statements and determined that the

issite was without merit for the following reasons:

a. the statements were clearly hearsay il offered (o
prove the truth ot the matter asserted (TRE 801(d))
unless there was an apphcable exception as set out
i TRE 803:

b. trial counsel advanced the proposition that the
hearsay statements were admissible as “demeanor/
state of mind™ and as a statement agaimst mterest.
Trial counscel's theory was that the statement wis
not offered for the truth ol the matter stated and
was a lies therefor it showed her “state of mind”

at the ume. T considered that argument o be

nonsensical. T the statements were not olfered o

prove the truth of the matter asserted they were not

hearsay and the exceptions to the hearsay rules did

not apply in determining admissibility:

¢ if the statements of Ms, Carson could be considered
hearsay (despite not being oftered to prove the
truth ot the matter asserted) B determined that
they would not be admissible under the theon
that they were statements against the declarant's
nterest because they were clearly not trustworthy.,
as required by TRE 803(24) because. by counscel's

own admisston, they were lies:

d. I also considered the contention that the trial
courl's lailure 1o admit the statements of Ms.
Carson violated [Mr. Milam's] constitutional right
to presenta defense. [Mr. Milam] had a due process
right to present competent. reliable. exculpatory
evidence to rebut any of the elements of the oftense.
See Rutfin v, Stare. 270 S'W.3d 386 (Tex. Crim.
App. 2008). [t is my judgment that the prollered
statements were neither competent. rehable or
exculpatory and any argument that they were. in
the face of trial counsel's admission that they were

lies. would be frivolous: and

*21 ¢ [inally. the gist of Ms. Carson's statements
came in through the testimony of Dr. Frank
Murphy. at the guilt/innocence stage of trial in any

cvent.
I SHCR 83-84 (footnote omitted).

After collecting all of the evidenee compiled on this issuc.
the State trial court issued findings on this claim. 3
SHCR 327 -30. The wrial court observed that appellate
counsel filed a brief on direct appeal that raised twenty
points of error. /o at 327. The court found that appellate
counsel did not raise a point of error regarding Ms.
Carson's statement. . at 328, The finding was made
that appellate counsel filed a credible athidavit. that he
thoroughly reviewed the record. and “identified potential
points of error and chiminated several. by research and
experience. as (rivolous.™ /d. (quoting affidavit ol Douglas
Parks). The finding was made that. based on the credible
affidavit of appellate counsel. Mr. Parks researched and
bricted “[tJhose points of error [he] believed to be at least
arguable|.]” Id. After discussing the reasons provided by
appellate counsel. the trial court found “that counsel had
reasonable. strategic reasons for not including a point
of error regarding Jesseca Carson's statement in [Mr.
Milam's] direct appeal.”™ Id. at 329. The court specilically
found that the decision to abandon these claims was
strategic and based upon his protessional judgment. 7d.
The court tinallv found that appellate counsel “chosc only
those [claims| with the best likelihood of success.™ Id. at

330.

The (rial court went on to issue conclusions of law on
this claim. 3 SHCR 252 57 The tinding was made that
appellate counsel. Doug Parks. was not deficient for

wiling Lo ruise ¢ ect appeal a poi “error regarding
failing to ruise on direct appeal a point of error regarding
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Ms. Carson's statement. ¢/ at 352, The trial court found
that appellate counsel made a thorough review of the
record and made a reasonable. strategic decision not to
raise any pomt of error regarding the statement. fd at 353,
The trial court further found that the claim that appellate
counsel was defictent m this matter lacks merit becuuse
the statement was properiyv excluded. /¢ The court Tound
that appellate counsel was not delicient for failing to vaise
an Eighth Amendment argument because it would have
been futile and frivolous. I at 354, The finding was made
that Mr. Milam failed to overcome the presumption that
appellate counsel's strategic decision was reasonable. 1o,
at 355 The trial court fally found that Mr. Milam had

not shown prejudice. 7o ut 356 37, The Texas Court of

Criminal Appeals subsequently denied Mr. Milam's State
application for a writ ot habeas corpus based on the trial
court's findmgs and conclusions and on its own review. £y
paric Mitani. 2013 WL 4856200, at *1.

As with Claim Number 6. the presentinefiective assistance
of appellate counsel claim must be rejected because
counsel's decision was reasonable strategy. and  this
court should not second guess well reasoned strategic
decisions. Stricklund. 466 US. at 689. 104 S.Ct. at 2065

(reviewing court “must indulge a strong presumption

that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range ol

reasonable professional assistance™ and a defendant must
overcome the presumption that the challenged action
might be considered sound trial strategy). Judges should
not sccond-guess reasonable professional judgments and
impose onappellate counsel a dutv 1o raise cvery
“eolorable”™ clamm. which would “disserve the very goal
of vigorous and effective advocacy.” Jones. 463 ULS. at
754,103 5.Ceoat 3314, Counsel did not believe that there
wis any basis for raising & point of crror focusing on the
trial court's refusal to admit co-detendant Jesseca Carson's
statement.

Claim Number 8:

*¥22 Mr. Milam has not shown that appellate counsel's

representation  fell below an objecuive  standard  of
reasonableness by lailing (o include this issue on direct
appeal. Perhaps some attornevs would have included
the pomnt of crror on direct appeal, but the court
may not question appellate counsel's reasonable strategic
decisions. In addition to the foregoing. Mr. Milam has
not shown that there was solid. meritorious arguments
for presenting the ground of error on appeal based on
controlling precedent. Overall. Mr. Milam has not shown
that his appellate attorney's representation was deficient
on this issue. Morcover. he cannot show prejudice since
the evidence was brought in through other witnesses. He
simplyv has not shown that he would have prevailed on
appeal but for his appellate attorney's fatlure to raise the
claim. The meffective ussistance of appellate counsel claim

lacks merit.

Alternatively Claim Number 7 must be rejected because
Mr. Milam has not shown. as required by 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(d). that the State court findings resulted 1n
a decision that was contrary  to. or mvolved an
unreasonable application of. clearly established federal
luw as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. or resulted i a decision that was based on an
unrcasonable determination of the facts in light of the
cvidenee presented in the State court proceedings. Fially.
the meffective assistance of appellate counsel claim must
be rejected because M. Milam has notsatisiied the doubly
deferential standard. Indeed. appellate counsel's strategy
alone is a reasonable argument for rejecting the inellective
assistance of appellate counsel claim. Mr. Milam has not
shown that heis entitled to federal habeas corpus reliet on
Claim Number Seven.

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of

counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment by
failing to object to specific instances of violence
introduced by the prosecution regarding
violence in the Texas prison system. The failure
to object violates Mr. Milam's right to the Eighth
Amendment requirement of individualized
sentencing.

In Claim Number 8, Mr. Milam complains about evidence
that was introduced by the State without objection
while cross-examining defense expert Larry Fitzgerald.

More specitically, the State was allowed to introduce the

tollowing specific acts of violence n the Texas prison

system:
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I a prison guard was killed by a field squad. none of
whom were convicted ot capital murder. outside the

wulls of the prison;

2 on lanuary 29, 2010, five offenders escaped trom the
Polunsky Unit. where death row is located. and three
of the tive were shot but survived:

3 seven oftenders serving life sentences broke out of
the MceConnell Unit in South Texas. killed @ police

officer. and were later captured in Colorado:
4. adeath row mmate almost cut oft a Chaplam's arm:

3o another death row mmate spat a key out during his

execution: and
6. a death row inmate escaped before drowning.

SRR 100 108, Mr. Milam argues that his trial attorney
wis ineffective by failing to object to these specific
incidents of violence. He further argues that the failure
o object violated his Eighth Amendment requirement of
mdividuulized sentencing.

[n support of the cliim. Mr. Milam argues that painting
him with the broad brush of prior inmates is speculative
as 1o his future behavior and denied him the heightened
reliability in sentencing mandated by the Eighth and
ourtecenth Amendments. See I oodson v. North Carolina.
428 U.S. 280, 96 S.Ct. 2978, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976). He
noted that the TCCA upheld the exclusion of a videotape
ol admmistrative segregation sinee it “was not evidence ol
consequence to the jury's factual determination of whether
appellant would pose a continuing threat to socicty.” Sells
v Stare. 121 SAW.3d 7480 706 (Tex. Crim. App. 2003)
(emphasts inoriginal). cert. denied. 340 US. 986, 124 S.Ct.
SEEO 157 LUEd.2d 378 (2003). The TCCA observed that
“the videotape mught have conlused and distracted the
Jury fromits factfinding task.™ Id. Mr. Milam avgues that
the unrelated specific instances discussed in the present
case did the same and that they were inadmissible and
constitutionally harmful. He finally disputes the trial
court's finding that trial counsel was not inelTective despite
not correctly objecting to this evidence.

#23 The record reveals that counsel filed a motion
in limine seeking to preclude testimony about violent
acts committed by other TDCT mmates. 1 CR 149 51

Counscl argued that such testimony was irrelevant to Mr.

Milam and that it would violate the Eighth Amendment
requirement ot individualized sentencing under Jurek v.
Tevas. 428 US. 262,96 S.CL. 2950, 49 L.Ed.2d 929 (1976,
and Lockerr. 438 U.S. at 604-05. 98 S.CL at 2964-63.
The moton was one of fifteen motions carried by the trial
court. 2 CR 435, However. the trial court never ruled on

the motion in hmine. 1 SHCR 87,

During the punishment phase of the tral. the defense
called Larey Fitzgerald. a former information officer for
TDCJ. with respect to the future dangerousness special
issue. 31 RR 40 41, He discussed classification procedures
and conditions on death row. 51 RR 38 He presented
statistics concerning  the dangerousness of the prison
svsteme fd at 64, 1128.CL. 475,480, In 2009. ot the 158.068
inmates confined i TDCJ. there was one homicide. 676
attempted suicides with 24 succeeding, 93 serious stall
assaults. and 1534 sexual assaults. 31 RR 64-67. He opined
that the statistics show that “the prison system works.”
I at 66, 112 S.CL 475,480, Morcover. the prison system
knows how to take carc of dangerous immates. fd. at 67.
112S.Cr 475,480, He agreed that there is o possibility that
an escape may oceur. but he added that it s also possible
that “the moon may be made out of green cheese.” /d. He
described the prison environment as harsh. 7d. at 70-71.
112S.Cu 475,480,

In light of the evidence offered on direct examination,
the State explored Mr. Fitzgerald's testimony  further
on cross-examination. He acknowledged that murders.
mcluding capital murders. occur in the prison system.
Id at 77, 112 S.Cu. 475, 480. He acknowledged that an
officer supervising a “field squad™ was murdered outside
the walls of the prison by an inmate who was attempting
to escape. fdoat 100 -01. 131 S.Ct. 770. 784, He admitted
that 11 2010 offenders housed at the Polunsky Unit,
where death row is located, attempted to escape. Id. at
102. 131 S.Ct. 770. 784, Five offenders got over the first
feuee but were apprehended before they made it over
the second fence. Ido Three of the offenders were shot
during the attempt. but they survived. /o at 1020 131
S.Ct. 770. 784, Fitzgerald was also quesuoned about
the “Texas 77—seven inmates who escaped (rom the
McConnell Unit. killed a police officer and remained ut-
large for several weeks before being recaptured. Il at
103131 S.Ct. 770, 784. Fitzgerald admitwed that all seven
mmates were serving life sentences and at least one was
a capital murderer. It 103-04. 131 S.CL 770, 784,

When the State referred 1o Fitzgerald's prior testimony
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about the “moon may be made out of green cheese.”
he agreed that the escape by the Texas 7 “was o giant
tailure of the system.”™ Il at 104, 131 S.Cr. 770, 784,
Frzgerald confirmed that inmate Juan Soria almost cut
oll a chaplain's arm on death row. I He confirmed that
inmate Ponchai Wilkerson spit a key out of his mouth at
his own execution. /d. Fitzgerald confirmed that in 2004,
two hte sentenced capital murderers almost killed two
guards at the Eastham Unit. 7 at 105,131 S.Ct. 770. 784.
Finally. m 2000, eight death row inmates attempted to
escape: one actually made it to the free world but drowned
about a mile and a hall away from the prison. /d at 108,
131 S.CL 770, 784 Fitzgerald agreed that statistics do not
really matter. that a prisoner may be violent if he wants
to be violent. and that ultimately the jury has to Took at
the individual characteristics of the person on trial. 1o at
108 09, 131 S.Ct. 770. 784,

*24 The issue of whether trial counsel was deficient for
failing to object to the testimony of speeific mstances
ol violence within the prison system was tully developed
during the State habeas corpus proceedings. Trial counsel
James R. Hagen. John W. Moore and Stephen Jackson
addressed the claim in their allidavits. Mr. Hagen
addressed the issue as follows:

The allegation that 1 tailed to object
to specific nstances  of violence

in the Texas prison system  is
true. However, this was a decision
made 1n consultaton  with 1y
cliecnt and of nccessity due 1o
the fact that we had decided
T™DC

testimony as well as risk assessment

to introduce classification
Lestumony from our expert witnesses.
I was of the opinion thuat evidence
of this character was admissible
and determined that unsuccessful
objection o1t could result in unduly
emphasizing its importance to the

jurors.
| SHCR 87.

Mr. Moore presented an extensive affidavit addressing the

1ssue as follows:

[ have reviewed the pertinent parts of the record in

this cuuse regurding the allcgation that 1 rendered

inettective assistunce of counsel in violation of the Sixth
Amendment by tailing to object to evidence of specific
instances of violence i the Texas prison system. After
reviewing the record. motions filed, and conferences
with trial counsel refreshing my memory concerning
this mateer. T believe [ presented the evidence at trial
in the light most favorable to my client. Our trial
strategy was to show that the penal system could handle
violentoffenders. In doing so we called the best possible
witness available to provide us with the statistics for the
Jury. In sponsoring this tvpe ol evidence we knew that
through cross examination, the State would be allowed
Lo inquire about specific acts. i an attempt to disprove
this theory. Tt 1s well scted. through case law that
this evidence ts admissible when sponsored by Defense.
When presenting evidence on future dangerousness our
trial strategy was o atiempt to show that our client
would not [be] dangerous in the penal system, based on
his offense, age of vicum. his age and the circumstances

surrounding his hfe experiences and education.

The specilic instances of conduct complained of would
have actually been in our client's favor based on his
demeanor and offense. The evidence complained of
coupled with other witness[es] showed that our client
was not violent when dealing with his peers, which s
what we were trving to show the jury. that he would be

a good candidate for Life in Prison.

This was a decision made in consultation with my client
and of necessity due to the fact that we had decided
to introduce TDC classification testimony as well as
risk assessment testimony from our expert witnesses. 1
was of the opinion that evidence of this character was
admissible and determined that unsuccessful objection
to it could result i unduly emphasizing its importance

1O JUrors.

I SHCR 175 76. Fimally. co-counsel Stephen Juckson
stated n his alMidavit that he had read Mr. Hagan's
alfidavit that Mr. Hagan made the dectsion regarding this
witness. and that he had no reason to doubt the attidavit.
2 SHCR 300-01. He added “that on many occasions in
my trial carcer. [ have made the decision to not object to
some torm of testimony as to prevent drawing unwanted
attention from the jury to the specific issue.” fd at 300. 96
S.CL 2978,

*25  After collecting all of the evidence compiled on

this 1ssue. the State trial court issued extensive findings
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of fact regarding the claim. 3 SHCR 230-36. The trial
court discussed the aforemenuoned facts surrounding the
clanm and the affidavits of counsel. 7d. at 330 32, After
concluding that Mr. Moore's allidavit was credible, the
trial court found “trial counsel developed a punishment
phase strategy to show that the penal system could handle
violent ottenders. In furtherance ot this strategy. counsel
called what he believed o be the best possible witness
available to provide statistics to the jury.” 7d at 332, The
trial court found “that the defensive strategy also sought
to show that [Mr. Milam] would not be dangerous in
A openal system. based upon his offense. the age of the
victim. his age, and the circumstances surround[ing] his
lite experiences and education.”™ Jdoat 332 33, The trial
court tound “that trial counsel knew. by sponsoring this
tvpe of evidence. the State would be allowed to inquire.
on cross-examination. about specific acts of violence m
an attempt to disprove the delense's theory that the
penal system could handle violent otfenders™ and that
such evidence of specific acts of violence was admissible.
I at 333, The trial court further found that all three
attorneys felt that ~an unsuccesstul objection could result
in unduly emphasizing the importance of this evidence to
the jurors.” fd. at 334,

The trial court went on to issue conclusions ol law.
3 SHCR 3358 63. The wrial court “that

trial counsel did not pertorm deficiently in failing to

concluded

object 1o this line of questioning because the CCA has
specilically found that testumony regarding the violent
nature of prisons in Texas. including testimony regarding
specilic instances ol conduct. is relevant to the luture
dangerousness issue and admissible.”™ 7 at 358, As such.
Tany objection by defense counsel would have been futile.,
and counsel cannot be held deficient for failing to make
a futile objection.™ fd at 339, The court concluded.
bused on “the credible affidavits ol trial counsel. that
the decision to allow this evidence without objection
was part ol counsel's reasonuble trial strategy.”™ T at
360, The tinding was made that wtial counsel was not
Id. "The
court found that Mr. Milam “also fails to demonstrate

deficient for failing to object to the cvidence.

prejudice from trial counsel's decision not o object
because any objection would have been unsuccessiul as
the evidence wus admissible.”™ I/ Moreover. the court
found that “there is no reasonable likelihood that, had
counscl successtully objected 1o this evidence. the outcome
of the trial would have been different because the State's

evidence m support of [Mr. Milam's| propensity for

future dangerousncess was overwhelming.” 7d at 361, The
Texas Court of Criminal Appeals subsequently denied
Mr. Milam's State application for a writ of habeas corpus
based on the trial court's lindings and conclusions and on
its own review. £y parte Milam. 2013 WL 4836200, at *1.

The question of whether a defendant will pose a future
danger i given a life sentence. instead of death, 1s a
basic issue that is raised m capital murder cases. and the
TCCA has specifically found that testimony regarding the
possibility ol violence in prison is relevant and admissible
to the future dangerousness tssue. See Lucero v, State.
246 S.W.3d 86. 97 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008). cert. denied.
SSS LS. 818,129 S.Cr 80, 172 L.Ed.2d 29 (2008). The
State 1s permitted to present testimony that violence is
prevalent within the prison system to rebut testimony that
the prison system has i classification system and controls
in place to maintain security and safewy. Threadgill v.
Stare. 146 SW.3d 654, 670-71 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004).
Conscquently. i light of the structure and design of
Texas's capital litigation. Larry Fitzgerald has regularly
been culled as a defense expert with respect o the
future dangerousness issue 1o discuss the prison system'’s
classilication and statistics. See Devoe v Stephens, No.
A-14-CA-151-SS. 2014 WL 5684997, at *2 (W.D. Tex.
Nov. 4. 2014): Gonzales v. Stepliens. No. SA-10CA-165-
OG. 2014 WL 4968760, at *5 n42 (W.D. Tex. Jan.
15. 2014y Escobar v. Stare. No. AP-76571, 2013 WL
6098015, at *28 (Tex. Crim. App. Nov. 200 2013): Velez
v Srate. No. AP-76051. 2012 WL 2130890, at *31 n.10
(Tex. Crim. App. June 13, 2012) (describing Fitzgerald's
testimony as accurate and the State's expert's testimony
State. 313 SW.3d 274, 286
{Tex. Crim. App. 2010). Defense counsel's decision to

as maccurate): Estrada v

call Fitzgerald as a witness in this case regarding the
prison system's classification and statistics was consistent
with the prevailing practice and cannot be viewed as
fallmg below an objective standard ol reasonableness.
Morcover. defense counsel's failure to object to admissible
rebuttal evidence involving specitic mstances of violence
cannot be viewed as talling below an objective stundard of
reasonableness in light of clearly established precedent in
Texas courts. Counsel was not required to make trivolous
or futile objections. Johmson, 306 F.3d at 255 Koch, 907
F.2d at 527 Claim Number & lacks merit.

*26  The claim should also be rejected because the
decision to call Fitzgerald. along with the decision

not to object to evidence of specific acts of violence
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m an attempt to disprove the delense theory. was
reasoned trial strategy. Once agam. “strategie choiees
made after thorough investigation of law and facts
refevant to plausible options ave virtually unchallengeable:
and strategic choices made after less than complete
mvestigation are reasonable precisely 1o the extent that
reasonable professional judgments support the mitations
on mvestigation.” Serickland. 466 U.S. at 690 91, 104
S.Ctoat 2066, Federal courts “will not question a counsel's
reasonable strategic decisions.” Bower., 497 F.3d at 470.
The present ineffective assistance of counsel claim lTacks

merit.

Claim Number 8 must be rejected becasue Mr. Milam
has not shown. as required by 28 U.S.C. § 22354(d).
that the State court findings resulted in a decision that
was contrary to. or mvolved an unreasonable appheation

Claim Number 9:

of, clearly cstablished federal law as determined by the
Supreme Court of the United States. or resulted in a
decision that was based onan unrcasonable determination
ol the facts mn light ol the evidence presented in the State
court proceedings. Indeed. the State court appropriately
found that trial counsel's actions on this claim were the
product of wrial strategy. and relief was denied. The
deciston was consistent with Supreme Court preeedent.
Finally. the meffective assistance of counscel claim must be
rejected because Mr. Milam has not satislied the doubly
deferential standard. Tndead. trial counsel's strategy alone
is a reasonable argument for rejecting the ineffective
assistance ol counsel claim. Mr. Milam has not shown
that he is entitled to federal habeas corpus relief on claim

number cight.

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of

counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment by
failing to properly cross-examine Bryan Perkins
in regards to bias in favor of Jesseca Carson,
the co-defendant of Mr. Milam

Claim Number 9 concerns the testimony of Bryan Perkins.
a [mend of Mr. Milam and Ms. Carson. who testilied at
both of their trials. Trial records reveal that Mr. Perkins
testified durimg the punishiment phase of Mr. Milam's trial
as @ State witness. S0 RR 17 54 He testified that he
hired Mr. Milam to work as a tire buster at Big 3 Tire
in Longview. [ at 22, 132 S.Cu. 1309, He testified that
he acted as a father f1gure to both My, Milam and Ms,
Carson. fd at 35, 124 S.Ct. 7. 10. He observed that Mr.
Milam was the domimant one in the relationship. Jd. at 37,
124 S.Ct 7. 100 Mr. Milam had “control issues.™ 1 Mr.
Perkins testified that Mr. Milam had a temper and a short
tuse. [ at 31 4251124 S.Cu. 7. 10. On one occasion. Mr.
Milam told him. “with that baby. he and Jesseca would
never redlly have a life.” I at 45,124 S.CL 7. 10.

Mr. Milam argues that trial counsel was ineffective tor
fatling to properly cross-examine Mr. Perkins regarding
his bias i favor of Ms. Carson. On cross-examination in
M. Carson's trial. Mr. Perkins admitted that he and Ms.

Carson were recorded on jail calls where he stated:
1. "We are getting a stronger case for vou.”

2 7T've got this. You're getting oul.”

2 7You're going o be out there some day. and you'll be

stunding next to me.”

4.7 I'm out working with these guys just as hard as they

-3
are.

Mr. Milam notes that State writ counsel claims that
trial counsel admitted  that he was aware of  these
conversations: nonetheless. trial counsel never cross-
examined Mr. Perkins concerning this overwhelming
evidence of bias. He argues that "We can only speculate
how much weight the jury gave his testimony and whether
they would have answered the special issues similarly if
they had heard this evidence.”™ See Petution. DOC. # 14,1
at 101,

*27 The Director argues that Mr. Perkins was properly
cross-examined for bias. and that the ineffective assistance
of counsel claim must fail because Mr. Milam has not

shown prejudice.

On cross-examination, gl counsel questioned Mr.
Perkins regarding the fact that. prior to the murder, he
considered Mr. Milam (o be a lriend whom he wanted to
help out. but after the murder he refused to have anything
to do with Mr. Milam. 51 RR 34. Mr. Perkins replied
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that he had “never seen him since then.”™ 7. Mr. Perkins
was excused as a witness and was on his way home when
the defense decided to recall him to the stand. 7d. at 129,
131, 102 S.Cu. 869, 874, Trial counsel asked Mr. Perkins
whether he had any contact with Ms. Carson since the
murder. and he admitted that they had exchanged letiers
and that he had visited her in jail on one occasion. Id.
at 130,102 S.Ct. 869, 874, He agreed with trial counsel's
assertion that he had been supportive of Ms. Carson since
the murder. 7 at 13031, 102 S.Ct. 869, 874,

The issue of whether trial counsel's representation was
defictent for failing to properly cross-examine Mr. Perkins
regarding bias was fully developed during the State habeas
proceedings. All three attorneys responded to the claim in
their atfidavits. Mr. Hagen addressed the issue as follows:

The allegation that T failed 1o
properly  cross  examine  Brvan
Perkins in regard to bias in favor of
the co-defendant is simply not true.
I did in fact cross examine Perkins
on the subject of his relationship
and contact with the co-defendant.
Specifically. T questioned Perkins
about the fact he had corresponded
and visited with the co-defendant
while she was in jail on this charge.
Mr. Haas' assertion that [ was aware
ol recorded conversations between
Perkins and the co-defendant s
not true. I never admitted to Mr.
Haas, or anyone for that matter.
that. during the course of m
representation ol Mr. Milam. | was
aware of “jail calls™ between Perkins
and Jesseca Carson or the substance
of those conversations. No such
recordings were made known or
available to me by the Suate in
this case and T was unaware of the

existence of any such recording.

I SHCR &7, Co-counsel Moore provided an essentially
identical response. Id at 176, 126 S.Ct. 2516, 2523, Co-
counsel Jackson provided a similar statement. 2 SHCR
301

After collecting all of the evidence compiled on this issue.

the State trial court issued findings of tact regarding

the claim. 3 SHCR 337 41, The trial court found that
trial counsel Hagan cross-examined Perkins about his
relationship with Mr. Milam and Ms. Carson. 1d. at 337

38 The trial court found that Perkins acknowledged that
he considered Mr. Milam a friend before the murder but
had "never seen him since then.”™ 7. at 337. The court
tound that Perkins acknowledged on cross-cxamination
that he had written to Ms. Carson since the murder,
that he had visited her onee injail. and that he had
been supportive of her. /d. at 338, With respect to Ms.
Carson's trial. the trial court found that Perkins did not
deny making any of the statements attributed to him in
phone conversations with her. although he did not recall
several of them. 7d at 239 (reterencing portions of the
transeript trom Ms. Carson's trial located at 2 SHCR
267-69). The trial court found that. based on the credible
alfidavits of wrial counsel, none of Mr. Milam's three
attorneys “recalled knowing about the recorded jail call’
conversation. nor did they believe any such recording was
made available to them at trial.™ T at 340, The trial court
finally found that “defense counsel established, through
cross-examination. that, after the murder. Perkins was
supportive of Jesseca but not of [Mr. Milam].™ [ at 341,

*28 The trial court subsequently issued conclusions of
law with respect to this claim. 3 SHCR 363 -65. The court
found that there was no deficient performance from trial
counsel's cross-examinaton of witness Bryvan Perkins. /d.
at 363, The court tound that trial counsel eftectuvely cross-
examined Mr. Perkins regarding his post-arrest contact
with Ms. Carson and potenual bias in her favor. Jd. The
trial court found that additional cross-examination of Mr,
Perkins regarding “jail call” would have been cumulative.
Id. at 36364, The trial court tinally found that “[t]here
1s no reasonable likelthood that the outcome of the trial
would have been different had the jury heard the full
extent of Perkins's [sic] support for Jesseca and belief in
her mnocence.”™ 7d. The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals
subsequently denied Mr. Milam's State application for
writ of habeas corpus based on the trial court’s findings
and conclusions and on its own review. Ex parre Milan.
2003 WL 4856200, at *1.

The record does not support Mr. Milam's Claim Number
9 that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of
counsel by failing to properly cross-cxamine Mr. Perkins
in regards to bias in favor of Ms. Carson. Trial counsel
cross-examimed Mr. Perkins on the issue of bias and

obtamed admisstons 1o establish bias. Mr. Milam claims
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that Mr. Perkins should have additionally been cross-
examined with evidence of his phone calls 1o Ms.
Carson, but such cvidence would have been cumulative.
An attorney 1s not ineffective because he rejects the
temptation to “guild the hiv™ by asking variations of the
same question. He may get more torcible responses: or the
witness may simply deny the statements. Mr. Milam has
not shown that trial counsel's representation was deficient
with respect to the cross-examination of Mr. Perkins. and
he tailed to show prejudice.

Alternatively Claim Number 9 must be rejected becasue
Mr. Milam has not shown. as required by 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(d). that the State court findings resulted in
a decision  that  wus  contrary to. or mvolved un
unrcasonable application of. clearly established tederal
law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. or resulted in a decision that was based on an

Claim Number 10:

unreasonable determination ot the facts in hght of the
evidence presented in the State court proceedings. Instead,
he merely makes a conclusory claim that the “trial court's
finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective on this point
resulted in a decision that was contrary to. or involved an
unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal
law. as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States in Strickland. and resulted m a decision that was
based on an unrcasonable determination of the facts
m light of the evidence presented in the State court
proceeding.” See Petition. DOC. # 14, at 102, Finally.
the ineffective assistance ol counsel claim must be rejected
because Mr. Milam has not satisfied the doubly deferential
standard. Indeed. he made no cttort to satisty the doubly
deferential standard. Mr. Milam has not shown that he is
entitled to tederal habeas corpus reliet on claim number

nine.

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Milam's

Batson v. Kentucky challenge to juror Jobess
Shaw, after the trial court was made aware of
the racial animus of the prosecutor in calling
Ms. Shaw “an angry Black woman” in violation
of equal protection and due process under the
Fourteenth Amendment

In the remainder of the claims. Mr. Milam raises issues
that were presented to the Texas Court of Criminal
Appeals on direct appeal. In claim number ten. he alleges
that the State improperly used a peremptory challenge
to strike juror Number 34, Jo Bess Shaw. who was
of African-American descent. in violation of Barson v.
Rentucky, 476 1S, 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69
(1986). He observed that the prosecutor had referred to
her as an "angry black lemale.” 38 RR 21.

*29 At the conclusion of jury selection and betore the

Jury was sclected. Mr. Milam raised a Buazson challenge
to the State's use of a peremptory challenge to strike Ms.
Shaw. In making his prima facie showing. tral counsel
stated that Ms. Shaw was ol Alrican-American descent
and that the State had peremptorily struck all three
African-American prospective jurors within their strike
range. 38 RR 17-18.

The State responded by noting thut there were four
African-Americans within the strike range and (hat
Marcel Fingers was accepted by the State and was
seated on the jury. 38 RR 18, The State added that the
prosccutors “tound her to be a completely satistuctory

juror and had every mtenuon of keeping her.” Id. The
State accepted that the reasons for striking the other
three jurors were “completely and utterly race neutral and
had nothing to do with the tuct that they were African-
American.” Id. at 19, 132 8.Ct. 1309.

The State then went on to specilically discuss Ms. Shaw
and to offer race neutral reasons for its peremptory
challenge. The State observed that her response to the
questionnaire indicated that she was not in favor of the
32 S.Cu 1309, When asked to
describe her personal feelings about the death penalty in

death penalty. Id at 19,

Question 3. Ms. Shaw responded. “Following a capital
murder T feel that a person should get life imprisonment
without the possibility of parole. There have been too
many talse convictions and people put to death that were
mnocent. I do not believe in the death penalty.™ 1d. In
response to Question 4. Ms. Shaw circled (e). 1 believe
we should abolish the death penalty. and T will have a
diflicult ume voting to impose it. regardless of the facts ol
the case.™ Jd. Ms. Shaw further stated that she did “not
believe in the death penality.™ Id Tn response to Question
6 concerning whether she had any moral. religious. or

personal beliefs that would prevent her tfrom returning
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a verdict that would ultimately result m the execution
of another human being. Ms. Shaw said. “Yes. [ am «
Christian and do not believe in killing.™ 7. In response to
Question 1. "on a scale of 10 1o 0, 10 being always give
the death penalty and 0 being never. she circled 0.7 1 In
response to Question [4. she again stated that she does not
believe m the death penalty for capital murder. Jd. at 19
20, 132 S.CL 1309, The State argued that Ms. Shaw was
not a suitable juror. despite her later assertions that she
could follow the law. [ at 20, 132 S.Ct. 1309. The State
asserted that they did not leave anyone on the jury who
circled (e) in response 1o Question 4. Jd. Examples were
given to tustrate the point.

Defense counsel. in response. observed that the State took
approximately two hours questioning Ms, Shaw, which
was more than anvone else other than juror number 36.
Mr. Lucas. who was also African-American. /d. at 21, 132
S.Ct 1309, Counsel also noted that the prosecutor had
referred to Ms. Shaw as an “angry black female.™ 7d.

The prosecutor admitted that she made the comment atter
the questioning ol Ms. Shaw wus completed. I at 22.
132 S.Ct. 1309, She added that she made the comment in
response to Ms. Shaw's answers. because of her demeanor
and the way she acted on the stand. but it had nothing to
do with the fact that Ms. Shaw was Atrican-American. /d.
She also explained that she questioned Ms. Shaw tor two
hours because she thought “we would get her for cause,
because looking at her questionnaire indicated to me that
she would be challengeable for cause. ™ /d Defense counsel
did not provide any additional comments in response (o
the State s explanation. The trial court. in turn. overruled
the Butson challenge. Jdoat 23,132 S.Ct. 1309, The court
specifically found that the State “did not exercise its

peremptory strike based on a race-related reason.” 7d.

#*30 The Equal Protection Clause lorbids the State from
challenging potential jurors solely on the basis of their
race. Baison. 476 U.S. at 89. 106 S.Ct. at 1719, Under
Batson. a defendant must establish a prima facie case that
the State exercised 1ts peremptory challenges on the basis
of race. Id at 96. 106 S.Ct. at 1723 Once the defendant
hus estabhished a primu facie case of discrimination. the
burden shifts to the State to provide a race-neutral reason
for cach strike. [ at 97,106 S.Ct. at 1723, The trial court
then makes a determination of whether the defendant
has established purposctul discrimination. [d at 98, 106
S.Cuoat 17240 A State court's finding of the absence off

discriminatory intent is “a pure issuc of fact™ that is
accorded great deference and will not be overturned unless
clearly erroncous. Hernandez v. New York. 500 U.S. 352,

36465 11T S.Cr 1839 1868-69. 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991).

[n the present case, Mr. Milam established a prima facie
case that the State exercised its peremptory challenge to
Ms. Shaw on the basis of race. The State. in turn, refuted
the clamm and provided race-neutral reasons for the strike
focusing on Ms. Shaw's opposition to the death penalty.
The prosecutor acknowledged that she referred to Ms.
Shaw as an ~“angry black female,” but her characterization
ol her as such was the product of her demeanor and the
way she acted on the stand. and it had nothing to do with
the fact that Ms. Shaw was African-American. She added
that she questioned Ms. Shaw for two hours because she
thought she could get Ms. Shaw to provide answers that
would jusufy challenging her for cause. After hearing the
race neutral reasons, the trial court found that the State
did not strike Ms. Shaw based on a race-related reason.
The court must accord the finding great deference. and
Mr. Milam has not shown that the finding was clearly

erroncous. The claim lacks merit.

In analyzing the claim on direct appeal. the Texas Court of
Criminal Appeals discussed the Supreme Court's decision
i Batson and rejected the claim as follows:

Because the State offered race-
neutral reasons for its strike and
[Mr. Milam] failed to rebut those
reasons. we hold that the trial judge
did not clearly err in denying [Mr.
Milam's]

Milam's] Tourth pomnt of error 1s

Batson  challenge.  [Mr.

overruled.

Milam. 2012 WL 1868458, at *11. Claim Number 10
should be dismissed for the additional reason that Mr.
Milam has not shown. as required by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).
that the State court lindings resulted in a decision that
was contrary to. or involved an unreasonable application
of. clearly established tederal Taw as determined by the
Supreme Court of the United States. or resulted m a
decision that was based on an unrcasonable determination
ol the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State

court proceedings.

Instead. Mr. Milam merely presented the conclusory claim
that the TCCA made ~“an unreasonable determination of
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the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State
court proceeding, that the prosceutor did not strike Shaw
out of racial anmmus despite calling her an “angry black
female” during voir dire.”™ See Petition, DOC. # 14, at

105, Nonetheless. the trial court's finding of fact was

reasonable bused on the record belore it The finding of

fact 1s presumed sound because Mr. Milam did not rebut
the “presumption ol correctness by clear and convineing
Claim Number 11:

evidence.”™ Miller-EL 545 U.S. at 240. 125 S.Ct. a1 2325
(citing § 2254(¢)(1). Federal habeas corpus relief must be
denied since farrminded jurists of reason could disagree on
the correctness of the State court's decision. Richier. 562
U.S. at 101, 131 S.Cuoat 786. All reliefl should be denied
on Cluim Number 10.

The trial court erred in granting the State's

challenge for cause of Juror Trzeciak,
in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendments

*31 Clum Number 11 presents another claim with
respect to the selection of the jury. Mr. Milam argues

that the trial judge erred by granting the State's challenge

for cause against veniremember Trzeciak. In support of

the claim, he cites Witherspoon v Hlinois. 391 U.S. 310,
88 S.C. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968): Adwms v. Texus.
448 TS, 380 100 S.Cr. 2321, 65 L.Ed.2d 381 (1980):
and TWaimvrighs v Wi, 469 1S 4120 105 S.Ct. 844, 83
L.Ed.2d 341 (1985).

In « capital prosccution. a prospective juror is not subject
1o a challenge for cause merely because he 1s opposed o
or has “conscicntious seruples™ about the death penalty.
Witherspoon. 391 US at 315,88 S.Ct.at 1773, But.

nothing we say today beurs upon
the power of a State (0 execule
a defendant sentenced 1o death
by a jury trom which the only
veniremen  who o were  in fact
excluded  for cause  were  those
who made unmistakably clear (1)
that they would automatically vote
against the imposition of capital
punishment without regard to any
cvidence that might be developed at
the trial of the cuase before them.
or (2) that their attitude toward the
death penalty would prevent them
from making an impartial decision

as Lo the defendant's guilt.

Idat 322 n.21. 88 S, Cu o oat

Court subsequently held that prospective jurors who can

777 n.21. The Suprenie

set aside therr beliels against capital punishment and
honestly answer the special issues are not property subject
to challenge for cause. Adams. 448 U.S. at 45, 100 S.Ct.

at 25326, On the other hand. prospective jurors can be
challenged tor cause if their views about the death penalty
would prevent or substantially impair the perforimance ol
their duties in accordance with their instructions and oath.
70,469 TS at 424, 105 S.Cat 852, The Supreme Court

provided the following explanation for the standard:

That standard 1s whether the juror's
views would prevent or substantially
impair the performance of his duties
ds & Juror inaccordance  with
his instructions and his oath. We
note that. i addition to dispensing
with  Witherspoon's  reference 1o
“automatic”  decisionmuaking,  this
standard likewise docs not require
that a juror's bias be proved
with unmistakable clarity. This is
because determinations of juror bias
cannol be reduced o question-
and-answer sesstons which obtain
results in the manner ofa catechism.
What common scnse should have
realized  experience  has  proved:
many veniremen simply cannot be
asked enough questions to reach
the point where their bias hus
been made unmistakably clear: these
veniremen  may not  know  how
they will react when faced with
imposing the death sentence. or may
be unable 1o aruculate. or may
wish to hide their true leelings.
Despite this Tack of clarity in the
printed record. however, there will
be situations where the trial judge 1s

left with the definite impression that
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a prospective juror would be unable
to faithfully and mmparually apply
the law. . JAnd]thisis why deference
must be paid to the trial judge who

sees and hears the juror.

*32 [doat 424 26. 103 S, Cr at 832 32 (footnote and
quotiations omitted).

Quoting Adams and Wi, the Filth Circuit has reiterated
the basic rule that @ “prospective juror thus cannot be
challenged for cause beciuse of his opposition to capital
punishment unless said opposition would prevent or
substantially mpair the performance of his duties as a
Juror in accordance with his mstrucuons and his oath.”
Varga v. Quarierman. 321 Fed.Appx. 390. 394 (3th Cir.
2009) (internal quotations omutted). cert. denjed sub nom
Varga v, Thaler. 558 TLS. 1078, 130 S.CL. 797,175 LEd.2d

362 2009). "Excusal of a juror tor cause m violation of

Witherspoon is reversible error and not subject to harmless
crror review.” [ "Whether a juror is excludable under
the Bitherspoon-Wite standard is a quesuion of tact.”™ Ortiz
v Quarterman. 504 F.3d 492, 501 (Sth Cir. 2007). cert
denied. 333 U1LS. 1035128 S.C. 2428, 171 L.Ed.2d 234
(2008). The TCCA's determination of this rule “shall be
presumed to be correct.”™ fdd. (citing 28 T.S.C§ 2254(e) 1.
A petitioner has the burden of rebutting the presumption

of correctness by “clear and convincing evidence.” /d.

The examination of prospective juror Jervy Trzeciak is as

follows:

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Trzeciak. There are no
right [or] wrong answers. Youre entitled to vouw
thoughts, your feelings. und your opinions. We're not
going 1o argue with you. and we're not going Lo try 1o
change vour mind. whatever vou say. We just need to
know how vou teel and if it affects vour ability to be a
tair and impartial juror in this case. Did vou respond

to my last question’?
MR. TRZECTAK: Yes. I did. the very last one.
THE COURT: Tell us-—

MR. TRZECTAK: My thought on that is- -1 wanted
to share with the Court that 1 don't believe there's «
circumstance where I could condone or vote for the

death penalty. based on my personal religious beliels.

THE COURT: All right.

PROSECUTOR: Mr. Trzectak. basically, vou just
wanted to come tell the Court that no matter what
circumstances may be out there, you've already

decided you could not consider the death penalty?
MR. TRZECTAK: T cannot do thdt. yes.
PROSECUTOR: Trrelevant of whatever that may be?
MR. TRZECIAK: Irrelevant of whatever that may be.

PROSECUTOR: You felt compelled to come tell us
that now. rather than waiting to questioning. because

vou teel that strongly about 1t?

MR. TRZECTAK: Well, T fect that strongly about it.
and T didn't want to waste the Court's time in the
tuture. I didn't know if that was goimg to be captured
later on based upon the questionnaire that you put

oul. so [ just wanted to let that be known now.

DEFENSE: Sir.at some point in time—but Iet's say that
vou sit on a jury and vou tind an individual guilty of

capital murder. where you go to the second phase of

the trial. where you have to answer—basically. a jury
doesn't get to decide life or death. What they decide
1s they answer questions. I the Court asks you or
instructs vou to render a true verdict. meaning will
answer you these questions truthfully. the first one
being 1 essence trom listening to all the testimony,
cdn vou make a decision as to whether or not the
defendunt will be a danger to commit {uture acts ol
criminal violence, to be violent i the future? Could

vou answer that question truthfully, if so instructed?

*33 MR. TRZECIAK: Well. I'm gomg o wry. |
understand the question you're asking. If you're
asking, T would then go back to—in today's society.
in my opinion and the opinion of my church, there's
no justitication for the death penalty. It [—rendering
some sort of verdiet in phase two, the potential exists

for the death penalty. I could not vote that way.

PROSECUTOR: Basically. what yvou told me 15 this--
told us that yvou don't see any sel of circumstances
where the death penalty would be justified?

MR. TRZECIAK: Right.
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PROSECUTOR: Tt sounds like—and vou've told us
that you feel like you would be very compromised to

have to be m a situation—

MR. TRZECIAK: That's correct.

THE COURT: Sir. let me ask you this question. Can
vou return a verdiet which assesses the death penalty
i a case? T understand vou're never going to write

“death penaliy.”
MR. TRZECIAK: Right.

THE COURT: But can you. in good conscience  and
I don't care what your answer is. [ just need to know.
Can you return a verdict which assesses a death
penalty?

MR, TRZECIAK: I could not.

12 RR 74 §0.

The State challenged Mr. Trzeciak for cause. which was
aranted by the trial court. /dat 8081, 106 S.Cu 1712,
Mr. Milam objected. arguing that Mr. Trzeciak said that
he would answer the questions truthfully. despite his views
on the death penalty. £ at 81, 106 S.CL 1712, The trial
court overruled the objection. /d/

Mr. Milam argues that the questioning of Mr. Trzectak
did not go far enough to disquality him. Mr. Milam
stresses that Mr. Trzectak repeatedly stated that he would
answer the questions truthfully, However. Mr. Milam's
argument overlooks Mr. Trzeciak's statement that he
could not vote m a way where the potential exists for
the death penalty. He unequivocally stated that he could
not vote tor the death penalty. His response supports

a conclusion that his opposition to capttal punishment

would prevent or substantally impair the performance of

his duties as a juror. The trial court appropriately granted

Claim Number 12:

the State's challenge for cause in light of the Supreme
Court's decistons m Witherspoon. Adams. and Wi, Claim
Number 11 facks merit.

Alternatively Claim Number 11 must be rejected i hight
ol the decision by the TCCA. On direct appeal. the
TCCA discussed Witherspoon. Adwns. and Wi and
the aforementioned exchange. The ground of error was

rejected as follows:

On this record we cannot {ind that
trial judge abused his disercuon
m granting the State’s challenge
for causc. Mr. Trzeciak's answers
concerning his nability (o assess
penalty

the death under any

circumstances  were  sufficient (o
support the trial judge's conclusion
would be

thut  he substantially

impaired i his  abilities as  a
Juror. Accordingly, we overrule [Mr.

Milam's] third point ot error.

Milane. 2012 WL 1868458, at *10. Mr. Milam incorrectly
argues that the questioning of Mr. Trzeciak did not go
far enough. The record makes 1t abundantly clear that
Mr. Trzeciak would not impose the death penalty under
any circumstances. The ground for reliel should thus be
denied for the additional rcason that Mr. Milam has not
shown. as required by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d). that the State
court findings resulted in a decision that was contrary
to. or mvolved an unrcasonable application of. clearly
established federal law as determined by the Supreme
Court of the United States. or resulted mn a decision
that was based on an unreasonable determination of
the facts in light of the cevidence presented in the State
court proceedings. The court finds that Mr. Milam has
not rebutied the presumption of correctness that must
be accorded to the State court's decision by “clear and
convineing evidence.” All reliel should be dented on Claim
Number 11.

The trial court erred in allowing the State to

comment upon Mr. Milam's failure to discuss
the facts of the offense with the State's expert
in violation of his previous order and Mr.
Milam's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent

Claim Number 13:

The State knowingly created a false

impression that Mr. Milam refused to speak
about the facts of the offense to the State's
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and Defense's experts on advice of counsel, in
violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the
United States Constitution

*34 Claim Number 12 and Claim Number 13 concern
testimony the State clicited from two experts.  which
the experts stated that they had not been allowed to
discuss the facts of the underlving crime in therr pre-trial

examinations of Mr. Milam.

Some background is necessary before the court addresses
the merits of these clamms. The State tiled a pretrial motion
to have Dr. Edward B. Gripon conduct a psychological
evaluation of Mr. Milam for purposes of rebuttal. 1 CR
69 71. Citing Lagrone v. Staic, 942 SSW.2d 602 (Tex.
Crim. App. 1997). cert denied. 322 US 917, 118 S.CL.
305,139 L.Ed.2d 235 (1997).°

it has reason to believe that Mr. Milam “has submitted

the State mdicated that

to. or will submit to a psychiatric or psyehological
examination as to competency. sanity. mental retardation.
[uture dangerousness, mitigation. and/or other mental
health issues.” I CR 69, The issue was brought up by
defense counsel during voir dire. 22 RR 124 32, The
defense agreed to allow the State's expert to examine Mr.,
Milam. with the provision that he not be asked about the
Facts ol the offense. The defense asserted that it had not
letits own experts talk to Mr. Milam about the crime. and
that none of them “have used any information that they
gained through him concerning the offense in forming any
opinions.” Jdoat 124 25,102 S.Ct. 869, 874, The detense
opposed inquiry into the facts on a number of grounds.
imcluding the right (o remain silent. The State objected.,
arguing Lhat once w defendant waives his right to remain
silent by talking to experts. he cannot dictate the questions
that he is asked. [ at 126-27. 102 S.CL. 869, 8§74,

The trial court issued the following ruling:

All right. The Court has reviewed
the cases submitted to 1. and

the Court -and  prmarily  based
upon ltanguage i Chamberlain. |
am going to limit the mterview
o exclude  the  offense.  with
the understanding that defendant’s
from

experts will be  precluded

olfering any opinions. Nndings,
conclusions. or opmions bused upon

any mterview or conversations of

the defendant. by the coxpert of
defendant. concerning the oftfense
wself. And. of course. this does not
preclude any opintons, findings. or
conclusions obtained from sources

other than the defendant.

D2 RR 132,

Mr. Milam argues that the State violated the trial court’s
ruling in the following exchange while cross-examining
Dr. Mark Cunningham during the punishment phase of

the trial:

*35 PROSECUTOR: When vou interviewed the
defendant in those Y 172 hours that you spent with
him. vou did not ask him one thing about the capital
murder tfor which this jury has convicted him. did

yvou?
DR. CUNNINHGAM: That's correct.
PROSECUTOR: Why?

DR. CUNNINGHAM: Well. primarily because |
was instructed by Counsel not 1o go into the

crrcumstances. the events of the offense itself,
PROSECUTOR: Really?
DR. CUNNINGHAM: Yes. ma'am.

PROSECUTOR: So you didn't talk to him about 1t
because the lawyers told vou. "Don't ask him about

it: don't talk to lum about it™?
DR. CUNNINGHAM: Yes. ma'am. ...

54 RR 73,

Delense counsel approached the bench and objected to
the Tine of questioning. I at 74, 112 S.Ct. 475, 480.
Counsel argued that the line of questioning impiged
directy upon Mr. Milam's right to remain silent and his
assertion through counsel of his right to remain silent.
I Counsel asked that the entre line of questioning be
stricken from the record. 1. The State responded. ~"He
didn't remain silent. He waived his right to remain silent.

and n talking to the expert. he there is no such thing
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as a partial waiver. Once you waive. vou waive. and he's
the one that waived.™ /. at 75, 112 S.Cu 475, 480. The
trial court overruled the objection and gave Mr. Milam a
running objection. fd. at 76. 112 S.C1. 473, 480.

The State resumed cross-examination and later asked:

PROSECUTOR: Okayv. Well. T' come back to that.
But vou do talk to capital murderers about the facts

ol the capital murder they've been convicted of.

DR. CUNNINGHANM: Infrequently. Most of the time
I do not. Most of the time defense counsels do not
authorize a discussion about the capital offense. The
defendant retains a Filth Amendment right not to
mcriminate himself. even for an evaluation that's

being performed for sentencing purposes. ...

Id at 76-77.

In rebuttal. the State called Dr. Tim Proctor. and
questioned him about whether he discussed the underlving

crime:

PROSECUTOR: Okay. Now. you've told us that you
spent a significant amount ol time interviewing the
defendant?

DR. PROCTOR: Yes.

PROSECUTOR: Were vou permitted to talk to this
defendant, Blaine Milam. about the facts of the

capital murder case for which he has been convicted?

DEFENSE  COUNSEL:

comment on the detendant's right or refusal to testify

Objection.  Tmproper

about the facts of the case.

33 RR 180, In a bench conference. Mr. Milam specifically
objected under the provisions ol the Filth. Sixth.
and  Fourteenth  Amendments to the United  States
Constitution. fd. at 181, 126 S.Ct. 2516, 2325, The trial
court overruled Mr. Milam's running objection. and Dr.
Proctor linally answered "no™ to the question. I/ at I[85,
126 S.Ct. 2516, 2325,

Mr. Milam argues that the trial court erred in allowing the
State's exchanges with Dr. Cunningham and Dr. Proctor
i violation of Mr. Milam's Fifth Amendment right o

remain silent and the trial court's previous order.

The  Fifth
prosccution on a defendant's silence. Griffin. 380 U.S. at
615, 83S.Cr at 1233; Gongora v, Thaler. 710 F.3d 267, 27
(3th Cir. 2013). cert. denicd sub nom Stephens v, Gongora.
SUS L 134S.CL 9410187 LLEd.2d 834 ¢2014). The

prosecution may not treat a defendant’s exercise ol his

Amendment  forbids  comment by the

Fifth Amendment rights as substantive evidence of guilt.
Gongora. 710 F.3d at 274.

Fifth
Amendment right. The Supreme Court has concluded

*36 A delendant may. however. waive his

that, where a defendant presents psychiatric evidence at
trial. the defendant has no Filth Amendment privilege
against the introducuon of his court-ordered mental
cvaluation to rebut his expert's testimony. Kaisas v
Cheever., U.S. 134 S.Cu 396, 601, 187 L.EJ.2d
S19 (2013): Buchanan v. Kentucky, 483 U.S. 402, 422 23,
107S.CL.2906.2917 18.97 L.Ed.2d 336 (1987). The Fifth
Circuit has accordingly held that if "a defendant requests
an examination on the issuc of future dangerousness
or presents psychiatric evidence at trial, the defendant
may be deemed to have waived the fifth amendment
Vanderbilt v. Collins. 994 F.2d 189, 196 (5th
Cir. 1993). “[Wihen a delendant introduces psychiatric

privilege.”

evidence on a critical issue, he waives his [(ifth and
sixth amendment objections o the stalce's psychiatric
testimony, provided that the state's evidence is used solely
1 rebuttal and properly hmited to the issue ratsed by the
defense.”™ Williams v, Lynaugh. 809 F.2d 1063, 1068 (Sth
Cir. 1987). cert. denied. 481 U.S. 10080 107 S.Ct. 1633,
95 L.Ed.2d 207 (1987). The TCCA has thus held that
“il a delendant breaks his silence (o speak to his own
psyehiatric expert and introduces that testimony which 1s
based on such mterview, he has constructively waived his
fifth amendment right to refuse to submit to the State's
psvchiatric experts.” Chamberfain, 998 S.W.2d at 234,

The Supreme Court hus recognized “that when a
defendant chooses to testify i a criminal case. the FFifth
Amendment does not allow him to refuse 1o answer
related questions on cross-examination.” Cheever, 134
S.Ctat 601, A detendant “has no right to set forth to
the jury all the tucts which tend in his favor without
laying himself open o a cross-examination upon those
Facts.” " Id (quoting Fitzparrick v. United States. 178 US.
304, 315,20 S.CL 944, 948 49,44 L.Ed. 1078 (1900)). In
Cheever. the Supreme Court applied these same principals
to find that evidenee from the government's psyehological

expert was admissible to rebut the delendant's expert's
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testimony even though that rebuttal evidence would have
been barred under the Sth Amendment had defendant not
presented psychological evidence i his defense. 7

In the present case. Mr. Milam waived his Titth
Amendment rights by speakimg with his expert and then
introducing that expert's testimony at trial. The State was
entited to question Dr. Cunningham about matters that
would otherwise be protected by the Fifth Amendment.
The State acted permissibly by not only rebutting that
testimony with its own expert testimony. but by inquiring
into the evidence used by those experts to arrive at their
conclusions. The State's questions to the experts did not
violate Mr. Milam's Fifth Amendment right (o remam
silent.

The State also did not violate the trial court's order. The
trial court's order only limited  at Mr. Milam's request
—the expert's questioning of Mr. Milum. The trial court
made no mention of what the experts could be asked at
trial. 22 RR 132, The State was entitled to question the
experts on what information they relied upon in reaching

therr conclusions.

Claim Number 12 should also be rejected for the reasons
provided by the TCCA in denving reliel:

First. the wial judge did not err. This line of

questioning did not violate his pretrial order: That order
limited only the questioning of [Mr. Milam], not the
questioning of testifving experts. And the questioning
did not violate [Mr. Milam's] Fitth Amendment right
to remain silent. [Mr. Milam] broke his silence to speak
to his own psychiatric expert and introduced testimony
based on that interview. so he constructively took the
stand. and waived the Fifth Amendment “in the same
manner as would his election to testily at trial.” The
State was then entitled to offer rebuttal testimony
limited to the issues raised by the defense expert. It
was permissible tor the State to test Dr. Cunningham's
opimions by questoning him (and Dr. Proctor) about
how Dr. Cunningham arrived at those opinions. [Mr.
Milam] may not testily through a delense expert and
then use the Fifth Amendment as a shield against cross-

examination of that expert on disputed issues.

*37  Milam, 2012 WL 1868438, at *I8 (footnoles
omitted). Mr. Milam has not shown. as required by 28
UL.S.C. § 2254(d). that the State court findings resulted

in a decision that was contrary to. or mvolved an

Justice.”

unrcasonable application of. clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. or resulted ina dectston that was based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the
evidence presented in the State courl proceedings. Mr.

Milam is not entitled to relief on Claim Number 12.

In Claim Number 13, Mr. Milam argues turther that
the State knowingly created a false impression that Mr.
Milam refused to speak about the fucts of the offense to
the State's and Defense's experts on the advice of counsel.
in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United
States Constitution. In support ol the claim, he focuses on
the Supreme Court's decision in Napue v, Illinois. 360 U.S.
264. 79 S.C. 11733 LLEd.2d 1217 (1959). The Director
argues that the State did not violate Napue.

“[1u1s established that a conviction obtained through use
of false evidence. known to be such by representatives of
the State. must fall under the Fourteenth Amendment.”
Napue, 260 US. a1 269. 79 S.Ct. at 1177 (quoting Mooney
v. Holohan. 294 US. 103, 112, 35 S.Cu 340, 342,79
L.Ed. 791 (1933)). Morcover, the “deliberate deception
of a court and jurors by the presentation of known false
evidence is imcompatible with “rudimentary demands of
“ Giglio v. United Siates, 405 TS, 150, 153, 92
S.CL763.766.31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972) (quoting Nupue. 360
U.S. at 269. 79 S.CLoat 1177). " The same result obtains
when the State. although not soliciting false evidence.
allows it to go uncorrected when it appears.” Id. (citations
omitted). The Fifth Circuit applied the standards set forth
in Napue and Giglio in Kutzner v, Cockrell. 303 F.3d 333,
337 (3th Cir. 2002). cert. denied. 536 U.S. 978, 123 S.Ct.
14, 153 1..Ed.2d 877 (2002). A petitioner must prove that
the prosecution knowingly presented or failed to correct
materially lalse testmony during trial. /d. To prove a
due process violation. a petitioner must demonstrate: (1)
that the testimony in question was actually false. (2) that
the prosccutor was aware of the perjury. and (3) that
the testimony was material. Faulder v. Johnmson. 81 F.3d
5150519 (5th Cir. 1996). cert. dened. 519 VLS. 995, 117
S.Ct 487, 136 L.Ed.2d 380 (1996). Perjured testimony is
malerial only when “there is any reasonable likelihood
that [the False testimony] could have alTected the judgment
of the jury.”™ Barrientes v. Johnson. 221 F.3d 741. 756 (5th
Cir. 2000) (quoting Nobles v. Jolhnson, 127 F.3d 409. 415
(Sth Cir. 1997). cert. denied. 531 U.S 1134121 S.Ct. 902,
148 1..EJ.2d 948 (2001).
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In the present case. no witness testified inaccurately. and
the State left no false impression on the jury. Mr. Milam
repeatedly asserts that the wrial court made the decision
not to allow the experts to discuss the tacts of the crime.
Pctition. DOC. # 14, at 122 23 His claim
misrepresents the facts. The record clearly shows thut the

See. eg.

limits placed on the experts were at the behest of Mr.
Milam and his counsel. The trial court simply honored
their request. 22 RR 124 320 Tn the hearing. trial counsel
informed the trial court that he had already mstructed
his experts not to discuss the facts of the offense. and for
this reason., the State's expert should also be prohibited
from discussing the facts ol the crime with Mr. Milam.
Tedoar 124260 102 S.CLo869. 874, Trial counsel cited
Lagrone in asking for hmits be placed on the experts.
Tl at 1260 130, 102 S.CL 869, 874, Counsel was clearly
aware of Lagrone. and he wanted to take advantage of the
Lagrone line of cases to place hmits on the experts. The

Director appropriately observed that Dr. Cunnigham

was nstructed by trial counsel not to discuss the facts off

the crime hefore the trial court ordered the State's expert
to also limit his inquiry. The trial court mercely granted the

defense's request.

*38 There 15 no reason (o believe that the trial court

would have limited these expert examinations had Mr.

Milam not requested and strenuously argued in favor of

the Imitations. Mr. Milam cannot avold responsibility
for the decision by blaming the trial court for giving
him cxactly what he asked for. Theretore. when Dr.
Cunningham testified that he was instructed not to mquire
into the lacts ol the crime. 34 RR 7378, and when Dr.
Proctor testified that he was not able to speak with the
Mr. Milam about the facts of the capital murder casc.
S5 RR 1850 they made no false statements and left no
talse tmpressions. Mr. Milam has not satistied the first two

prongs n the Nupue analysis.

Finally. Mr. Milam has not shown that there were any
Lalse or misleading statements that were material. He
appropriately discusses the concept ol materiality, See
Petition, DOC. # 14, at 123-24. He did not show.

however. that talse or nusicading statements were made in

this case that were material and affected the judgment of
Prosecutorial misconduct in the sentencing-

Claim Number 14:

the jury. Overall. he has not satisfied any of the prongs in
the Mapue analvsis. Claim Number 13 lacks merit.

Dr. Cunningham clearly explained he did not talk about
the erime with My, Milam pursuant to instructions {rom
counsel, that the fawilure (o talk about a crime with a
defendantis the norm. and that a detendant retains a Fifth
Amendment right not to ineniminate himself. 54 RR 77.
The trial court's jury charge in both phases of the trial
mstructed the jury that a defendant may choose not to
testify and that the failure to testify shall not be held
against him. 4 CR 937,983, The jury presumably lollowed
the trial court’s mstructions and did not hold 1tagainst him
to the extent that he excercised his rights under the Fifth

Amendment.

Claim Number 13 should also be rejected for the reasons
provided by the TCCA in denying reliel:

Third. there was no talse testimony.
Dr. Cunningham testificd he was
structed by counsel not to inquire
into the fucts of the case. and Dr.
Proctor testified that he was not able
to speak with [Mr. Milam] about
the lacts of the case. These were
true assertions. Theyv do not conflict
with [Mr. Milam's] request to the
trial judge and the trial judge's order
based on that request.

Vilam. 2012 WL 1868458, at *19 (footnotes omitted).
Mr. Milam has not rebutted the TCCA's inding of
fact that there was no lalse testimony with clear and
convincing evidence. He simply has not shown, as required
by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d). that the State court findings
resulted in a decision that was contrary to. or mvolved
an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. or resulted in a decision that was based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts n light of the
cvidence presented in the State court proceedings. Mr.
Milaim 1s not entitled to relief on Claim Number 13.

phase summation denied Mr. Milam his
fundamental rights to a fair trial and his right
to a reliable sentencing determination
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Mr. Milam argues that two portions of the State's
closing arguments violated his rights under the Eighth
Amendment. He miually complains about the State's
comments, which he describes as inflammatory. about
his right 10 present mitigating evidence and to have that
proffered evidence at lcast considered by the jury. He
correctly observed that the Supreme Court has held that
he has a right to present mitigating evidenee at his capital
trial. See. e.g.. Tennard v Drethe, 342 1S 274,285, 124
S.CL2562.2570. 1539 L.Ed.2d 384 (2004).

Mr. Milam

portions of the State's closing arguments:

mitially complains  about the f(olowing

*39 PROSECUTOR: Mitgating evidence 15 thiat
which Jessens a person's moral blumeworthiness for
what he's done. And ves. you have heard evidence
from his background that is unfortunate. You
have heard things that T can agree was not the

perfect life growing up: however. the problem is.

the fundamental problem 1s that the one type of

mitigating evidence that could explain this, that [

would suggest to you might be sulficient to explain

this act and this conduct and this crime. s not here. T

there was evidence betore vou that this defendant had
been horribly abused as a chitd. I could stand before
vou

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Again. Your Honor. we'll
object. Counsel's injecting her own personal thoughts
and opinions. not basing her pleas on inferences from

the evidence.
THE COURT: All right. T'll overrule the objection.

PROSECUTOR: If there was some evidence like that
before vou. I could stand before vou and drgue to you
or—

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Aguin. Your Honor. she is
injecting her own thoughts. opinons. and beliets.
She's not making a plea to law enforcement. She's not
asking the jurors to make a logtcal inference from the

evidence. Tt's improper. We object o 1t

THE COURT: All night. T'll give vou a running

objection to that line of questioning.
DEFENSE COUNSEL: Thank you. Your Honor.

PROSLECUTOR: Thank yvou. Your Honor.

Il he had been somehow hornbly abused as a
child. bitten, beaten, violated. perhaps that would
be mitigating evidence that would lessen his moral
blameworthiness sufliciently to warrant life. Folks.
that's not here. As much--as much as the Milam
fumily did not do right over the years. they did not
abuse their kids. and nobody clse did either. That's
not here. That's the bottom line. and I would suggest
to vou that really 1s the only kind ol mitigating
evidence that truly can explain why we're here and

truly lessen moral blameworthiness for this.

56 RR 151 53,

Mr. Milam argues that the prosecutor's assessment ol his
mitigating evidence violated his Eighth Amendment right
Lo have “each juror ... to consider and give effect to [his]
mitigating evidence.”™ McRov v, North Carolina. 494 U.S.
433.442- 43 110 S.Cu 12271233 108 1..Ed.2d 369 (1990).
He asserts that the argument misrepresents the delinition
of mitigating evidence and the jury's role in weighing
it. He argues that the prosceutor wrongly told the jury
that only being horribly abused by being bitten, beaten.
and violated would lessen his moral blameworthiness. He
notes that it wounld not have been Tost on the jury that the
prosecutor was describing what happened to the victim
m this case. He also argues that the prosecutor wrongly
told the jury. that in order to be mitigating. evidence must
[essen the accused's moral blameworthiness. He stresses
that 7Tennard midgating evidence is any cvidence that
would serve as a basis for a sentence less than death to
an mdividual juror. He argues that the State's arguments
misstated the law on mitugation, misstated the spectal
issue. and prevented the jury [rom giving (ull elfect to his

mitigating evidence.

Texas law provides that mitigating cvidence 1s “evidence
that a juror might regard as reducing the defendant's
moral blameworthimess.” Tex. Code Crim. Proc. art.
37.071. % 2(0O4). The prosecutor's comments tracked
the language of the statute. The prosecutor did not
misrepresent the defimition of mitigating evidence as
provided by Texas law. Previous versions of Texas'
statutory scheme precluded quries from giving full effect to
mitigating evidence, but the current “capacious definttion
of mitigating evidence employed in the Texas statute can
encompass virtually any mitigating evidence.” WcCosker
v. Thaler. 478 Fed. Appx. 143, 150 (5th Cir. 2012) (internal

quotation marks omitted) (quoting Roach v. Quaricrman.
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220 Fed. Appx. 270. 277 (Sth Cir. 2007)). cert. denied.
133 S0

“from considering. as @ mitigating tactor. any aspect

843 (2013). Tt does not preclude the jury

of u defendunt's character or record and anv ol the
circumstances ol the olTense that the defendant proflers
as a basis for a sentence less than death.” Il (internal
quotation marks omitted) (quoting Roach. 220 Fed . Appy.
at 277). In the present case. the prosecutor's arguments did
not prevent the jury from giving full ettect to Mr. Milam's

mitigating evidence.

40 Mr. Milam also argues that the prosecutor's
argument was improper because she injected her own
thoughts. opimnions, and beliefs. Tt iy well established

under Texas law “that proper jury argument must fall

within one of the followmg categories: (1) summary of

the evidence: (2) reasonable deduction from the evidence:
(3) 1n response to argument ol opposing counsel: and (4)
plea for law enforcement.” Borjun v. Stuie. 787 SW.2d

S32O55 (Tex. Crim. App. 19901 Tmproper remarks by

a prosceutor Tare a sufficient ground for habeas rehiet

only it they are so prejudicial that they render the wial
fundamentally unfwir.™ fughes v. Quarterman, 330 1°.3d
336, 347 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting Harris v. Cockrefl. 313
F.3d 2380 245 (5th Cir. 2002)). cerr. denied. 356 US,
1239, 129 S, Ct. 2378 (2009). “Such untairness exists
only it the prosccutor’s remarks evinee cither persistent
and pronounced misconduct or ... the evidence was so
insubstantial that (in probability) but for the remarks no
conviction would have occurred.”™ I (quoting Harris,
313 F.3d at 245). " The relevant question is whether the
prosecutor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness
as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due
process.” Id. (quoting Dardeny. Waimvright. 477 U.S. 168,
181,106 S.Ct. 2464, 91 [L.Ed.2d 144 (1986)).

The prosecutor's statements i this case must be viewed in
context. Just moments earhier. defense counsel had argued.
“Listen. we can alt ¢ery lor things that happened in our
lite that wasn't pleasant. That is nothing compared to
what we heard about what [Mr. Milam's] lite has been
like.” 36 RR 97. Counsel then proceeded to deseribe Mr.
Milam's lack of education and a family that condoned it a
family history ol addiction issues which led to Mr. Milam's
addiction problems. Mr. Milam's childhood illness and the
impact it had on Mr. Milam's lite suggesting that it was
part of the “horrible hand that was dealt™ 1o him. /d. au
97-101. 131 S.Ct. 770. 784, Counsel then summed up the

reasons why Mr. Milam should be given life instead of

death because of the mitigating evidence:

[Mr. Milam]j is the reason for this system. He's the
reason why we don't say. “Guilty. death penalty.™ He's
the reason why we say. “hsten. let's take u look at is he

as [sic] a future danger?™ ...

You know. then you get lo the mitigation question.
How many mitigating factors are there? In fact. T think
[ have like three pages written down here of factors
through this kid's tife that could be miugating and need

to be considered.....

Il at 102, A prosecutor may respond to the arguments off
defense counsel. The prosccutor's comments in this case
were legally proper and appropriate in response to the
arguments ot defense counsel. The prosecutor's comments
did not violate Texas law and did not make his trial
fundamentally unfair. The first portion of Clinm Number
14 Tacks merit.

Alternauvely first Poruon of Claim Number 14 should be
rejected for the reasons provided by the TCCA in denving

relief:

The prosecutor did not misstate the law on mitigation or
the mitigation special issue. Article 37.071(f) provides
that the jury “shall consider mitigating evidence to
be evidence that a juror might regard as reducing
the defendant's moral blameworthiness.”™ Nor did the
prosecutor prevent the jury from giving elfect to [Mr.
Milam's] mitigating evidence. The argument was a fair

rebuttal to defense counsel's argument that [Mr. Milam]

1s the reason for this system. He's the reason why
we don't say. "Guilty. death penalty’.... How mam
mitigating factors are there? Tn fact. I think T have
like three pages written down here of factors through
this kid's lite that could be mitigating and need to
be considered.... That's why we don't let the mob
mentality decide these cases. because evervthing that

you've heard mitigates against giving this boy death.

For these reasons. we find nothing in the prosecutor's
remarks to retlect that she was asking the jury to forego
its duty and automatically answer the special 1ssues in
such a way that [Mr. Milam] would receive the death
penalty, The trial judge did not err in overruling [Mr.
Milam's] objection.
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*41  Milam. 2012 WL 1868438, at *20 (lootnotes
omitted). Mr. Milam has not shown. as required by 2%
U.S.C. § 2254(d). that the State court findings resulted
i a decision that was contrary to. or imvolved an
unreasonable application of. clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court ol the United
States. or resulted n a decsion that was based on an
unrcasonable determination of the facts in light of the
evidence presented in the State court proceedings. Instead.
he does nothing more than track the language of § 2254(d).
cite Tennard. and argue that relief should be granted. Mr.
Milam 1s notentitled to relicf on the first portion of Claim
Number [4.

In the second portion of Claim Number 14, Mr. Milam
complains that the State falsely argued that the jury had

“no choice™ but to assess the death penalty:

Sometimes the death  penalty s
society's Tast line of self-delense. and
it is. as Mr. Jimerson told vou. the
one thing that we have to hang
onto our humanity. What does 1t
say about our soctety that someone
can do that? What does 1t say about
that person. this defendant. that he
can do that? And what would 1t say
about our socicty for him to not be
given that ultimate penalty forit? He
has earned 1t and vou know 1U's the

only choice. Thank vou.

56 RR 138, The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals rejected

this portion of the claim because Mr. Milam did not

objectat trial: thus. 1t was barred by the contemporancous

objection rule. Milun. 2012 WL 1368438, at *20.
Claim Number 15:

Applving the principles set forth in Coleman. supra.
the Fifth Circuit has held that the “procedural-default
doctrine precludes federal habeas review when the last
reasoned state-court opinion addressing a claim explicitly
rejects 1L on a state procedural ground.”™ Maichert v
Dretke. 380 F.3d 844, 848 (5th Cir. 2004), cert. denied. 343
US 124 123S.Ce 1067, 160 1 Ed.2d 1074 (2005). With
this n mind. the Fifth Circuit has consistently held that
the Texas contemporaneous objection rule constitutes
an adequate and independent ground that procedurally
bars federal habeas review of a petitioner's claims. Turner
v. Quarterman. 481 F.3d 292, 201 (Sth Cir. 2007), cert.
denied. 350 US 1193, 128 S.Ct. 34, 168 1.Ed.2d 810
(2007): Cardenas v. Dretke. 405 F.3d 244, 249 (5th Cir.,
2005). cert. denied. 348 ULS. 9250 126 S.Ct 2986, 163
L. EA.2d 987 (2006): Dovilurr v, Johnson, 230 F.3d 733,752
(3th Cir. 2000) *[Tlhe Texas contemporaneous objection
rule is strictly or regularly applied evenhandedly to the
vast majority of similar claims, and is therefore an
adequate procedural bar.”"). cere. denied. 332 ULS. 913,
121 S.Ce 1250, 149 L.Ed.2d 156 (2001). The State habeas
court explicitly rejected the claim because Mr. Milam did
not object to 1t at trial. Mr. Milam made no attempt
Lo overcome the procedural default by demonstrating
cither cause and prejudice or a fundamental miscarriage
of justice: the claim in procedurally defaulted. See Turner.
481 FF.3d at 301.

[n the alternative. the prosecutor's comments were an
appropriate plea for law enforcement under Texas law.
The second portion of Claim Number Fourteen is
procedurally barred and devoid of merit. Mr. Milam has

notshown that he s entitled to rehief on Claim Number 14,

The Texas death penalty scheme violated

Mr. Milam's rights against cruel and unusual
punishment and due process of law under the
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
United States Constitution by requiring at least
ten “no” votes for the jury to return a negative
answer to the punishment issues

The remainder of Mr. Milam's cluims concern challenges
to the Texas death penalty statute that have been
authoritatively rejected in prior appellate decisions. Claim
Number 135 15 a challenge to Texas' 10-12 rule. which
purportedly violates Mills v, Muarviund. 486 U.S. 367.
f08 S.Ct. 1860, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (198%). He avgues that

potential holdout jurors may reasonably believe that their
votes i favor of a life sentence are worthless unless
nine others jom them. It a myority of other jurors are
firmly voting “ves.” holdouts may feel obligated to vote
“ves” smce there would appear to be no possibility of a
life sentence and the jury has been instructed 1o return
a verdiet. Milly, 486 US. at 383, 108 S.Ct. at 1§70
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("common sense ... suggesi[s] that juries do not leave
blanks and do not report themselves as deadlocked over
mitigating circumstances after reasonable deliberation
Jeitation omitted] unless they are expressiy instructed 1o

doso.).

*42 The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals rejected the

clamm on direct appeal as follows:

In his  thirtcenth  pomt. [Mr.
Milam| challenges the " 10-127 rule.
arguing that it violates his rights
under the Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments  because 1t leaves
Jurors in the dark about the fact that
therr failure to unanimously agree
on an answer to either spectal issue
results m a Jife sentence. This Court

has rejected these challenges.

Milam 2012 WL 18O8AIR . at *20 (citing Estrada v. State.
313 SSW.Ad 2740 306 (Tex. Crim. App. 2010y Williams
v Stare. 301 SSW.3A 6750 694 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009):
Druery v, Stare. 225 SCW.3d 491 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007):
Escamilla v. Stare. 143 SW.3d 814, 828 (Tex. Crim,
App. 2004)). Claim Number 15 is presented in the same
way it was presented to the Texas Court of Criminal
Appeals as point of crror thirteen. Mr. Milam has not
shown. as required by 28 U.S.C. § 2234(d). that the State
court findings resulted in a decision that was contrary
0. or ivolved an unreasonable application of. clearly
established federal Taw as determined by the Supreme
Court of the United States. or resulted in a decision
that was based on an unrcasonable determination off
the facts i light of the evidence presented m the State
court proceedings. I[nstead. he merely states that the
“Texas Court of Criminal Appeals declined to make
factual findings on this issue and thus are not entided o

Claim Number 16:

deference.” See Petition. DOC. # 14, at 134, The Texas
Court of Criminal Appeals. decided the case on the merits.
and Mr. Milam has not shown that the decision involved
an unreasonable application ol clearly estabhished law as
determined by the Supreme Court of the United States.
Relief is unavailable because Mr. Milam has not satistied

the requirements of § 2254(d).

ikewise. the Fitth Circuit has tound that the type of
argument Mr. Milam is bringing lacks merit. “ln Mills,
the Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment was
violated because the jury instructions may have precluded
the jury from considering mitigating evidence unless all
twelve jurors agreed that a particular circumstance was
supported by the evidence.™ Miller v. Jolmson, 200 ¥ .3d
274,288 (5th Cir. 2000) (citing Mills. 486 U.S. at 384, 108
S.Cuoat 1870). cert. denied, 331 U.S. 849121 S.Ct. 122,
148 L.EJ.2d 77 (2000). The Fifth Circuit held “that Millsis
not applicable to the capital sentencing scheme in Texas.™
Id ~Under the Texas system. all jurors can tauke mto
account any mitigating circumstance. One juror cannot
preclude the enure jury from considering 4 nutigating
circamstance.” Jdooat 288 89 (quoting Jacobs v. Scotl.
31 F.3d 13190 1329 (Sth Cir. 1994). cert. denied. 313
U.S. 1067, 115 S.Ct. 711, 130 L.Ed.2d 618 (1993)). Since
deciding Miller. the Fifth Circuit has repeatedly rejected
challenges to Texas' capital sentencing provisions buased
on Mills. Sce, e.g.. Druery v, Thaler. 647 F.3d 335, 542-43
(Sth Cir. 2001 cert. denied. 363 U.S. 1207132 S.Ct. 1550,
182 L.Ed.2d 180 (2012): Purr v. Thaler, 481 Fed. Appx.
872. 878 79 (3th Cir. 2012). cert. denied. 368 U.S. 1093,
133 S.Cu 8420 184 L.Ed.2d 666 (2013); Adums. 421
Fed. Appx. at 335 36. Relict based on Mi/ls s unavailable.
Mr. Milaim's challenge to the 10-12 rule lacks merit in light
of clearly estabhlished Fitth Circuit precedent. Mr. Milam

is not entitled to reliel on Claim Number 15,

The trial court committed constitutional error

by charging the jurors that they had the
discretion to decide whether a circumstance
was mitigating

*43 In Claim Number 16. Mr. Milam complains about
the jury charge as it relates to the jury's consideration
of mitigating evidence. Consistent with Article 37.071 3§
(D4, the tal judge charged the jury that it “shall
consider mitigating evidence that a juror might regurd
as reducing the defendant's moral blameworthiness.” 4
CR 982 (emphasis added). Mr. Milam argues that both

the statute and the court's mstruction violate the Eighth
Amendment. which permits jurors no such discretion. He
stressed that the Supreme Court's “cases have established
that the sentencer may not be precluded [rom considering,
and may not refuse to consider. any constitutionally

U.S. 269,276, 118 S.Ct. 757, 761. 139 L.Ed.2d 702 (1998)

relevant mitigating evidence.” Buchanan v. Angelone. 322
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(citations omitted). He added that the Court has held
that such mitigating circumstances as a defendant's good
conduct in jail 1s by its nature relevant to the sentencing
determination.” Tennard. 342 U.S at 2850 124 S.Cu at
2571 (quoting Skipper v, South Carolina. 476 U.S. 1. 6.
106 S.CL. 1669, 1672, 90 [.LEd.2d | (1986)). Mr. Milum
cited his mitigating evidence of good jail conduct and
constitutionally relevant factors. such as low intelligence.
problems with school. Jove and dedication o family. and
psycholozically damaging physical trauma. He asserts
that the statute misinforms jurors that they can refuse
to treat mitigating evidence as mitigating, resulung in
structural constitutional error requiring reversal. Nelvon.
472 F3d at 314-15.

Mr. Milam's reliance on Nelvon is misplaced. Nelson
wis sentenced under the pre-1991 sentencing scheme.
which did not inchude a nuitigating special issue. Blie. 663
F.3d at 667 The Fifth Circuit has concluded “that the
amended statute does nor unconstitutionally “preclude] |
[the jury] from considering. as a mitigating lactor. any
aspect of the defendant's character or record and any
of the circumstances of the oftense that the defendant
proffers as a basis fora sentence less than death.” ™ Beazley
v. Johnson. 242 F.3d 248, 260 (S5th Cir. 2001) (quoting
Locketr, 438 U.S at 604, 98 S.C. at 2964 -65) (emphasis in
original), cert. denied, 334 U.S, 945122 S Ct. 329 (2001).
The statutory definttion of mitigating evidence does
not limit the evidence considered under the mitigating
special issue because “virtually any mitigating evidence is
capable of being viewed as having some bearing on the
defendant's "moral culpabilicv” apart from its relevance
to the particular concerns embodied in the Texas special
issues.” Beazlev. 242 F.3d at 260 (emphasis in original)

Claim Number 17:

(quoting Graham v. Collins, 506 U.S. 461.476. 113 S.Ct.
892,902, 122 L.Ed.2d 260 (1993)). More recently. the
Fifth Circuit stressed that it “has reaffirmed its holding in
Reazley i ut least four unpublished decisions.” Blue. 663
1.2d at 666. The Court specifically held that Nelson did
not overturn Beazlev, Id. ar 667. Clium Number 16 lacks
merit in light of clearly established law as decided by the
Fifth Circuit.

*44 The claim must also be denied in light of 28 U.S.C.
§ 2254(d). The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals denied
relief on direct appeal. concluding that it had previously
rejected this claim. Milam. 2012 WL 1868438, at *20
(citing Estrada. 313 S.W.3d at 206: Threadgill, 146 S W .3d
at 671). Claim Number 16 1s presented in the same way
it was presented to the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals
as point of error fourteen. Mr. Milam has not shown,
as required by § 22354(d). that the State court findings
resulted 1 a decision that was contrary (o, or wvolved
an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. or resulted in a decistion that was based on an
unreasonable determination of the facts in hght of the
evidence presented in the State court proceedings. Instead,
he merely states that the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals’
finding wus contrary to Buchanan. but the Fifth Circuit
has repeatedly rejected such arguments. In Blue. the Fifth
Circuit found that the decision in Beazley that “the
new spectal-issue scheme 1s constitutional is very strong
evidence that it was reasonable for the CCA to reach the
same conclusion.”™ Blue, 665 F.3d at 666. Claim Number
16 should be denied because it lacks merit and because Mr,
Milam has not satistied his burden under § 2234(d).

The Texas death penalty scheme violates

Mr. Milam's right against cruel and unusual
punishment, an impartial jury, and due

process of law under the Sixth, Eighth, and
Fourteenth Amendments because of vague
and undefined terms in the jury instructions

at the punishment phase of the trial that
effectively determine the difference between a
life sentence and the imposition of the death
penalty

Mr. Milam next complains that the terms used i the
Jury instructions are vague and undeflined. He argues that
the failure to detine the terms violates his rights under
the Sixth. Eighth. and Fourteenth Amendments. He cites

the terms “probability.” “criminal acts of violence™ and

“continuing threat to society.”

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals rejected the claim

on direct appeal as follows:
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In his fifteenth point. [Mr. Milam]
argues that the wrial judge's failure
to define “probability.”™ eriminal
acts of violenee.”
threat o
constitutional requirement that each

or Tcontinuing

society” violated  the

statutory aggravating circumstance

genuimely  narrows  the class ol
persons  chgible  for  the death

penalty. We have repeatedly held
that the trial judge need not define
such terms because we presume that

the jury understands them.

Milani, 2012 WL IT868438. at *21 (citing Russeau v, Stuie.
291 SW.3d 426, 43435 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009): Drucry.
225 SW A at 309: Saldano v, Stare. 232 S W.3d 77. 91
(Tex. Crim. App. 2007)). Claim Number |7 is presented

in the same way 1t was presented to the Texas Court of

Criminal Appeals. Mr. Milam has not shown, as required
by 28 U.S.C. § 2234(d). that the State court findings
resulted 1ina decision that was contrary to. or involved
an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court ol the United
States. or resulted m a decision that was based on an
unrcasonable determination of the facts in light of the
evidenee presented in the State court proceedings. Rehef
1s unavailable because Mr. Milam has not satsfied the

requirements of § 22354(d).

The claim should atso be dented because 1t Lucks merit
in fight of clearly established federal Taw as decided by
the Fifth Circuit. The wermys “probability.” “continuing
threat to society.” and “criminal acts of violence.™ have a
“common-sense core of meaning and that eriminal juries
should be capable of understanding them.”™ Paredes v,
Quarterman. 374 F.3d 2810 294 & n.17 (Sth Cir. 2009)
(citing Jurek 428 US. at 279,96 S.CL at 2939) (White. ..

Claim Number 18:

concurring). More recently. the Fifth Circuit rejected the

same basic claim with the following explanation:

In this claim. Rivas complains that
his due process rights were violated
instructions

by the trial courts

o the jury with special  issues
that contained allegedly vague and
undelined terms. Specifically. Rivas
complains of the trial court's failure
o deline the terms “probability.”
“eriminal acts of violence.” and
“continuing  threat (o society.”
included in the first special issue
submitted to the jury. As with his
previous claim. Rivas acknowledges
that this claim is foreclosed by
cireuit precedent holding that these
terms  are not unconstitutionally
vague and that their meanings may
be readily understood. See. e.g..
Woods v. Johnson, 75 F.3d 1017,
1033- 34 (5th Cir. 1996): James .
Colling, 987 F 2d 1116, 1119-20 (5th
Cir. 1993): Nethery v Collins. 993
F.2d 1154 1162 (5th Cir. 1993).
Rivas again maintains this argument
to preserve it for further review. We
deny a COA on this claim.

*45  Rivas v. Thaler. 432 Fed. Appx. 395, 405 (5th Cir.
2011 (footnote omitted). cert. denied, 565 U.S. 1096, 132
S.Ct. 830, 181 L.Ed.2d 335 (201 1). The cases cited by the
Filth Circuit reveal that this issue was settled in the 1990s.
Moreover. the Divector persuasively argued that the claim
1s Teague-barred. Mr. Milam 1s not entitled to reliel on
Claim Number 17.

Texas prosecutors' unfettered and

unreviewable discretion violates equal
protection, due process, and the Eighth
Amendment

In Claim Number 18, Mr. Milam argues that Texas
prosccutors' unfettered discretion in secking the death

penalty is unconstitutional. He complains that Texas

facks stutewide standards governing the diseretion off

locul prosecutors (o seek or decline to seek the execution
of death ehigible defendants. In support of his equal

protection claim. he cites the vote counting standards

articulated m Bus/h v Gore. 331 US98, 121 S.C. 3235,
148 L.Ed.2d 388 (2000). He noted that the Supreme Court
held that a “State mayv not. by ... arbitrary and disparate
treatment. value one person's vote over that of another.”
[d at 10405121 S.CLoat 530. He argues that Texas does
Just that in the context of capital punishment and the result

is disparate treatment ot similarly situated defendants.
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The Fitth Circuit has rejected similar equal protection
challenges o prosecutorial discretion, specifically noting
“Bush v Gore's utter lack of mtmplication in the ¢riminal
procedure context.” Coleman v. Quarterman. 456 F.3d
337,342 (5th Cir. 2000) (citations omitted). cert. denicd.
549 U.S. 1343, 127 S.C 2030, 167 LEJ.2d 772 (2007).
The Fifth Circuit subsequently rejected another claim
alleging “disparate treatment of similarly situated people
accused of capital offenses”™ based on Bush v Gore as
foreclosed by Coleman. Chiv. Quarterman. 223 Fed. Appx.
435439 (5th Cir. 20070, cert. denied. 331 US TT930 128
S.Ct. 34168 LLEd.2d 810/ (2007): see also White v. Thaler.
522 Fed. Appx. 226, 235 (5th Cir. 2013) (Equal protection
claim based on Bushr v. Gore ~1s not well taken. ™). cerr.
denicd. — U.S. ——- 134 S.Cu. 907, 187 1..Ed.2d 790
(2014).

Mr. Milam also argues that the unlettered discretion
of prosccutors 1 deciding to seek the death penalty
violates due process. He asserts that due process requires
a three-part balancing of: (1) the private interest “aftected
by the official action™ (2) “the risk of an erroneous
deprivation of such interest through the procedures used ™
and (3) the State's interest. including the burden entailed.
Mathevs v Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 334 33,96 S.C1. 893,
903, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976). He argues that Texas fails
this test. He notes that the right to dite could not be
more fundamental. He argues that the lack of statewide
standards and absolute discretion in each elected Texas
district attorney icrease the risk ol erroneous deprivation
by failing to ensure that the death penalty is limited to “the
most serious adult criminal conduct.”™ Arkins v Tirginia.
336 U.S. 304, 306, 122 S.Cr. 2242, 2244 153 [L.Ed.2d 333

(2002). He also argues that the untettered discretion of

prosecutors amounts to cruel and unusual punishment
in violation of the Eighth Amendment. See, ¢.¢..
v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153,
L.Ed.2d 839 (1970).

Gregye

195,96 S.Ct. 2909. 2935, 49

The Director persuasively argued in response that Mr.
Milam's concern over the discretion placed in the hands
ol district attorney's offices is misplaced. Prosecutorial
“diseretion 1s essential to the criminal justice process.”
McCleskey v Kemp. 481 US. 2790 297, 107 S.CL.
1756, 1770, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987). The Supreme Court
expressly rejected the complaint that the “state prosecutor
has untettered authority to select those persons whom he

wishes 1o prosecute for a capital offense.” Grege. 428 U.S.

at 199, 96 S.CLat 2937, ~In our system. so fong as the
prosceutor has probable cause to believe that the accused
committed an offense defined by statute. the decision
whether or not to prosecute. and what charge to file or
bring before a grand jury. generally rests entirely n his
discretion.”™ Bordenkircher v. Haves, 434 U.S. 357, 364, 98
S.CL. 663. 668, 34 L.Ed.2d 604 (1978). The diserction 1s
tempered only by the Equal Protection Clause, meaning
the selectivity in choosing when to seek the death penalty
does not amount to a federal violation so long as it s not
“deliberately based upon an unjustitiable standard such as
race. religion, or other arbitrary classification.” I at 668
69. 98 S.C1. at 668069 (quoting Ovler v. Boles. 368 U.S.
448,456, 82 S.CL 501, 506, 7 LEd.2d 446 (1962)).

*36 In the present case. Mr. Milam makes no allegation
that the prosecutor sought the death penalty against him
because of his race. ethnicity. or some other arbitrary
classification. He mercly alleges a broad complaint about
the prosecutor's discretion. Mr. Milam has not shown
a violation of the Constitution: Claim Number 18 lacks

meritL.

The claim must also be denied n light of 28 US.C. §
2254(d). The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals denied

relietf on direct appeal as follows:

In his sixteenth point, [Mr. Milam]
argues that the State's unfettered.
standardless.  and  unreviewable
discretion to seck the death penalty
violates his rights under the Equal
Protection and Due Process Clauses
and results - cruel and unusual
punishment. We have repeatedly

rejected these contentions.

Milam. 2012 WL 1868458, at *21 (citing Roheris v. State.
220 SSW.3d 3210 335 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007): Hankins
v Stare. 132 SSW.3d 380, 387 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004):
Threadgill. 146 S W .3d at 671, Matamoros v. Stare. 901
S.W.2d 470, 478 (Tex. Crim. App. 1993)). Claim Number
18 is presented in the same wayv it was presented to the
Texas Court of Criminal Appeals as point of error sixteen.
Mr. Milam has not shown. as required by § 2254(d).
that the State court findings resulted m a decision that
was contrary to. or involved an unreasonable application
ol clearly established federal law as determined by the
Supreme Court of the United States. or resulted i a

decision that was based on an unreasonable determination
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of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State
court proceedings. Instead. he asserted simcee the “Texas
Court of Criminal Appeals did not make any findings
on this issue. [ | their factual tindings are not entitled
Sce Petiion. DOC. # 14, at 143,
However. the decision by the Texas Court of Crinunal

1o any deference.”

Appedls was purely a matter of Tuw. and Mr. Milam
Claim Number 19:

has not shown that it was contrary to. or involved an
unrcasonable application of. clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. Claimy Number 18 should be denied becausz it lacks
merit and because Mr. Milam has not satisfied his burden
under § 2254(d).

The Texas death penalty scheme violates

due process of the Fourteenth Amendment
because the punishment special issue related
to mitigation fails to require the State to
prove the absence of sufficient mitigating
circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt,
contrary to Apprendi and its progeny

In Clamm Number 19, Mr. Milam argues that the Texas
death penalty scheme violates due process because the
spectal issue related to mitigation fails to require the State
o prove the absence of sufticient mitigating circumstances
bevond a reasonable doubt. contrary to Apprendi v New
Jersey. 530 US. 466, 120 S.Cu 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 433
(2000). and 1ts progeny. His discussion of the claim does
not develop his Apprendi argument: instead. he foctses on
Justice Blackmun's lengthy dissenting opinton in Callins v
Collins, STOUS T4 TT43-59, 114 S.Cu 1127, 1128 38,
127 L.Ed.2d 435 (1994).

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals rejected the claim
on direct appeal as follows:

In his  seventeenth  point. [Mr.
Milam] argues that the Texas death-
penalty scheme violates due process

because the mitigation special issue

fails  to require  the  State  to
prove the absence of mitigating

circumstances beyond a reasonable
doubt. contrary to the Apprendi line
ol cases.... We have rejected these
claims.

47 Milam. 2012 WL 1868458 at *21 (ciung Smith
vo Stare. 297 SSW.3d 260, 278 (Tex. Crim. App. 2009):
Fuller v, Stare. 253 SSW.3d 2200 234 (Tex. Crim. App.
2008): Escamilla, 143 SW.3d at 828). Claim Number
19 15 presented in the same way it was presented to
the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals as point ot crror
seventeen. [noresponse. Mr. Milam merely states that
the “Texas Court of Crinuinal Appeals made no factual

findings on this ssue. and is not entitled 1o delerence on

this pomt.” See Petition. DOC. # 14, at 147, Other than
this conlusory comment, he has not shown. as required
by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d). that the State court findings
resulted i a decision that was contrary o. or mvolved
an unreasonable application of, clearly established federal
law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United
States. or resulted 0 a decision that was based on an
unreasonable determination ot the facts in light of the
evidence presented in the State court proceedings. Relief
is unavailuble because Mr. Milam has not satisfied the

requirements ol § 2254(d).

The claim should be also rejected because it lacks merit
in light of ¢learly established circuit precedent. The Fifth
Circuit has “specifically held that the Texas death penalty
scheme did not violate cither Apprendi or Ring by failing
o require the state to prove bevond a reasonable doubt
the absence ol mitigating circumstances.” Scheanette v.
Quarterman. 482 F.3d 815, 82K (5th Cir. 2007) (emphasis
added). Following Scheanceite. the Fifth Circuit repeatedly
rejected this same argument. Aflen v. Stephens, 805 F.3d
017,626 28 (5th Cir. 2015). cert. denicd. — US. ——.
36 S.Cuo 23820 195 1.Ed.2d 269 (2016): Sprouse .
Stephens, 748 F.3d 609, 623 (Sth Cir. 2014). cert. denied.
U.S. ——. 135 S.Cu 477, 190 L.Ed.2d 362 (2014):
Cobb v. Thaler. 682 F.3d 364. 381 (Sth Cir. 2012). cert.
demed. 568 US. 1126, 133 S.Ct. 933, 184 L.Ed.2d 730
(2013): Blue. 663 F.3d at 668-69: Orriz. 504 F.3d at S04-

03, Again. the claim lacks merit.

Finally. Justice Blackmun's dissenting opinion in Callins
has never been accepted. and the Fifth Circuit has
observed that reasonable jurists could not debate a
district court’s decision rejecting such arguments. Hughes
v Dretkeo 412 F.3d S82.0594 (Sth Cir. 2005). cert. denied.
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the Fitth Circuit observed that it would be Teague-barred.
Hughes 412 F 2d at 394, Mr. Milam is not entitled to rehet
on Claim Number 19.

546 US. 1177, 126 S.CL 1347, 164 L.Ed.2d 60 (20006): sc¢

also Bighv v, Stephens. 395 Fed. Appx. 350, 355 (3th Cir.

2014 (citing Flughes. 412 F.3d at 394, cert denied. 1335

S. Ct. 2339 (2013). Morcover. even it the claim had merit.

Claim Number 20: The trial court erred by admitting the irrelevant

and prejudicial evidence of Mr. Milam's father's
racial prejudice in the punishment phase of
the trial, in violation of equal protection, right
to a fair trial, and due process. Additionally,
because trial counsel and appellate counsel
failed to set out the proper constitutional
construct for this claim, and was thus
ineffective, and the State habeas counsel
failed to bring this claim on direct collateral
review in the State court, this claim should be
considered pursuant to Martinez.

Claim Number 20 concerns the trial court g inngy . . .
N concerns Lhe U court admitting PROSECUTOR: There was also some sort of a

evidence of Mr. Milam's [ather's racial prejudice during .
= paddhng thing

the punishment phase of the trial. The evidence came in
during the testimony of Mr. Milam's friend Chris Lay. The MR. LAY: Yes, ma'am.
defense began the exchange as follows:
PROSECUTOR: - right? And in conjunction with this
DEFENSE: Okay. Now, you grew up with [Mr. Milam] paddlimg thing. there was another reason why he got

throughout the years. pulled out of school. too. wasn't there?
MR LAY: Yes sir. MR.LAY: This he was picked on. and stufl like that.
. . _ _ and his dad was fed up.

DEFENSE: Let me back up. In growing up with [Mr.

Milam|. vou said he's slow. Desceribe  are vou talking PROSECUTOR: And vou've -vou visited with Missy.

about educationally slow
MR. LAY: Educationally.
DEFENSE:  or mentally slow?

MR. LAY: Educationally. because. [ mean. he got
pulled out of school in the fourth grade because people
pickmg on lum. vou know. His dad got tired of it and
said he didn't want him in school no more. il everybody

was going to mess with him like that.
*48 S3RR 12,
On cross-examination. the prosecutor revisited the topic
of Mr. Milam being pulled out of school:

PROSECUTOR: Okuayv. Now. vou told us that he got
pulled out of school because of the fact that kids were

picking on him.

MR. LAY: Right

our mvestigator. over the weekend. right?
MR. LAY: She called me.
PROSECUTOR: Ycah. And viull talked.
MR. LAY: Yes, ma'am.

PROSECUTOR: And you told her that part of the
reason why he got pulled out of school wus because

his dad was upset because his principal was black.
MR LAY: Well. he was upsct because—yeuh, that. too.

PROSECUTOR: Okayv. And. [ mean. that's not—that's

what you told her.

MR. LAY: Right.
MR. HAGAN: May wc approach. Your Honor?
THE COURT: Yes.

(Conference at the Bench:)
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MR. HAGAN: T cannot believe that the State is
introducing the racial prejudice of this defendant's
Father into these proceedings. There wis absolutely

I want to hear the excusce. but there 1s no excuse
for bringing n the racial prejudice of this man's

father.

MRS, TANNER: She asked him about the paddimg

incident. He  said  the paddhng  incident: -he
explained the paddling incident. and then he old
her thut the reason why he was pulled out of school
was because the dad was so upset because he wis a

black principal. That's what the

MR. HAGAN: T want to hear this out of the record.
He did not introduce that: she did. And T want te

make a record on it

THE COURT: The record speaks for itself. Let's go

ahead.
MRS. TANNER: Thank you.
(Couclusion of Bench conterence).

MR, HAGAN: Your Honor, at this time. we make
objection to the last question and answer that the
State proposed. under Rule 403, Ask the Court
to make a balancmg test on the untair prejudicial
nuture of introducing the racial bias of this man's

father into this proceeding.
THE COURT: I'll overrule the objection.
MR. HAGAN: Move for a mistrial.
THE COURT: Denied.

53 RR 23-23 Tt 1s noted that the prosecutor did not ask
any additional questions on this point. and the witness was
dismissed soon therealter. 33 RR 23,

Mr. Milam argues that it was irrelevant that the principal
who paddled him was African-American. The point was
that Mr. Milam was bullied during school and removed
from school by his father. causing him o be largely
uneducated. He argues that his father's racial bias was not
of his doing. Mr. Milam noted that his attorney objected
to the evidenee pursuant to Rule 403 of the Texas Rules
of Evidence. He argues that the complained of testimony

had no relevance o the issues. and the prejudicial elfect

ereath outweighed the probative value. it any. He argues
that the admission of the testimony was crror. Morcover.,
the gratuttous injection ot irrelevant and prejudicial racial
prejudice would have had a substanual and mjurious
elfect on the verdict in the case and requires reversal.

He noted that of particular harm in this case. one of the

Jurors who sentenced him to death was African-American.

He argues for the first time that counscl should have
raised the issue mn terms of the Equal Protection Clause
ol the Fourteenth Amendment as well as the right to
a fair and unbiased trial. e complawms that trial and
appellate counsel failed to bring the claim m terms of
a constitutional construct: thus. State habeas counsel's
failure to allege this error should be reviewed in light of

Martine:.

*49 In response, the Director noted that Mr. Milam's
presentation ol the claim omitted a discussion of
additional salient facts. Before another witness was called.

the detense established. outside the presence of the

jury, that a black female juror was scated on the jury.

and accused the State of chiciting testimony regarding
Mr. Milam's father's racial prejudice for the purpose
ol prejudicing this juror against him. 33 RR 26--27.
The prosceutor then clarified her reasons for asking the

question:

This was—the witness testifted that
the defendant was pulled out of
school solely becuuse kids were
picking on him. The witness had.
just over the weekend. told our
imvestigator thut he was pulled out of
school because he had been spanked
by the principal, and the dad was
upset about the principal spanking
him. and he was black. Tt was to
retute what they testitied. the false
impression they gave to the jury.
That's all.

S3RR 27, After defense counsel renewed his request tor a

mistrial. the prosccutor clarified her reasons onee again:

And let me say this. I the witness
hadn'thave told our mvestigator not
24 hours ago that that's why he was
pulled out. [ wouldn't have asked
the question. but that's what he said.

which 1y directly contrary to what
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1t was, Now, af T said. “Now. isn't
it true.” when | had no good faith
basis to believe 1t, that would be

fundamentally different.

53 RR 29, The court overruled defense counsel's motion
tor a mistrial. but agreed to mstruct the jury “not to
regard any racial statement in made by another person in

connection with this defendant.”™ 33 RR 28 29,

The trial court subsequently gave the jury the followimg

limiting instruction:

I want to instruct vou concerning

some prior testimony this morning,

You're not to hold any alleged
racial  statements  allegedly - made

by this defendant's father against
this defendunt. or infer that this
statement or these statements are or
is the belief or view of this defendant.
and any racial content of any alleged
statement is not to he inferred upon

this defendant.

S3RR 4.

On direct appeal. Mr. Milam argued that the trial court

commiitted reversible error by allowing the admission of

this evidence over his objection pursuant to Texas Rules
of Evidence 4030 The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals
denied relief. concluding that the jury was instructed not
to hold Mr. Milam's father's racism against him. Milam.
2012 WL 1868438, at *15. The Texas Court of Criminal
Appeals added that there was “no indication that the
jury disregarded the trial judge's instruction. and we must
presume that it followed those instructions.”™ [ (citing
Thrift v. Srate. 176 SW.3d 221, 224 (Tex. Crim. App.
2003)).

Mr. Milam relies on two arguments. The lirst argument
focuses on the trial court's evidentiary ruling. Grounds
for rehiet based on State evidentiary rulings ordinarily
are not cognizable on federal habeas review. Hood.
503 F.2d at 4140 Derden v McNeel. 978 F.2d 1433,
1438 (5th Cir. 1992) (Errors of state law. including
evidentiary errors, are not cognizable in habeas corpus as
such.™). Sull. an evidentiary ruling may violate the Due
Process Clause if the evidence is 7so unduly prejudicial

that it renders o trial fundamentally unfair.”™ Hood. 303

b.2d at 414 (quoting Pavne v. Tennessee. 501 TS, 808.
Q25 111 S.Cr. 2597, 2608. 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (19971)).
“[TIhe crroncous admission of prejudicial evidence will
Justify habeas relief only il the admission was a crucial,
highly signilicant factor in the defendant's conviction.”
Id (quoting Neal v Cain. 141 F.3d 207, 214 (5th Cir.
1998)). Finally. “[a]ssuming arguendo that the admission
of [this evidenee] was constitutional error. [the] claim still
fails it the pettioner] has not shown that the testimony
had a “substantial and imjurious effect or influence n
determming the jury's [ ] verdict.,” 7 Id. (quoting Janecka
v, Cochrell. 301 F.3d 316, 328-29 (Sth Cir. 2002)). Mr.
Milam goes no lurther than to argue that the trial
court erred mn admitting the evidence. He has not shown
that the claim is cognizable 1 this habeas proceeding.
Morcover. he has not shown that the evidence was so
highly prejudicial that it rendered his trial fundamentally
unfair. Finally. as noted by the Texas Court of Criminal
Appeals. the jury was given a hmiting instruction. and
presumably the jury followed thatinstruction. Mr. Milam
has not shown that he is entitled to rehet based on the first

part of the claim.

*50 Mr. Milam's second argument on this point is that
the claim may be reviewed in the context of an meffective

assistance of counsel claim in light of Martinez:

The muroduction of ractal animus on
the part of Mr. Milam's family was
thus prejudicial to Mr. Milam and
violated the equal protection of the
Fourteenth Amendment as well as
the right to a fair and unbiased trial.
Trial Counsel und Appellate counsel
did not bring this claim in terms
ol a Constitutional Construct and
thus State habeas counsel's failure to
allege this error should be veview[ed]

i light of Martinez.

See Petition. DOC. # 14, at 131, Mr. Milam did not
develop the issue under Martinez. He did not show how
any of his attornevs engaged in representation that was
deticient with respect to this matter. At best. he alludes to
a possible objection based on a dental of equal protection.
He likewise failed to show prejudice. Furthermore. any
effort to show prejudice would be difficult in light of the
limiting instruction. The second part of the claim must
be rejected because Mr. Milam lailed to adequately briet
1t thus. 1t is waived. Swmmers v. Dretlee. 431 F.3d 8ol
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870 (3th Cir. 2005). cert. denied. 349 US. 840, 127 S.CL.
352,166 L.Ed.2d 69 (2000): Hoods v. Cockrell. 307 F.2d
3530357 (5th Cir. 2002y Yohev v Colfins. 985 F.2d 222,

22425 (5th Cir. 1993). The argument 1s also conclusory.

which 1s msufficient to support a petition for a writ of

habeas corpus. See Miller. 200 T.3d at 282: Koch, 907
Claim Number 21:

F.2d at 330: Ross. 694 F.2d at 1011, Finally. the second
argument is unexhausted and Mr. Milam has not shown
cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural default.
Mr. Milam has not shown that he 1s entitled to relief on
Claim Number 20.

The cumulative effect of the above-enumerated

constitutional violations denied Mr. Milam due
process of law in violation of the Fifth and
Fourteenth Amendments

In his final clatm. Mr, Milam argues that the cumulative
cffect of the various consttutional violations denied
him due process of law, n violation of the Fitth
and  Fourteenth  Amendments of the United  States

Constitution,

The Texas Court ol Criminal Appeuls rejected the clamm
on direct appeal as lollows:

In pomts nincteen  and
[Mr. Milam]
the cumulative

twenty.
contends  that
elfect ol these
constitutional and statutory
infringements violates the state and
federal constituuons. Having found
no such violations, we hold that

these claims are without merit.

Milam. 2012 WL 1868438, at *21. Mr. Milam has not
shown. as required by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d ). that the State
court findings resulted in a decision that was contrary
to. or involved an unreasonable application of. clearly
established federal taw as determined by the Supreme
Court of the United States, or resulted in a decision
that was based on an unreasonable determination of the
facts in light of the evidence presented i the State court
proceedings. Relief is unavailable because Mr. Milam has
not satisfied the requirements ot § 2234(d).

Claim Number 21 must also be rejected in light of

clearly established federal law. The Fifth Circuit has
regularly rejected general cumulative error claims., noting
that federal habeas relief is available only for cumulative
crrors that are of constitutional dimension. Coble v
Quarterman. 496 ¥.3d 430, 440 (3th Cir. 2007): Livingston
v Johnson, 107 F.3d 297, 309 (5th Cir. 1997). cert. denied.
322 U.S. 880, 118 S.Ct. 204, 139 L.Ed.2d 141 (1997):
Yoher 985 F.2d at 229. The Filth Circuil has emphasized

that “[mleritless claims or claims that are not prejudicial

cannot be cumulated. regardless of the total number
raised.” Westley v Jolmson. 83 F.3d 714, 726 (5th Cir.
1996) (citing Derden. 978 1.2d at 1461). cert. denied. 319
U.S. 1094, 117 S, CL 773 (1997).

VI. CONCLUSION

*51  Having carefully considered all of Mr. Milam's
claims. the court is of the opinion, and so finds. that he
has not shown that he is entitled to federal habeas corpus

reliel and his petition should be denied.

VII. CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY

An appeal may not be taken to the court of appeals from
a final order issued in a federal habeas corpus proceeding
“lunless a circuit justice or judge issues a certificate of
appealability.”™ 28 UL.S.C. § 2253(¢)(1)(A). Although Mr.
Milam has not yet filed a notice of appeal. the court may
address whether he would be entitled to a ceruficate of
appealability. See Alexander v, Johnson, 211 F.3d 895, 898
(5th Cir. 2000) (A district court may suwa sponie vule on a
certificate of appealability because “the district court that
denies a petitioner reliet 1s m the best position to determine
whether the petitioner has made a substantial showing of
a denial of a constitutional right on the issues before the
court. Further briefing and argument on the very issues

the court has just ruled on would be repetitious. ™).

A certificate ol appealability may issue only it a petitioner
has made a substanual showing of the denial of a
constitutional right. 28 U.S.C. §2253(¢)(2). The Supreme
Court tully explained the requirement assoctated with
a “substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional
right™ - Slack v McDaniel. 529 ULS. 4730 484, 120

S.CL 13950 1603, 146 L.Ed.2d 342 (2000). Tn cases
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where a district court rejected a petitioner's constitutional

clatms on the merits. “[tJhe petitioner must demonstrate
that reasonable jurists would find the district court's
assessment ot the constitutional claims  debatable or
wrong.” Id.: Henrv v, Cockrell, 327 F.3d 429. 431 (5th Cir.
2003). "When the district court denies a habeas petition
on procedural grounds without reaching the petitioner's
underlying constitutional claim. a COA should issue when
the petitioner shows, at least. that jurists of reason would
tind it debatable whether the petition states a vahd claim

of the denial of a constitutional right and that jurists of

reason would find it debatable whether the district court
was correct i its procedural ruling.”™ Slack, 329 U.S. at
484, 120 S.Ct. at 1604.

In this case. reasonable jurists could not debate the
dental of Mr. Milam's § 2254 petition on substantive or
procedural grounds. nor find that the issues presented are
adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed. Miller-El.
337 ULS.at 327, 123 S.C at 1034 (citing Stack, 329 U.S.

Footnotes

at 484, 120 S.Ct. at 1064). The court thus finds that Mr.
Milam is not entitled to a certificate of appealability as to

his claims. Ttis accordingly

ORDERED that the petition for a writ ol habeas corpus
1s DENIED and the case is DISMISSED with prejudice.
Itis further

ORDERED that a certficate of appealability 1s DENIED.
[tis Minally

ORDERED that all motions not previously ruled on are
DENIED.

So ORDERED and SIGNED this 16 day of August, 2017.
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1 “CR" refers to the clerk's record on direct appeal, preceded by the volume number and followed by the page number.
“RR" refers to the reporter's record of the transcribed testimony during the trial, preceded by the volume number and
followed by the page number. "SHCR" refers to the State habeas clerk's record, preceded by the volume number and
followed by the page number. On the disc containing these documents the CR is in a file labeled AP-76,379. The RR is
in a file labeled "Reporter's Record.” The SHCR is in a file labeled WR-79,322.

2 The terms “mentally retarded” and "mental retardation” are used in this opinion only where they are part of a direct quote.
Otherwise, the terms “intellectual disability” and “intellectually disabled” are used, which were adopted by the Supreme
Court in Hall v. Florida, —U.S. ——, 134 S.Ct. 1986. 188 L.Ed.2d 1007 (2014), and the Fifth Circuit in Williams v.

Stephens, 761 F.3d 561, 565 & n.1 (5th Cir. 2014).
3 The seven "Briseno factors” are:

+ "Did those who knew the person best during the developmental stage—his family, friends, teachers, employers,
authorities—think he was mentally retarded at that time, and, if so, act in accordance with that determination?

* "Has the person formulated plans and carried them through or is his conduct impulsive?

» "Does his conduct show leadership or does it show that he is led around by others?

* "Is his conduct in response to external stimuli rational and appropriate, regardless of whether it is socially acceptable?
+ "Does he respond coherently. rationally. and on point to oral or written questions or do his responses wander from

subject to subject?

- "Can the person hide facts or lie effectively in his own or others' interests?

- "Putting aside any heinousness or gruesomeness surrounding the capital offense, did the commission of that offense
require forethought, planning. and complex execution of purpose?”

Moore. 137 S.Ct. at 1046 n.6 (quoting Briseno. 135 S.W.3d at 8-9).

4 Mr. Milam's Petition inadvertently attributes this testimony to defense expert Dr. Frank Murphy (Doc. #14 at 93) but it
was actually the testimony of Dr. Mark Cunningham.

5 The transcript of Mr. Perkins' testimony from Ms. Carson's trial is located at 2 SHCR 251-88. Mr. Perkins' acknowledgment
wth respect to these statements is located at 2 SHCR 267-69.

3] In Lagrone, the TCCA held that a trial court may "order criminal defendants to submit to a state-sponsored psychiatric

exam on future dangerousness when the defense introduces. or plans to introduce, its own future dangerousness expert

testimony.” 942 S.W.2d at 611 (emphasis in original).
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7 Sometimes referred to as the “12-10" rule.

[ TRV IR S TSI FAST A FH)



